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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 F 2022 F 20214 20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET FET FHET
(restated)
()
Results (for the year ended 30 June) ¥%&(BZ6H30H L EE)
— Revenue — % 25,292 60,969 98,404 410,668 385,664
— Attributable loss" - ElEER (12,183) (50,869) (59,822) (39,521) (72,177)
— Attributable loss from continuing —-EhHEBRB - TAaBERYE
operations® ESi o (12,745) (52,410) (68,522) (39,521) (72,177)
— Attributable profit from discontinued ~ — E{E B — K B 2 & 1E
operations’ mEEK 562 1,541 8,700 — -
— Dividends —Ba - — — — -
— Loss per share (in HK dollars) - BREBUAB T
(restated)” (=) (0.05) (0.03) (0.08) (0.05) (0.09)
Financial Position (as at 30 June) BN (R6A30R)
— Cash and cash equivalents* —-BekBeEw 9,147 24,493 135,567 107,051 123,632
— Total assets —EEBE 174,030 179,045 414,892 458,766 644,070
— Equity/(Deficit)* - #n/(BR)’ 111,252 130,855 (6,967) 17,305 72,208
Financial Ratios (as at 30 June) Btk = (R6H30H)
— Current assets/Current liabilities —-RBBE/mBHAaR 3.51 4.98 2.84 2.33 1.86
— Assets/Equity” —EE/fER 1.56 137 NATER 26.51 5.22
— Sales/Assets -2 BE 0.15 0.34 0.237 0.895 0.599
— Gearing ratio —ENERLE NATER NATER NATER 14.76 4.58
# Attributable to owners of the Company i /NS $ 5PN 3T

A

Adjusted pursuant to the rights issue in December 2021
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ETE®|E
CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am delighted to present the Chairman’s statement for the year 2023,
especially highlighting our significant progress in the areas of Solar
Photovoltaic (“SPV”) Systems and Smart City initiatives. Despite the
challenges and uncertainties in the global economic landscape, our company
has remained steadfast in its approach, adapting to market conditions and
positioning ourselves for long-term success.

In the ail trading sector, we have continued to adhere to our cautious
business model for our gasoil business. The geopolitical tensions, including oil
sanctions against Russia and the unresolved Ukraine crisis, have led us to
limit our gasoil business activities in the past few years. Although there have
been opportunities to explore international waters, we have maintained our
prudent approach to ensure the stability of our operations. Under the current
market situation, | believe that the Group’s strategy in temporary suspending
the business activities in this sector as a risk avoidance measure for the year
under review is appropriate, allowing us rooms to navigate the market
conditions effectively.

With the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, compulsory quarantine
requirement for inbound persons from overseas places and local social
distancing measures imposed by the government of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), most of the commercial activities were in the doldrums
during the period from January 2020 to December 2022. As seen in all kinds
of business and all walks of life, it takes time to conquer numerous problems
and revitalize any business after the pandemic.

The Group has immediately pitched in with its previous business plans since
November 2022 as soon as a glimmer of hope was seen, in expanding its loT
business which, by definition, includes smart city solutions. Two smart
construction site contracts with a total contract sum in excess of HK$12
million were secured in December 2022 and January 2023. This, together
with the business growth illustrated below, has demonstrated the
determination and ability of the Group’s management in putting the Group on
the fast track to revitalizing its business in the present difficult business
environment.

BRRR

B

BREHEMARER023FEEFERE
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& S
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ETE®|E
CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

In the renewable energy sector, we have maintained our focus on developing
the market on SPV technology products . However, during the year under
review, the revenue generated from the sale of our SPV business only
remained stable and did not experience significant growth due to the sudden
reduction in Feed-in Tariff (FiT) rates by the Hong Kong Government, which
discouraged some customers from proceeding with their orders. Additionally,
the global shortage of silicon and increasing demand for SPV systems in
other parts of the world, such as Europe, where energy prices are soaring,
have significantly increased the costs of SPV systems. Despite these
challenges, we remain committed to clean and renewable energy and will
continue investing in research and development in this direction to drive future
growth in this sector.

Nonetheless, the Group’s Renewable Energy Business has also been
showing promising development after the lifting of COVID-19 social gathering
ban since January 2023 with two substantial contracts signed. A HK$12
million contract was signed in February 2023 to design and construct a SPV
system in a mega movie studio, and the revenue generated would span over
the fiscal years of 2023 and 2024. In September 2023, the Group entered
into another design, supply and installation agreement (the “Design, Supply
and Installation Agreement”) with a contract sum of HK$50 million for the
design, supply and installation of SPV system for the FiT Scheme at a leading
local university. This provides a sustainable source of revenue for the Group
and the Renewable Energy Business of the Group is expected to continue to
expand.

This achievement reflects our commitment to expanding our product range
and diversifying our revenue streams from renewable energy segments. Our
management team now plans to extend our scope of services to other
overseas countries.

In other notable areas, our commitment to developing Smart Cities has been
a cornerstone of our corporate strategy. | firmly believe in the transformative
power of technology and its ability to enhance the quality of life for human
being in almost every aspect. By integrating advanced infrastructure, data
analytics and digital solutions, we have been at the forefront of creating
sustainable and intelligent environments for our customers.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

The development of our Smart City Solution Business follows a business
model similar to our renewable energy business. By leveraging our expertise,
we design, develop, customize, and install hardware and software solutions
for our customers based on their unique requirements. Revenue is generated
through the design, installation, and ongoing support of these solutions.
During the year under review, we have successfully executed two Smart City
Solution projects. We would continue to explore new opportunities in this
sector and would aim to deliver innovative solutions that contribute to the
development of smart cities.

Since we have successfully integrated Artificial Intelligence, Big Data and
Machine Learning into our IoT devices and our cloud-based applications,
which have to make full use of the functions of Data Centers to exemplify their
efficacy in full fledge. We have been able to seize more opportunities for
growth in the data centre market based on what we have developed in the
loT arena.

In line with our strategic vision, we have made significant strides in the Internet
Data Center (IDC) business. The US-China Strategic Rivalry has prompted
China to accelerate the creation of its data centers, reducing reliance on
computing services provided by the US. Our entry into the IDC business
aligns with this trend. With a service contract with a customer in Gansu, the
establishment of an intelligent computing platform is well underway. | believe
that our continuous involvement in the IDC sector presents us with constant
and stable cash inflow opportunities in the future.

Despite the disposal of Kantone Holdings Limited during the year ended 30
June 2022 and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has been
maintaining its momentum in developing its smart city products and solutions,
which can be customised for use by customers in different industries. The
Group has been actively seeking new opportunities to expand its Smart City
Solution Business. In July 2023, the Group entered into two service contracts
with two state-owned enterprises located in Lanzhou, Gansu Province, the
PRC (collectively, the “Lanzhou Projects”). Under the Lanzhou Projects, the
Group shall design and install computing platforms with the application of an
artificial intelligence (“Al”) model, education cloud platforms and the related
infrastructure (including hardware and software) for colleges in Lanzhou. The
contract sums under the Lanzhou Projects amount to approximately RMB139
million (excluding VAT). On-site work of the Lanzhou Projects is expected to
commence in October 2023 and the Lanzhou Projects are expected to be
completed by stages with full completion in February 2024.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT

As we look ahead, we are excited about the potential growth prospects in the
markets we operate in. Our commitment to renewable energy, technological
innovation and prudent risk management will continue to drive our success.
We remain focused on creating long-term value for our shareholders and
delivering sustainable growth.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my appreciation to
our management team and employees for their dedication and hard works. |
would also like to thank our shareholders for their continual support and trust.

Ms. WONG Man Winny
Chairperson
Hong Kong

27 September 2023

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) reported a total revenue for the year under review
of approximately HK$25 million as compared with approximately HK$61
million, representing a decrease of approximately 59 percent. This was mainly
due to the reduction in revenue generated from trading in gasoil and sale of
renewable energy business during the year.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss for the year under review was approximately HK$12 million (2022:
approximately HK$50 million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$12 million (2022: approximately HK$51
million). The loss for the year and its decrease was mainly due to () the
reduction in contribution from the gasoil trading and sale of renewable energy
business, (i) the recognition of fair value gain of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$11 milion (2022: loss of
approximately HK$13.9 million); and (i) impairment losses recognised for
inventories of HK$6.5 million (2022: Nil). The Group was still able to keep its
gross profit ratio at 16% (2022: 5.3%). Loss per share for the year under
review is HK0.45 cents (2022: HK2.75 cents).

Other Income, Gains and Losses

During the year under review, the Group recognized other income of
approximately HK$3.2 million (2022: approximately HK$2.3 million). The
increase in other income was mainly due to the increased in interest income
during the year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year under review decreased by
approximately 27% percent to approximately HK$19 million (2022:
approximately HK$27 million). The management of the Company has
continued to streamline our workforce to cope our new development and our
strategy of pursuing a more cost-efficient management of overheads. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff costs. It is the
current management’s strategy to adopt a stringent and cost-effective
overhead structure so as to enhance the return on investments.

MBRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

Fair Value Gain/(Loss) on Financial Assets at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss

During the year under review, the Group recognised fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$11 million as
compared with the fair value loss of approximately HK$13.9 million last year.
The detailed information is set out in the “Review of Operations” section
below.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately HK$172,000 from
approximately HK$12 million as compared with the fiscal year 2022, this was
due to the full settlement of all interest bearing loans and promissory note in
December 2021.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The performance in trading business, renewable energy business and Smart
City business is discussed below under the heading of Trading Business,
Technology — Renewable Energy and Technology — System Products.

Trading of Oil

As stated in our interim report 2022/2023:

“Fears of a global economic slowdown caused by oil sanctions against Russia
and the unresolved Ukraine crisis have resulted in the increased use of risky
ship-to-ship transfers to get its crude to Asia. With all these uncertainties, the
Group has continued to stick to its cautious trading business model for its
gasoil business, and limited the scale of the business since oil trading is cash
dependent and will only conduct ship-to-ship transfers trading in Hong Kong
waters. The Group tends to stay away from international waters so as to
avoid the trap and risk of sanction and price fluctuation which in turn has
reduced the scale of trading when compared with that in last year. Vigorous
attempts have been made and the Group has kept a close eye on the
opportunities of dealing in international waters on account of its scale and
more attractive profit margin.”

Following this strategy, during the year under review, the Group did not
conduct any trading business of gasoil.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Trading of Oil (Continued)

We share the same view of report from International Energy Agency (“IEA”)
on the oil market of 2023 that the oil market is struggling for direction. Bearish
macroeconomic indicators and concerns over demand growth are clashing
with resurgent oil use in key consuming countries. Qil prices appear to be
taking their cue from the former, with benchmark North Sea Dated trading at
the price of nearly half the high of 2022 — despite a looming supply deficit.

Global oil demand continues to defy the challenging macroeconomic climate
and is set to rise by 2.4 mb/d in 2023, outpacing last year’s increase as well
as earlier expectations. China accounts for 60% of the gains. Indian demand
is equally robust with the latest readings for May showing both gasoline and
diesel breaking records. Oil demand is expected to continue to rise, both
seasonally and structurally over the remainder of the year, while only a
marginal increase in supply is foreseen. Deeper cuts from some OPEC+
producers kicked in while output from Irag’s northern Kurdish region and
some Canadian oil sands remained shut in. Saudi Arabia, with its voluntary
cut of 500 kb/d agreed in April, led the monthly drop in world supply, but the
overall decline stemmed from a seasonal 330 kb/d rise in biofuels along with
higher flows from Nigeria and elsewhere. Saudi Arabia has promised to slash
output by a further 1 mb/d in July to a two-year low of 9 mb/d. Riyadh made
the pledge at the 4 June OPEC+ meeting that rolled over the bloc’s existing
curbs through 2024 and readjusted some targets to better reflect actual

supply.

Under the current market situation, the management considered that the
Group’s temporary suspension in this sector as a risk avoidance measure for
the year under review was correct and an accountable management
approach in operating the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business

As stated in our interim report 2023, we have been actively supporting the
worldwide call for the adoption and use of clean and renewable energy to

combat climate change. Since 2018, the Group has been investing resources
in the research and development of our Solar Photovoltaic (“SPV”) technology
products.

@

Sales of SPV Business

Other than the information provided in the note below, the table below
summaries the revenue generated from each category of projects of
the renewable energy segment for the year under review.

¥ 750 BEw
BEEKX—TBERER

IF 10 B 920236 [ o BASR & Fi it - TP — B
BB REATNERERRTEL LR
B 4 1 B (L 0 O R - 2018 4F LA -
ERAEREGTABERR(ABEREE
G )) Hll A Y B A -

i)

AGREBRERGXBEE
BRTMERRENERN TERAL
TABLEEREPIEEABMELD
KA

Revenue recognized

Project name BHE&B [EXi:323 ON

HK$’'000

FHET

Village House NEEE 1,199

Warehouses project BEER 4,675

Renowned movie studio project EZXEXEAMIER 3,633

FiT Income FHBEERA 803

Total &5t 10,310
Note: et -

During the year under review, the revenue generated from sale of Solar Photovoltaic
(“SPV”) Systems remained stable and had not increased much. This was attributable
to those prospective customers did not purchase as many SPV systems from the
Group as expected due to the fact that () the Hong Kong government had suddenly
reduced FiT Rates by 16.7% to 25% from 27 April 2022 which discouraged some
customers to proceed with their orders; and (i) the cost of SPV system equipment
incurred by the customers has been increasing due to the global shortage of silicon
and the increasing demand for SPV systems in other parts of the world such as
Europe where energy prices are soaring.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business (Continued)

(i) Inverter-related Business

In February 20283, the Company received the first purchase order of
inverters from a European customer, and the Group should provide
inverters to the European customer in an aggregate amount of
approximately EUR326,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.8
million). The shipments of the inverters to the European Customer were
completed in June 2023 and the corresponding revenue of
approximately HK$2.8 million from inverter-related business was then
recognized for the year of 2023.

Technology — System Products

Smart City Solution Business

The business model of the Company in relation to its Renewable Energy
Business has been to generate revenue through the use of new technology
on third party platforms, and in a scalable manner. There, the Company
makes use of solar energy, on third party land and buildings, to generate
revenue. The Renewable Energy Business also entails the supply of hardware
and some are embedded with software. The Company’s Smart City Solution
Business follows the exact business model as adopted for the Renewable
Energy Business.

Under the Smart City Solution Business, the Group is leveraging its experts to
design, develop, customize and install hardware stack and software to its
customers based on customers’ different requirement. The Group also
provides the on-going support and maintenance of the hardware and
software. Revenue would be generated from such design and installation of
hardware and software and the relevant technical support.

° Relationship among Internet of Things (“loT”), Artificial Intelligence (“Al’),
Big Data and Data Center
loT architecture consists of the devices, network structure, and cloud
technology that allows loT devices to communicate with each other. A
basic loT architecture consists of four layers: Perception (the sensors,
gadgets, and other devices), Network (the connectivity between
devices) and Application (the smart devices which apply loT technology)
and Data Processing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Technology — System Products (continued)

Smart City Solution Business (Continued)

14

Relationship among Internet of Things (“loT”), Artificial Intelligence (“Al”),
Big Data and Data Center (Continued)

The data produced by loT devices are valuable data, as far as Big Data
is concerned. This is because it is attached to a physical device, which
means businesses can access more detailed information about their
devices and how they are used. The accuracy and functionality of loT
devices are enhanced by Al after Big Data are fed to Machine Learning
software.

Cloud application development is also fueled by Big Data. Without Big
Data, there would be far fewer cloud-based applications, since there
would not be any real need for them. Big Data is often collected by
cloud-based applications which are operated from Data Centers.

As such, loT, Al, Big Data and Data Center are interrelated to one

another.

The table below sets out further information of revenue generated from
each of the projects regarding our Smart City Solution Business and

3£ 7% [0 B8 ()

MERE-EIHTHTRmw
ST R RER (8

e YWEBEHAITWHA) AIHETAI
HED ABBEMBEBEFLOZBHH

BA1R (&)

ABEMS  AVBERBELENH
ERAEEMNEE - ERAAERER
REHE EERZILEATANERNER
FRELREEATANEFAER - EX
BERBA\IRE2BURE MBS

RBOEEENDEMSE TR -

ARBEBELHES TERERAERANNME-
MRRBREBE  EERAEAS AR
PEAREMBRECMNELINLE
e XBBEBAETHEERAREARERE

PR LEE -

it mBHE AIEE
BRORIEZHAFERERE-

TRINHBTHMEBZRTERDRER
MY BREFELBFEEPSMEERAE R

loT business for the year under review: EEMW AR EMET
Revenue
Projects EHR W 2=
HK$'000
TET
Project A HEA note (Fi&E) 6,633
Project B EHEB note (Fff7E) 5,463

Smart City — other BEIFTH — Ha

Total =

12,181

Note:

As stated in our interim report 2023, the Group entered into two service agreements
with two customers who are engaged in property development and located in
Guangdong and Guangxi Provinces, the PRC, pursuant to which the Group will (i)
establish an intelligent management system for the construction site to monitor the
construction works within the predefined parameters and safety measures ; and (i)
provide aftersale service for the smart construction site system.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

Bi&E

ENE 12023 F By R 3R &S P - AEBEMR
UATEEREMEAEREFLERENER
BRI THEABMORBHE - REELME  A5HE
BIRENTREREE  (ELE2RTIEER

g BRMNEREIRSELIESEERG

ERET TR ERELENEENRE2HEE
BEAET, RNEEEBTHEARNERRE -

REENH



EEENWR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Internet Data Center Business (“IDC”)

The US-China Strategic Rivalry initiated by USA since 2017 has inevitably
alerted China to speed up the creation of more data centers of its own to
lessen the reliance of computing service provided by the US. Recently, the
US administration was planning to restrict Chinese companies’ access of US’
cloud computing service in a bid to curb China’s Al development. The
Company has since 2019 been paving its way to participate in Data Center
business.

We are thrilled to announce that, in March 2023, the Group entered into a
service contract with a customer in Gansu (“Gansu IDC”), pursuant to which
the Group will establish an intelligent computing platform for the end
customer. The Group has completed the installation work of hardware in May
20283. The installation of software was expected to be completed in July 2023
and thereafter testing and trial run were expected to be conducted for a few
months. The platform is expected to generate revenue for the Group from
February 2024 once the platform is put into use. These would provide the
Group with constant and stable cash inflow in the coming three years.

This achievement has opened up incredible possibilities for us to further
explore business opportunities in this dynamic market. China, as one of the
world’s largest and fastest-growing economies, holds immense potential for
our company’s growth and expansion. With the establishment of our data
centre in Gansu, we have not only positioned ourselves strategically within the
country but have also gained a solid foothold to tap into the thriving digital
landscape. This milestone not only strengthens our presence in China but
also enables us to leverage the vast market demand for advanced
technological solutions and services. We are excited to embark on this new
chapter and look forward to forging valuable partnerships, driving innovation,
and delivering exceptional value to our Chinese clientele.

Depending on the size and the competitors’ aggressiveness, the expected
profit margin of Smart City Solution Business ranges from 15% to 25%,
whereas for those data centre related projects, the profit margin would be
around 4% to 6% since the major trunk of costs is incorporated in hardware
which is quite transparent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Battery Management and Charging Business

On 30 December 2022, the Group had purchased the entire interest of
Beijing Mingxin Zhilian Technology Co., Ltd.* (It REBEZEH M AR AT
(“Beijing Mingxin”), and the battery management and charging business of
the Group was mainly conducted through it, which utilizes loT and big data
platforms to provide the smart and safe charging solutions for electric
bicycles, as well as smart city safe power management and smart fire
protection. Its products under the “5U” brand series cover smart and safe
charging products such as smart charging cabinets, battery replacement
cabinets, charging piles, smart power management platforms, fire-fighting loT
cloud platforms and other intelligent cloud platforms.

However, after several months of collaboration with the marketing team and
the operations team of Beijing Mingxin, the Group decided to dispose of the
entire equity interest of Beijing Mingxin on 30 June 2023 at a consideration of
RMB7.5 million (“Disposal”) because Beijing Mingxin would potentially put a
serious strain on the Company’s resources to cater for the lengthy time and
substantial investment required to build up a sizeable and sustainable
business network for the smart charging cabinets, battery replacement
cabinets, charging piles, smart power management platforms, fire-fighting loT
cloud platforms and other intelligent cloud platforms. The management of the
Company considered it more beneficial if the Company was to devote the
resources required for this segment to other business segments. As such,
subsequent to the Disposal, the Group ceased the battery management and
charging business and no revenue was generated from such business and no
income will be recognised in our financial statement after the completion of
the Disposal on 30 June 2023. For details, please referred to our
announcement dated 30 December 2022 and 30 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Dongguan Hotel Project

On 2 May 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with a purchaser to
dispose of the Group’s entire interest (“Sale Shares”) in Honest City
Enterprises Limited (BEii{>2 AR AR]) (“the Disposal Company”) and to
assign those loans owing by the Disposal Company to the Company as at
Completion on the Completion Date (“Sale Loan”) to the purchaser, and the
purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Shares and take up the
assignment of the Sale Loan at the consideration of HK$45.9 million
(“Consideration”) (“Disposal”). The major asset of the Disposal Company is
the 48.45% interest in a parcel of land located at 6 East Huanshi Road,
Tangxia Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (R A R HH0
B & B 4 B SE Th VB [E A 2R TH BR S 65F) with a total site area of about 25,235.63
square metres and a hotel erected thereon with a total gross floor area of
approximately 38,873 square metres, which is owned by the Company’s
indirect PRC Subsidiary (“Property”). The Group intends to use the net
proceeds from the Disposal of approximately HK$44,900,000 as general
working capital of the Group, and for development of the existing projects of
the Group as well as potential business and investment opportunities which
may arise from time to time.

On 18 July 2023, as more than 50% of the votes were cast in favor of the
resolution for the Disposal (the “Resolution”), the Resolution was duly passed
by the shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 18 July 2023. The Completion of the
Disposal will be any day within 6 months after the 18 July 2023 or on a date
mutually agreed upon in advance by the parties in writing.

The Group acquired the indirect interest of the Property in 2017. The Group
had been looking for opportunities to re-develop the Property over these
years and had maintained minimal investment in refurbishing the Property.
Management of the Property had been out-sourced and the Group had been
receiving stable but not remarkable returns. As the real estate market in the
PRC has been depressed and such situation is likely to persist in the coming
few years, the Board considers that the Disposal represents a good
opportunity for the Group to realize its investment in the Disposal Group, and
improve its liquidity and overall financial position, and reallocate its financial
resources for optimizing the operational efficiency and to enhance the return
to the Group. For details, please referred to our announcements dated 2 May
2023 and 18 July 2023, and the circular dated 27 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Cultural Products

As in previous years, the Company continues to adopt a cautious approach
in handling the cultural products. We have been kept up to date with the
market conditions so we may capture the right moment for realizing some of
the Group’s inventories of cultural products at the right price. In addition, we
have displayed our cultural products which are also work of art in our
Company’s website to enhance public awareness of our cultural products.
These approaches are consistent with those in previous years.

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, with book value of
approximately HK$1,260,000 (as at 30 June 2022: approximately
HK$8,118,000) have been held for trading and resale in the normal course of
business. They were included in the inventories of the Group as at 30 June
2023. Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 pandemic which led to the
significant deterioration of economy had caused very substantial downturn in
both prices and turnover of cultural products in China.

All such cultural products, totalling 225 pieces (as at 30 June 2022: 225
pieces), have been kept in a secured warehouse run by a world-renowned
security solution company, which is an independent third party to the Group.

Money Lending Transactions

Money lending services were only provided incidentally by the PRC subsidiary
of the Company. Such PRC subsidiary has never held itself out to the public
as money lenders and has never canvassed any borrower to borrow money
from it. Therefore, the Directors do not consider or regard that money lending
is part of the Company’s principal or core business during this year.

The money lendings were confined to term loan financing with fixed interest
rates. All proposed lendings were considered case by case and no particular
industry was specified for this purpose. However, the Company does have its
own money lending checklist which the Directors would have to observe
should the occasion arise.

Any loan will only be made with our idle funds, and it should only be granted
to those who approach the directors of the subsidiary by their acquaintances.
They would then carry out the credit assessment process and if the results
were to their satisfaction, they would submit the requests to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further assessment and approval.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

Such assessment and know your client (‘KYC”) processes follow the
procedures below:

1. Verify the identity of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors;
2. Verify the address proof of the borrowers and guarantors;

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and company
number if applicable;

4. Check the memorandum & articles of association of the borrower and
the guarantor if applicable;

5. |dentify the tax position of the borrower by checking the tax clearance
certificate from the PRC competent authority;

6. Obtain the due diligence report, and if necessary, seek advice from
external legal advisers; and

7. Obtain and study the financial statements, preferably audited financial
statements if the potential borrower is an entity.

After the collection and verification of above background information of the
intending borrowers, our PRC director and the company secretary
department of the Group would conduct a loan assessment process through:

1. Obtaining the corporate bank account information;

2. Assessing the creditability and financial position of the borrowers by
checking the latest audit report and management accounts and
personal financial background of the guarantor, where appropriate; and

3. Obtaining board minutes of the borrowers for approving the lending.

After having due regard to the borrower’s financial situation, the extent and
quality of collaterals/guarantee and the loan tenure, the director of the PRC
subsidiary would offer an interest rate which would tend to maximize profit
and yet would comply with the PRC’s rule in determining the maximum
interest rates of the loans to ensure that we would not impose interest rates
higher than the statutory ceiling. Normally, the PRC subsidiary would charge
not less than double of the China Loan Prime Rate (“CLPR”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The above due diligence report, KYC and credit assessment documents
together with the amount, terms and repayment method of the loans would
be submitted to the board of directors of the Group for approval. After
approval has been granted, the final loan agreement would be signed by our
PRC director of the subsidiary with the borrower and the guarantor.

The PRC directors of the subsidiary would maintain personal contact with the
borrowers from time to time during the tenure of the loan and would start
reminding them for repayment about one month before the respective due
dates.

The following are our standard procedures for any delinquent loans:

1. Demand letter will be sent to the borrower for immediate repayment;

2. Instruct our PRC lawyer to issue demand letter to the borrower and
guarantor to demand immediate repayment; and

3. Formal legal action will be taken if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  If no settlement arrangement could be reached after 14 working
days from the date of our legal demand letter.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no signs that Loan would become delinquent.

During the year under review, the Company’s PRC subsidiary entered into
one lending contract (“Loan”) with a PRC company, which is independent
third party. The amount of loan is RMB2.4 million. The loan’s terms was for a
period of twelve months started from the drawdown date and interest rate is 6%
per annum. The loan which was due for repayment on 26 September 2023
was settled on time. The Loan were properly backed by a guarantor whose
financial strength was considered strong enough to act as guarantor for Loan
concerned (30 June 2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments

As part of the Group’s short term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of
which are as follows:

During the year under review, the Group recorded an overall fair value gain on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$11
million which was attributable to the effort of the management in making the
appropriate investment decision (2022: fair value loss of approximately
HK$13.9 million).

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of the investments classified as “Financial
Assets at FVTPL” amounted to approximately HK$34 milion (2022:
approximately HK$22 million). Such investment portfolio comprised 8 (2022: 7)
equity securities listed in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and one unlisted security. The portfolio of listed securities was
composed of 5 (2022: 5) equity securities which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with the remaining 3 (2022: 2) equity securities which
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

The composition of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss is given below:

3£ 7% [0 B8 ()

FBERE®@

AEBERAVFEFABRZZEREEMAK
m

Percentage of
the issued Percentage of
Number of share capital Accumulated total
shares held by of the relevant Investment unrealised held-for-
the Group at company at cost at fair value  Fair value at trading
Company Name/Stock Code ARAEB/ROERYE Notes 30 June 2023 30 June 2023 30 June 2023 (loss)/gain 30 June 2023 investment
r&E R2023F
R2023F 6H30HZ
6A30H EEHAR R2023F  REAREH R2023F HEEE
¥EZ RITRE 6A30A ATE 6A308 REHAEZ
B RABE REZEAE ZBREREF (BB Kz ZDTE Ak
HKS HKS HK$
B s B
Financial assets at fair value through R A FEGFABRZ 2 S REE
profit or loss
Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited EARBERERDR 1 3,259,800 N/A 3,273,974 (8,273,974) - -
(Stock code: 8089) (R{pH 3 - 8089) (F@R)
Zijng International Financial Holdings ~ RAIE B £ B ERAR A A 2 1,561,000 2.08% 12,724,659 (12,279,774) 444,885 1.3%
Limited (Stock code: 8340) (B3R5 - 8340)
China Fortune Financial Group Limited Bl % ¢ B EEHR AR 3 1,423,400 0.11% 2,334,376 (2,063,930) 270,446 0.8%
(Stock code: 290) (R - 290)
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd BERMRAERARF 4 180,000 0.03% 2,286,000 (2,258,100) 27,900 0.1%
(Stock code: 8292) (BR1ARSE - 8292)
Summit Ascent Holdings Limited AAEREBR AT 5 2,500,000 0.06% 2,434,500 (2,007,000) 427,500 1.2%
(Stock code: 102) (RARE : 102)
China Star Entertainment Limited FRESEARRA 6 12,240,000 0.50% 9,885,455 (93,455) 9,792,000 28.6%
(Stock code: 326) (B 5% - 326)
Differ Group Holdings Co., Ltd REEEAEERDA 7 3,000,000 0.93% 6,210,000 (5,997,000) 213,000 0.6%
(Stock code: 6878) (BR1A 5% - 6878)
STAR CM Holdings Limited EZEEVERRE AR 8 213,600 0.05% 5,660,400 17,387,040 23,047,440 67.4%
(Stock code: 6698) (Rt 1R 5% - 6698)
44,809,364 (10,586,193) 34,223,171 100.0%

Notes:

1. The listing of Chinese Strategic Holdings Limited was cancelled on April 2022.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
22 Annual Report 2023

MiaE

1. BREAXBERARA A MG E #2022
FEAWEUH -



EEENWE D
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

2.

8340 Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited

Zijing International Financial Holdings Limited (“Zijing Financial”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Zijing Group”) are principally engaged in the provision
of corporate finance advisory services in Hong Kong.

According to Zijing Financial’s interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
the Zijing Financial Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$6.2 million and total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$3.8 million. As mentioned in our interim
report 2022/2023, they remained on track and their business was considered viable
and sustainable, they have been granted with the licenses to carry out type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance in March 2022. Revenue was recorded in this segment for the
three months ended 30 June 2023. Through the operation of this segment, they
believes that they could be benefits from receiving stable income which could enhance
the financial performance in the long run.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 1,561,000 shares in Zijing Financial and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$12,279,774 in respect of such
investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Zijing Financial during the Year.

290 China Fortune Financial Group Limited

China Fortune Financial Group Limited (“China Fortune”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “China Fortune Group”) are principally engaged in securities and
insurance brokerage and provision of asset management, corporate finance, margin
financing and money lending services.

As mentioned in our interim report 2022/2023, we have kept assessing the status of
China Fortune and we will sell the stock at the appropriate time and price level, this
plan has not changed since the time when we released our annual report 2022.

According to China Fortune’s annual result for the year ended 31 March 2023, China
Fortune Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$27 milion and total
comprehensive expense of approximately HK$65 million.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 1,423,000 shares in China Fortune and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,063,930 in respect of such

investment.

There was no disposal of shares of China Fortune during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

4.

24

8292 Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd

Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (“Worldgate”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Worldgate Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of
comprehensive international freight services, transportation services as well as
warehousing services to customers worldwide and trading of used mobile phones in
Hong Kong.

According to Worldgate’s interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
Worldgate Group recorded revenue of approximately RM51 milion and total
comprehensive loss of approximately RM5.5 million. From their interim report, we
noted that the business, in term of revenue and profit of the Worldgate Group was still
not being able to change the investment committee’s view to sell the stock if the price
is right.

Our plan to sell the stock has remained unchanged.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 180,000 shares in Worldgate and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,258,100 in respect of such
investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Worldgate during the year.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited

Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (“Summit Ascent”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Summit Ascent Group”) conducted through its 60 percent equity
interest in Oriental Regent Limited (“Oriental Regent”) in the operation of gaming and
hotel. The Summit Ascent Group also received a management fee income calculated
at 3 percent of the total gaming revenue, net of rebates, generated by G1
Entertainment Limited Liability Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Oriental
Regent.

In their annual report 2022, they mentioned that the unpredictable and volatile
geopolitical tensions, they are now taking a conservative approach to slow down the
progress of TdC Phase Il so as to ensure that they can generate value for our
shareholders. They have been exploring alternative options, as well as potentially
looking for strategic local partners who might be able to bring in value in terms of
operating the integrated resort in the Russian Far East. In addition to focusing locally
on the leisure and entertainment business in the Russian Federation, they have
invested in the gaming industry of the Philippines. The Philippines has proved itself as
a Southeast Asian hub that could weather the lack of international travellers temporarily
as it scored itself to be one of the best-performing countries in the Asian gaming
sector amidst border closure in the past two years. Through leveraging their expertise
in developing and operating a world-class integrated resort Tigre de Cristal, it will be
able to establish a strong presence in the local Russian market while potentially
diverging to other markets in the future.

For the year of 2022, Summit Ascent Group’s revenue was approximately of HK$ 370
million and total other comprehensive income for the year is about HK$31 million.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

5.

102 Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Continued)

In view of the above, we expect the prospect of their business to go in a positive
direction, and that keeping it in our investment portfolio will in turn benefit our Group
when the current market regains stability

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 2,500,000 shares in Summit Ascent and recorded
an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$2,007,000 in respect of such investment.

There was no disposal of the shares in Summit Ascent during the year.

326 China Star Entertainment Limited

China Star Entertainment Limited (“China Star Entertainment”), and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “China Star Entertainment Group”) are principally
engaged in investment, production, distribution and licensing of fims and television
drama series, provision of artist management services, properties development and
investment operations.

In their 2022 annual report, they mentioned that, to the two major continuing
operations, all film production were halted or suspended for the fim related business
operations as they concentrated only on the preproduction stage of film production
such as the preparation of story boards, and they would adjust relevant strategy in
light of the development of pandemic situations and gradually start film production
upon a suitable story board. Revenue mainly arose from distribution of films in film
library, sub-distribution fees and artist management service fees during this year. As at
31st December 2022, no film or television drama series of them were in shooting stage
and one film classified as investment in films was in its post-production stage. As to
the property development and investment operations, the further development of Lot
C7 do Plano de Urbanizacao da Baia de Praia Grande (the “Property C7”) and its
development plan is awaiting response or further instructions from the Land, Public
Works and Transport Bureau of Macau. Tiffany House had its residential units and car-
parks launched for sale in the fourth quarter of 2022 as sales galleries set up in Hong
Kong and Macau in service. However, the sales plan was postponed owing to the
outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, resumed after the 2023 Lunar New Year, and had
the first sale of a residential unit completed in January 2023. They temporary not
intended to start sales of the commercial units and will consider to change them for
rental purpose. It is expected that year 2023 would be a fruitful year to them as Tiffany
House will start to record revenue and income, and that both cash flow and revenue
would improve in the coming year. Taiwan Property had its renovation furnished in year
2022 and is ready for rent.

With the above reason, the China Star Group’s revenue is about HK$3.9 million and
total comprehensive loss for the year is about HK94 million.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

6.

26

326 China Star Entertainment Limited (Continued)

According to China Star’s annual results for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
China Star Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$252,000 and other total
comprehensive expenses of approximately HK$36 million.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group held 12,240,000 shares in China Star Group and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$93,455 in respect of such
investment.

There was no disposal of shares of China Star Group during the year.

6878 Differ Group Auto Limited

Differ Group Auto Limited (“Differ”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Differ
Group”) are principally engaged in provision of automobile e-commerce business,
assets management business, financial related services, and commodity trading
business.

From their interim report 2022, they mentioned that global economic uncertainties will
persist in the foreseeable future amid the continuous outbreak of various COVID-19
mutant strains. On one hand, the Group will adopt a prudent approach to the asset
management business. They will closely monitor the rapidly changing environment of
the Chinese property market and will seize various opportunities to transact the
valuable assets at a suitable time. On the other hand, the Group will actively explore
business expansion of the automobile e-commerce business through different means,
including strategic cooperation with strategic partners, acquisition or investment in
certain potential companies and forming joint-ventures with other companies. The
Group’s goal is to take a leading position in China’s e-commerce automobile industry
in the near future.

According to Differ Group’s interim report for year ended 30 June 2022, the Differ
Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$328 million and other total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$84 million.

During the year under review, the Group acquired 3,000,000 shares of Differ, and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of HK$540,000 in respect of such
investment during the year. There was no disposal of the shares in Differ Group during
the year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Securities Investments (Continued)

8.

6698 STAR CM Holdings Limited

START CM Holdings Limited (“STAR CM”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “STAR CM Group”) are principally engaged in creating, operating and holding
the entertainment IPs.

From their initial public offer documents, STAR CM is the largest variety program IP
creator and operator in China, they also launched “Sing! China” (1 47 ). one of
the most popular singing competition shows in China. On 14 July 2023, STAR CM
announced that they entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with
Nfkings Productions Limited (the “Nfkings”), pursuant to which the parties to the MOU
intend to enter into a joint venture arrangement to set up a Web3 entertainment
company to capitalize on existing and new opportunities in the Web3 entertainment
space. These are the positive sign of the development of STAR CM. However, the
recent incidence caused the share price of STAR CM dropped by more than 50%. Our
investment committee was noted and closely monitored the development of STAR
CM. As of the date of this report, we are still considered this investment is worth to
hold.

During the year under review, the Group disposed 26,400 shares of STAR CM with a
realized gain of HK$1,400,000 of such investment. As at 30 June 2023, the Group
held 213,600 shares in STAR CM and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealized
gain of HK$17,387,040 in respect of such investment.

OUTLOOK

Technology — Renewable Energy Business

@i

Sales of SPV Business

For the coming financial year, the revenue generated from the Sales of
SPV Business will include the projects with contract signed during the
year under review. Those projects include SPV systems on village
houses and a Studio at Tseung Kwan O. The Company has pro-
actively approached new village house owners so as to enlarge our
customer base. Recently, we have been negotiating with the
management of another substantial media company, a PRC state-
owned company and a large educational institution for the installation
of the SPV systems in their properties. This was attributed to (i) our high
conversion efficiency’s SPV system; (i) good reputation of our SPV
system to the satisfaction of the customers; and (jii) the extensive and
proven experience in installation of a cost-effective and excellent SPV
system.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

0 UTLOO K (Continued)

Technology — Renewable Energy Business (Continued)

(i

(ii)

28

Sales of SPV Business (Continued)

While the details and terms of other contracts are still under negotiation,
a contract in the amount of approximately HK$50 million was entered
into between the Group and a contractor in September 2023, pursuant
to which the Group will design, supply and install the SPV system for a
leading university in Hong Kong.

Inverter-related Business

As stated in our interim report 2023, Europe has witnessed a
remarkable surge in the adoption of solar power energy, fueled by its
commitment to sustainable and renewable energy sources. As the
demand for solar energy systems continues to rise, so does the
requirement for reliable and efficient inverters. Europe seeks inverters
that can seamlessly convert the direct current generated by solar
panels into alternating current suitable for grid integration. The needs
from Europe emphasize features such as high conversion efficiency,
robustness, and compatibility with various grid standards prevalent
across the continent. Furthermore, with an emphasis on reducing
carbon footprint, European countries are seeking inverters that offer
smart grid functionalities, enabling effective power management, grid
stability, and participation in demand-response programs. As the
European solar market expands, the demand for advanced inverters
that meet these specific requirements remains at the forefront of the
region’s sustainable energy agenda. We have been approached by
potential customers in Europe who have strong intention to engage the
Group to procure suitable inverters and pertinent SPV accessories for
import into Europe and at the same time to provide them with relevant
technical advice and support in the application of inverters. The Group
had begun its first transaction in March 2023. On top of the expected
repeat orders from the same customer, the Group has been negotiating
with other new customers in Europe.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOOK (Continued)

Technology — System Products

Smart City Solution Business

In order to leverage the land resources in western China, the government of
the PRC has been making use of data centers in western China to support
the computing need of eastern China. As data center is the backbone of
smart city solution, we have been actively exploring new customers in
western China to develop the Smart City Solution Business of the Group.

The following are the summaries of those signed contracts which was entered
into on or after June 2023:

1. In June 2023, the Group entered into two service contracts with a
company in Guangzhou and Guangdong respectively, pursuant to
which, the Group would (a) design and implement hardware and
software of the smart system which would be used to monitor the on-
site construction progress of buildings; and (b) provide after-sale
services for the smart building system for each project. The contract
sum of the project in Guangzhou amounts to approximately RMB4.8
million (excluding VAT). On-site work for the project in Guangzhou
already commenced in August 2023 and the project is expected to be
completed in November 2023. The contract sum of the project in
Guangdong amounts to approximately RMB6.5 million (excluding VAT).
On-site work for the project in Guangdong already commenced in
August 2023 and the project is expected to be completed in November
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

0 UTLOO K (Continued)

Technology — System Products (continued)

Smart City Solution Business (Continued)

2.

30

In July 2023, we were able to secure two more new projects in
Lanzhou with two state-owned enterprises (the “Lanzhou Projects”)
that follow the exact same pattern as the Company’s Renewable
Energy Business and Smart City Solution Business. Back in 2019, two
potential customers in Lanzhou (‘the Lanzhou Projects”) were
introduced to the management of the Company. These two projects
were steered by a major state-owned company in response to the
policy of “Comprehensive Poverty Reduction” (“Z2HE 25&" 18 H), which
has been implemented by the government of the PRC since 2014
aiming to improve the conditions and quality of education provided by
schools located in the impoverished areas. Our representatives in China
went to Lanzhou to negotiate with the management of the state-owned
enterprises concerned in an attempt to secure the Lanzhou Projects.
With the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, compulsory quarantine
requirement for inbound persons from overseas places and local social
distancing measures imposed by the government of the PRC, we had
seen most of the commercial activities in the doldrums during this
period. These two projects in Lanzhou were forced to put on hold. No
progress could be made until all the COVID-19 related restrictions were
lifted. The following are the details of these two projects.

a. In July 2023, the Group had entered into a service contract with
a state-owned enterprise in Lanzhou. Pursuant to which, the
Group would install a training computing platform with the
application of Al model, an education cloud platform and the
related infrastructure including the hardware and facilities for
education purpose for the customer. The contract sum of this
project amounts to approximately RMB100 million (excluding
VAT). On-site work is expected to commence in October 2023
and the project is expected to be completed in February 2024,
and

b. In July 2023, the Group had entered into a contract with another
state-owned enterprise in China. Pursuant to the service
contract, the Group would install a training computing platform
with the application of Al model, an education cloud platform and
the related infrastructure including the hardware and facilities for
education purpose for the customer. The contract sum of this
project amounts to approximately RMB39 million (excluding VAT).
On-site work is expected to commence in October 2023 and the
project is expected to be completed in February 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

0 UTLOO K (Continued)

Technology — System Products (continued)

Smart City Solution Business (Continued)

We have a team of ten experts in Shenzhen, who have the expertise in () loT
technology, (i) the development of loT products, (i) experiences in the design
of hardware stack and software; and (iv) provision of technical support and
maintenance for machine learning system stack. We therefore are able to
explore more new business opportunities for our Smart City Solution
Business. In the light of the existing signed contracts, the viability and
sustainability of Smart City Solution Business are expected to continue to
expand in the foreseeable future.

The value-added services provided to the customers by the Group include
the design, development and installation of the training computing platform,
the education cloud platform and the related infrastructure for the Lanzhou
Projects that would satisfy not only the technical aspects of different
educational institutions in Lanzhou, but the course contents of education
initiative. Revenue would be generated from the provision of the
abovementioned computing platform, education cloud platform and related
infrastructure by the Group. We cater for the needs of the educational
institutions in Lanzhou, and are leveraging our expertise and computing
technology and loT technology to customize (i) the computing platform, which
can provide sufficient computing power and resources, such as servers,
storage, and applications over the internet, to support the operation of the
smart classroom system, Al learning platform, education cloud platform and
the relevant software installed thereon; and (i) the education cloud platform,
which can serve as a comprehensive learning platform and achieve multiple
functions including but not limited to the incorporation of an e-library,
management of the courses and the sharing of educational resources
between teachers and students. After the installation of the computing
platform, education cloud platform and the related infrastructure, we will
continue to innovate more software and hardware applications by providing
incremental improvement to the existing products in order to enhance their
performance and functionality from time to time.

As such, the Group would provide comprehensive value-added services
regarding the hardware and software provided to the owners of the Lanzhou
Project and new customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

O UTLOO K (Continued)

Trading of Oil

Despite the fact that the Company has recorded decreasing revenue over the
past three financial years and did not generate revenue for the year under
review, which was mainly due to the high volatilities of crude oil prices as a
result of COVID-19 pandemic and the Russia-Ukraine war, the Company
expects to resume its gasoil trading business from 2024 as the Company
anticipates that (i) crude oil price will be less volatile in 2024 without the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; (i) the global demand for gasoil is
expected to increase in 2024 due to the continued rebound in economic
activities in China; and (iii) the impact of the Russia-Ukraine war may diminish.
As such, the decrease in revenue generated from Gasoil Trading Business in
the past 12 months was just a temporary risk avoidance measure adopted by
the Company to safeguard its resources.

Cultural Industry

The business strategies for the cultural industry are still being refined. As the
trading of cultural products used to be part of the business of the Group, our
business strategy has remained cautious. We are displaying our cultural
products in our Company’s website to enhance public awareness of our
cultural products. We have been acquiring new cultural products or antiques
for resale, such as the 3 pure gold ornaments in 2021 and other pure gold
products during the year, both of which had already been sold, this kept us
up to date with the market conditions enabling us to capture the right
moment for realizing some of the Group’s inventories of cultural products at
the right price.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Financial Position and Gearing

The Group'’s financial position remained positive with reasonable gearing.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had approximately HK$9.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$24 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$131 million (2022:
approximately HK$98 million) and current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$37 million (2022: approximately HK$20 million). With net current assets of
approximately HK$94 million (2022: approximately HK$78 million), the Group
maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. Gearing ratio at 30 June 2023
is zero as the Group had no borrowings as at 30 June 2023 (2022: N/A).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Financial Position and Gearing (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no short term or long term borrowings
(2022: HK$ Nil). Finance costs for the year were approximately HK$172,000
(2022: approximately HK$12 million).

Fund Raising Activities

A. During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group completed a fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$86.7 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom having been applied as follows:
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Actual use of proceeds

FEREERAR

Date of
announcement  Fund raising activity Fund raising activity  Intended use of Proceeds
FBEZHE
DM EE £EED ERE FERERERR
30 May 2018 Rights issue on the basis ~ Approximately For partial repayment of loan
(Note) of one rights share for HK$86.7 million due to Guangdong
201845 H30H every two existing #786,700,0007% 7T Finance Limited under a
(Kt zE) shares held on the facility agreement entered
record date at into between the Company
HK$0.40 per rights and Guangdong Finance
share Limited and for investment
RERERR 70405 in internet communication
TRESAEEEE projects of the Group and
HRBRERNHER for administrative expenses
—(NRERRNE and operation expenses
BRETHBR BERBARAEEREE
BERAFATIZBER
BERERGEBRA
AZBAER REXR
SECEMBREER
REGERAXREER
XZA

HK$50.0 million was utilized for partial repayment of the loan owing to
Guangdong Finance Limited and approximately HK$20.0 milion was utilized
for administrative expenses and operation expenses and payment of interest
on borrowings, and approximately HK$1.7 million was utilized for trading
business; and approximately HK$14.44 milion respectively was utilized and
the amount of approximately HK$560,000 millon were used for our working
capital on internet related projects of the Group.
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Set out below is a further breakdown of the use of approximately HK$20.0 million
as administrative and operation expenses and payment of interest on
borrowings:

TR 51420,000,000% 1T H R EER A RERH S 2[R 2 AA
AT -

Use of proceeds Amount

FERERRE -]
(HK$'000)
(F&T)

Loan interest 7,400

ERFE

Cash flow for the trading business 8,300

BH5XBHRENE

General operating expenses 300

—REERX

Legal and professional fee 400

EREREEER

Rent, management fee & government rates 1,000

He EREAREM

Staff salaries 2,600

BEI%%

Total: 20,000
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BEREEEEFRAR

—e-=FFK 33



BEEENWmRE DN

MANAGEM ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Fund Raising Activities (Continued)

Note: On 10 July 2018, 54 valid acceptances in respect of a total of 133,666,176
rights shares allotted and 60 valid applications for a total of 18,140,286
excess rights shares under the rights issue were received. In aggregate,
acceptance of and applications for a total of 151,806,462 rights shares were
received. Based on the acceptance and application results, the rights issue
was undersubscribed. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting agreement,
the underwriters (Get Nice Securities Limited and Head & Shoulders
Securities Limited) eventually took up the 76,137,154 undersubscribed
shares.

B. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group completed a fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$205 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom having been applied as follows:
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Actual use of proceeds

MESEERAR

Date of
announcement  Fund raising activity Fund raising activity  Intended use of Proceeds
i ¥ it
DR £EED RERE FERERERRE
18 May 2021 Rights issue on the basis  Approximately For repayment of loan due to
(Note 1) of three rights shares HK$198 million Guangdong Finance
202145A18H for every one existing ~ #7198,000,00075 7 Limited under a facility
(B3E1) share held on the agreement entered into
record date at between the Company
HK$0.10 per rights and Guangdong Finance
share Limited and promissory
RERERKH0.1058 note payables and; for
TREHAEEHE facilitating the business of
—( )Hﬁfﬁﬁ R B 3 oil trading, renewable
“QREREH E energy and IT projects of
Eiﬁm}i\ﬂﬁ the Group
BERBAAAEEREE
BRAGGUZBER
BEREREERRA

AZERRENELR
B ARBARERE
HRk @l A BEER
RITER££7

Note 1: On 6 December 2021, 31 valid acceptances in respect of a total of
543,873,330 rights shares allotted and 26 valid applications for a total of
114,287,801 excess rights shares under the rights issue were received. In
aggregate, acceptance of and applications for a total of 658,161,131 rights
shares were received. Based on the acceptance and application results, the
rights issue was undersubscribed. Pursuant to the terms of the underwriting
agreement, the underwriters (Get Nice Securities Limited and Kingston
Securities Limited) eventually took up the 1,393,331,413 undersubscribed
shares.
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HK$126 million was utilized for repayment of the loan owing to Guangdong
Finance Limited and HK$41 milion was utilized for repayment of promissory
note payables; and approximately HK$22.8 million was utilized for trading
business; and approximately HK$3.6 million was utiized for the renewable
energy projects; and the remaining balance of approximately HK$4.6 million
was fully utiised during the finance year 2023 in funding its renewable energy
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position. The Group finances its operation
and business development by a combination of internally generated
resources, capital market instruments and banking facilities. All the
borrowings were used by subsidiaries of the Company in the form of fixed
loans, margin loans and promissory notes. As all the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in their local currencies, the currency risk exposure
associated with them was insignificant. The Group does not engage in any
speculative derivatives or structured product transactions, interest rate or
foreign exchange speculative activities. It is the Group’s policy to manage
foreign exchange risk through matching foreign exchange income with
expenses and, where significant exposure to foreign exchange is anticipated,
appropriate hedging instruments may be used.

Capital Commitments

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s did not have any material capital
commitments (2022: Nil).

Charges

The Group did not have any charges on assets as at 30 June 2023.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had on record a contingent liability of HK$1
million (HK$1,000,000) for which provision is not made since, after due
consultation with lawyers, the directors are of the view that a provision is
unnecessary as the chance of winning the case is high. The Group’s
subsidiary is the plaintiff in this High Court case claiming a subcontractor for
costs incurred and wasted in performing a main installation contract
amounted to at least HK$0.5 million (HK$500,000) plus and the loss of profits
in the main and other contracts totalled HK$5.3 million (HK$5,300,000) as a
result of the defective and substandard work of the subcontractor. Our claim
is supported by a lot of evidence including but not limited to a Defects Report
prepared by qualified independent professional engineers. Save as disclosed,
the Group had no other material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2023 (30
June 2022: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments

or capital assets

Save as disclosed, there were no significant investments held, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during

the year ended 30 June 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

20239 A28 H AS AT 28 SEPTEMBER 2023

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WONG Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”), aged 49, has been an executive
Director and the Chairperson of the Board since October 2017. She was the
executive director and Chairperson of Kantone Holdings Limited (stock code:
1059) for the period from 19 October 2017 to 30 December 2021. Ms. Wong
served as the licensed representative of Business Securities Limited from
2003 to 2004. She has over 10 years of experience in corporate management
and investment. Ms. Wong is the sole director of Worldwide Peace Limited,
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company which falls to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”).

As at 30 June 2023, Ms. Wong is deemed to be interested in 442,359,000
shares in the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued
share capital of the Company, through Worldwide Peace Limited, which is
beneficially wholly owned by Ms. Wong, under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

20239 A28 H AS AT 28 SEPTEMBER 2023

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (“Mr. Liu”), aged 67, has been re-designated as a non-
executive Director with effect from October 2020 and continues to serve as
an authorised representative of the Company. He was an Executive Director
of the Company from October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 30 years
of professional experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a
Certified Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu
is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He was an executive director of Kantone Holdings
Limited from October 2016 to October 2020. He is also a director of serval
subsidiaries of the Group. From March 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Liu was the
chairman of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial
Group Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. From
October 2003 to March 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman of Wonderful World
Holdings Limited (now known as Good Resources Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From January
2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of United Pacific
Industries Limited (now known as Superactive Group Company Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2023, Mr. Liu beneficially owned 1,992,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 0.07% of the issued share capital of
the Company.

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (“Ms. To”), aged 43, has been a non-executive
Director since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To holds
a postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong and a
graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester
Metropolitan University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court
of HKSAR in 2009. Ms. To has more than 10 years of experience in the legal
field. Ms. To is currently a non-executive director of Kantone Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (“Mr. Leung”), aged 59, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Leung has
extensive experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of
Kantone (stock code: 1059), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant from 1992 to 1996
in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung was also an independent non-executive director
of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code: 6898), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during the period
from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr. Leung is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Da Ming International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1090), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 33, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since June 2017. Mr. Chan graduated
from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2011 with a
bachelor’s degree in Electronic & Computer Engineering. Mr. Chan is a young
inventor and entrepreneur in Hong Kong. In 2004, he won the Second Award
in Engineering Category in the 55th Intel International Science and Engineering
Fair in the United States of America for his invention of a smart security robot.
An asteroid no. 20780 was named after him. In 2006, Mr. Chan’s
autobiography “Chan Yik Hei, The Young Man Who Grabbed The Star* (1 £
DEEBR 5 %) was published, and became one of the bestsellers on the
Hong Kong Book Fair. He was also the torchbearer of the 54th Olympic torch
relay in Hong Kong and a member of the management committee of The
Church of Christ in China Tam Lee Lai Fun Memorial Secondary School. In
2016, he was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government.
Mr. Chan is one of the founding shareholders of Bull.B Technology Limited,
which provides (i) online platform and development services; and (i) mobile
application development services, including FinTech platform development
and educational apps.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
Dl RECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand (“Mr. Wong”), aged 67, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since March 2018. From
January 2004 to August 2006, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now known as Imperium Financial
Group Limited) (stock code: 8029), the shares of which are traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. Formerly a foreign correspondent, he held
various key communications roles in government agencies, the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, a major international charity, and tertiary academic institutions.
He is currently responsible for public relations and communications at an
educational institution.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Wai (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, has been the company secretary of
the Company since October 2016, and he is also the chief financial officer
and an authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Chan has 29 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan holds a
master degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and an
authorised representative of Kantone and a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company.
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EEERE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of gasoil and trading of cultural products, strategic
investment, system sales including renewable energy systems and the related
engineering work, software development, licensing and customization, of
system products including 0T which, in turn, includes smart construction site
and smart city.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2023 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 36. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 54 to 80. The above discussions
form part of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish separately
an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report simultaneously with
this report in compliance with the provision set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners are
the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company is
committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’'s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. Employees are provided with health insurance coverage
for their medical expenses. The Group also works together with its business
partners to provide high quality products and services to achieve the goal of
sustainable development and contribution to society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 87 to 88 and in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group, the
liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda and the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 91 and Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2023 are
set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 215 to 216.

INTEREST BEARING OTHER BORROWING

The group had no interest bearing borrowing outstanding as at 30 June
2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Company during the year ended 30 June
2023 amounted to HK$11,200 (2022: HK$10,300).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year are set out
in Notes 18 to 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
Mr. WU Yun Jing
(resigned on 25 May 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei
Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”), one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years.

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director appointed by
the Board at any time either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change in
the Directors’ information required to be disclosed during the year under
review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth
under Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Ms. Wong Man Winny Interest of controlled corporation 442,359,000(L) (Note 1) (Fii#E1) 16.17%
mH AL R DA E R
Mr. Liu Ka Lim Beneficial owner 1,992,000(L) 0.07%
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Notes: M EE -
1. As at 30 June 2023, these shares of the Company were held by Worldwide Peace 1, 20236 A30H AR AlZERMDABAR AR

Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Wong Man Winny, the current chairperson and
executive director of the Company. Ms. Wong Man Winny is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company, representing approximately 16.17% of the issued share
of the Company held by Worldwide Peace Limited.

2. The letter “L.” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares involved divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2023 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 30 June 2023, the following person (other than the interests of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ interests and short positions in securities” above) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

FERR

MN2023F6 A30H - IRBEFESF KB EKRIE
KM TEARRAATFTREZZLMATRREE
THAL(EX[ESz2EHFEERAR] K
FTEERARNRESTRITRAR ZEEBRIN R
KAz REEROPEEEZRRKAE

Approximate
percentage*

Number of of the issued
Name Capacity shares share capital
HERITRAZ

= 56 RO EE BHE D~
Worldwide Peace Limited Beneficial owner 442 ,359,000(L) (Note 1)(ff&E1) 16.17%

EFERRAA] BHEBEAA

Note: The letter “L” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
there was no person who had any interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 92% of the
total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 26%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 94% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted to
approximately 49%.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group employed about 34 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2023 were
approximately HK$11.2 million (2022: approximately HK$14.2 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the performance, qualifications and experience of the
individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual capabilities, performance,
salaries paid by comparable companies, and time commitment and
responsibilities of the position.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such permitted
indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force during the
year and remained in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2023, no claims were
made against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2023 are set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant event affecting the Group occurred subsequent to 30
June 2023.

AUDITOR

Cheng & Cheng Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Ms. WONG MAN WINNY
CHAIRPERSON

Hong Kong
27 September 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code. The Board will review its corporate
governance practice annually and make necessary changes if necessary.
Meetings were held throughout the year under review and where appropriate,
circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management of the Group to ensure that they were aware of issues regarding
corporate governance practices.
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BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual
budgets and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions made by the Board,
the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and management of
the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support from senior
executives to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval must be obtained
from the Board before entering into any significant transactions. The
statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 86 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)

Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson)
(resigned on 25 May 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand
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BOAR D (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

One of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 37 to 40 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
provide to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so that
independent judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human resources and
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company and
scrutinized the Group’s performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Director, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a new Director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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BOARD (Continued)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairperson
and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairperson and the Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The role of Chairperson is being performed by Ms. Wong Man Winny, who is
also being the Executive Directors, and she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning
and leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the Executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfiment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation at
the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management from
time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee,
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set

out below:
Audit
Board Committee
Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors to attend to attend
gitig/ L1174
REREEZ REKEEZ
EEps ESg8E ERZESER

EEEERRREREWw

REERABTZERRAREREEE BERZ
Bg ANEREFMEZEES REZESMN
AEZERERZEFTHREBEREAIMT

Human

Resources and
Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual
Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
to attend to attend to attend to attend

Bt/
RERLREZ gitiE/ BiiE/ R/

ANERR AEREREz RERERZ SEKHEZ

FHZEEEE REZEEEE REZEEEE RRBEAE

Executive Directors

HTES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) 6/6 -
BERRT(LE)

Mr. WU Yun Jing (Joint Chairperson) (resigned on 25 May 2023) 5/6 -

RABKEBEEE) (R202345F25AFF)

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim 6/6 -
BRELE

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica 6/6 -
gt

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUXHTES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 6/6 2/2
ANEEE
Mr. CHAN Yik Hei 6/6 2/2
BH%EKE

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand 6/6 2/2
BERENEHE

- - 212 11
- - - 11
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with
Board papers and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary
and appropriate, they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead of
passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 29 December 2022. Details of major items discussed in those
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 30
November 2022.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
60 Annual Report 2023

EEEERRREREw

REFEZEAEGZT EFAIRIEAR

SEZERBRE ERFBERE FHAFER
¢%%F'&EEK$E¢ﬁR% HE&E

ERCEBRTARESRITBRARAT -

ARNENSEFEER LR FERFEFM
ERLY BERLBREFTEMERZIAA
RE - ARFIREBEZBIEERREZRY
%ﬁ(ﬁﬂ*ﬁ) E=ZgeRCBIVRENE S
ERE RYBATZEATEREERT2
‘E‘%§$'LM?H)?ZW‘%%EEU&%HE EHES
BREEFNAEREHEREMMBEIHLCHE -

EREFHINACAEHENSHEEEHE
B mEENTEEIAELE—TEMR -

BENRAAZRHMEBRBARAWMEZERL R
R ARAMEAERERRHEEES XM
N E A #E B A K o & R Ay E N RE R B 18 IE
EERF ARETUERERRIER -
MEERR/EFTEREER  RETERS
VHEEBRRRERYE BRBAEEXM -

W—R2ETERRIXEETFANGEHR 64
EEMRBESERLRR MIEBBEER
FERBAVENGZHRZBIFNTES
BELFEeEREUARERSHERER -

EZZE 2 (BHRERZES ANBEREH
MEzEe REZEGRREZES)HER
MEFGSIRMRAZERERLER -

ARBZBRBFREREMERFNAE
REBRRBBZIZFE MERRBHE-
ARAEBME2ERREFRRAGHZIRA
TRRELFASGANRE LRRE(MEFREE
HE)

RE E2023F6 308 ItFE AR AR AR
2022F 12290 BITHBRRBAFRKE - N
BERAEETEIZEE IEH.#I*/‘ N
NN T B H A2022911 A30E 2@



TEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as to
ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal
and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2023 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEzHIlRE

EREZ(ERINTEETRBEILIFATE
R BENEREERESTZARAEUR
REBZER At AEBREBEHERE
MEFEZERAGARSFREHEZARER
A WERHEN G RDHNE - ARERH
EEATESTEe2AE REEREFZAE
RLREMBE UARAEBZEBRERR
B ZEdalREERESTZAESRER
MBI AWEE S BIE -

RARBORERES I BESEERTH
EHEMNEINLIREEBELEE - NE Z20234F
GHHIEFERREEARRE AL 288
EEMRSSANBEKIDRBER2EEE
HERREONMBERIY T FLNE R #
REGBEEENFENRUEBEHMYESS
EHER  FE2HE2BIMT

Type of Training (Notes)

Name of Directors EERR EANE R (PR

Executive Directors BITES

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) BEHRE(EE) A B

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE A B

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica PSRz I A B

Independent Non-executive Directors BUYFHITES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RIEFRAE A B

Mr. CHAN Yik Hei bR 5 % kA& A B

Mr. WONG Yuk Man Edmand mENXKE A B

Notes: B 5

A: Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A HERSE SN E SRR AmwiE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general B: BMEAEESER S —REKEFE2HE - B

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by such
Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.

T R 5 EH

BEEHREEREZERBEREFRAAS
BRBEENDRAR RABAMET 2B
BRME  UAREMERESE-
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was further revised and adopted on
29 December 2022. As at 30 June 2023, the human resources and
remuneration committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik Hei and
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairperson
and/or other Board members on its proposals and recommendations and has
access to professional advice, if necessary. The human resources and
remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2023, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson
and other executive Director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held one meeting to
review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@ to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c)  to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2023, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (Chairperson), Mr. Chan Yik
Hei and Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand. No member of the audit committee is a
former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years from
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in the
auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2022 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2022. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that CHENG & CHENG
LIMITED, be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings. In
line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval,
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2023, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu
Ka Lim (Chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely, Mr.
Leung Man Fai and two executive staffs of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote
sufficient effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of
the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the
responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filing the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES
AND MECHANISM

The Board recognizes that a comprehensive corporate governance
management structure is crucial in helping the Company to implement its
strategies and policies effectively and consistently throughout the Group, and
safeguard the long-term interests of its shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company has established the following policies and mechanism and has
continuously reviewed them to ensure that the Group meets the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations:

. Board Diversity Policy

° Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available to the Board
o Anti-corruption Policy

o Whistle-blowing Policy

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued) BEEERESZTIEHE @

The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates H R EIHETHE A E 2B R AEEZ o4
and their contribution to the Board. REEBAE L RE ©

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under WA EFHRHHE  ZrotHENBEFESe A
diversified perspectives is set out as follows: KEH AT :

Public relations &
communications
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Designation Gender Age Professional
ES s R Egh background
BEEER

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY ETIZ it

As at 30 June 2023, the ratio of male and female in the workforce by gender 7202346 B30 8 - 7~ & B 4% 4 B & & # 2| 5
and age of the Group (including executive directors and senior management) W ELZE T (BIEHRTTEETRSNEIEE) L
is 50% and 50% respectively as set out above. The goal of a workplace {7l 2 Bl A50% K& 50% T {E#% BT % 1L § £ &l
diversity isto create the right environment where people feel comfortable &E47EIRIE FE TN AT HHIRESR G
working together with both collaboratively and effectively in an environment HAET EXNFHE T/E: 2828 THA LA
without judgment; all staff is able to reach their full potential while working as BB EHRIB e D B E H - ANEEFER A B
a team. The Group considers that the current composition of workforce g 8 T %tk B 1248 Bk (MBI tE Il ~ 14 Bl % 15
diversity objective (gender ratio, plan or measurable objectives for gender Mt EISAIEEBEE - F E MR AR
diversity, factors or circumstances affecting the gender ratio, etc) had been ZHIERNH)EEH S ATEITHKF -
achieved at acceptable level.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

In compliance with Code B.1.4 of the CG Code, on 29 December 2022, the
Company has established and adopted the mechanisms that was to ensure a
strong independent element, and independent views and input are available
to the board of directors of the Company (the “Mechanisms”). The
Mechanisms cover composition of the board and board committees;
independence assessment; compensation, Board’s decision making; and
review of the policy implementation. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on 27
September 2023, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanisms and considered that the Group was satisfied
with the independence status of all the independent non-executive directors.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

On 29 December 2022, the Company adopted an anti-corruption policy
(“Anti-Corruption Policy”), this policy is to outline the Company’s
expectations and requirements on prevention, detection, reporting and
investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and other similar irregularities;
and to provide information and guidance on recognizing and dealing with
bribery and corruption, the Company has established its group-wise anti-
corruption policy that complies with Code D.2.7 of the CG Code.

Under the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Group has established the Code of
Business Conducts, and has put in place internal control mechanism to
prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other
misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company has established a
whistle-blowing policy which forms an important part of its effective risk
management and internal control systems.

Under the whistle-blowing policy, the Group allows stakeholders to report
suspicious negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct to the Group
anonymously. All reported cases are investigated confidentially to ensure the
whistle-blower is protected.

The whistle-blowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$1,300,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,150,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to (i) our
discloseable transactions was approximately HK$251,000 and (i) internal
control review, risk management advisory and ESG report matter was
approximately HK$400,000 (2022: approximately HK$499,000, mainly
internal control review, risk management advisory and ESG report related
matters).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2023, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy on 29
December 2022 with the objective of providing the Shareholders with equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to
engage actively with the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunity for shareholders to exchange views
with the Board.

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2022
(the “2022 Annual General Meeting”) to ensure that shareholders’ views
were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the 2022 Annual General
Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty-one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2022 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer agent, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Bye-laws. An
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to the
shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the relevant provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by
way of a special resolution in a special general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in a
special general meeting other than by way of a special resolution of the
Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual and
interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of company secretary at Units 4214-15, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition a special general
meeting, any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth (1/20) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than one hundred (100) shareholders, shall (unless
otherwise resolved by the Company) at their own expense have the right by
written requisition:

(@  torequire notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders entitled to receive notice of that meeting; and/or

(b)  to request for circulation to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting any statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by the requisitionists in a single
document or in separate copies prepared for the purpose which between
them contain signatures of all requisitionists. A copy of the signed requisition,
accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses, must be deposited at the Company’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@  inthe case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six (6) weeks before the annual general meeting unless an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the copy
has been deposited, in which case the copy shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited though not deposited within the time required;
and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one (1) week before
the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements, and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.champion.hk) provides a
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

The Bye-laws is available on both the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of
the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. Such review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of
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risk mitigation efforts.
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“Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level

BRER UHEEERERRZERE -

TheBoard EE &
Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and
internal control systems;
BERAEAEEZAREEHERAIEZEHE
Sets strategic objectives;
SR B B AR
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control
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PR Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
S e S o A ERIZEARIUEBERAEAZIRARER &
IR Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
FERERE N Lz EBEERE T & -
Management & ¥ [
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control
systems; and
HE BhkERERERERAPEZEGE R
“Bottom-up” Assesses our risk and mitigating m_easures Company-wide.
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assessment and

mitigation of risk at
business unit level
and across
functional areas
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Audit Committee BERZZEE S
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of
the underlying risk management and internal control systems.
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Operational Level & & B @
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business;
and
BB - TR E E R &
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business
operations and functional areas.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in our
strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations. The
Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners are
required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and
Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”)
framework for internal controls and has five components, namely Control
Environment; Risk Assessment; Information and
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature

Control Activities;

of our business activities.

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of the
plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches our
ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (Continued)

Due to the changing business environment and development, including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day-to-day
basis by operating units.

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness, and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The Executive Director is the designated person who speaks on behalf
of the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts, or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to assist in the IA
function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems by
conducting interviews, walkthroughs, and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via the Audit
Committee afterwards.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a few risks and uncertainties. The following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

Business Risk

Trading Business

The risk exposure in oil trading is comparative limited as the Group adopted a
very conservative approach in selecting customers and stringent credit policy
in trading gas oil.

Technology Business — Renewable Energy

As a long-term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the Group is
subject to Hong Kong government supportive policies, climate, economy and
other execution risks. Although the Covid-19 pandemic has not subsided, the
Group is confident that it would accomplish the delayed projects in an orderly
manner.

Technology Business — Smart City Solution Business

Loss of market share and uncertainties are risks we must face with great
changes taking place for each passing day in the internet and technology
world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in technology
innovation to broaden its market share and keep investing in products
research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The sales, purchases and expenses incurred in our renewable energy and
smart city solution business are mainly denominated in Hong Kong, US Dollar
and Renminbi. Since Hong Kong Dollar remains pegged to US Dollar, the
Group does not foresee a substantial exposure in this area, and will closely
monitor the trend of Renminbi to see if any action is required.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the risk
management and internal control system were effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During year the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification, and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

SRR Rt ER F A AT A R A

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHAMPION TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Champion
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 87 to 214, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRAREAREE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were HAREREBEIEERMAOEEHE  RA
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ¥ ARG A M BB AN ERZAEEN S
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit TEH - E L EZEBE AR B X EBEEEES W HH®
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ZRERHEEEBETFTUERE BT eHE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. HEFIINMEHEZR -

Key audit matter

HRERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMETERSNNEEERERSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REWMEME

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant judgement and
estimation required by management in determining their fair values.
ERREDENLEHGAMBHREABEMEBER REX
HRAFERELERAE RGN RARRKREVELRERB
REFTERE-

Investment properties of the Group mainly represent commercial
properties. As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of investment properties
amounted to HK$37,959,000, with the fair value loss of
HK$1,136,000 recognised in the profit or loss for the year then
ended.
SEHONKREMETZEMAYE - N20235F6 H30H - KEY)
¥R A FER37,95900FTT BHEZBHIEFEDRERER
AT EEE A1,136,0007 7T °

As disclosed in notes 4, 21 and 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, in estimating the fair value of investment properties, the
Group engaged independent qualified external valuers to perform the
valuation and worked with the valuers to establish inputs to the
valuation.
MEREMBHRERMFTL 29 RNAEE - REFTIREMEZLR
FEE REZBEBE A EARINE L EADE Tk (E I E L AR
HABHEZEEMBEIE -

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the management
and valuer had taken into account key inputs including price per
square feet/square metre with certain unobservable inputs that
require significant management judgement.
EHTREMENRTER EBEMGLEMZSE T B@HREA
B BESFEFHFERFHROERSE SPTP IR —LREE
BRIMGABENEZEEEBHFHERAEN -
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BB REMEGEENEF B

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities, objectivity
and independence of the valuers;
HEEMHOER e h BEMELBZEEDL
S

° Discussing with the management and the external
valuer their valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in their
valuations;

B35 1P [Z A0 SN Bk (B AD 51 5 At P9 69 1k (B 75 0% DA
RibEPRANBERGETFRE

o Obtaining an understanding of the valuation
techniques and significant assumptions adopted
by the management and the valuers;
THREEERGEMRMANDGBERTRER

B

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
models and the judgements made by the
management and the valuers;

AT R EE R R B E M E AT R 2 TR

BEE:

o Obtaining and reviewing the valuation report
prepared by the valuers; and

ERITESRGHEMBROGERS X

° Checking the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs used by the valuers in the
valuations, in particular, the adjusted unit sale
rates, on a sample basis, against market data such
as recent selling prices.

R SEE (I HEE) MRS REDR
HERAEANERTTEENBABLE

EEARBNEEBEIREAIE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 27 September 2023
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mEEmRAEMEEEKER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

£ ZE 202346 A30H (-4 & FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FER FHEIT
Revenue I &5 6 25,292 60,969
Cost of sales & A (21,242 (57,734)
Gross profit EF 4,050 3,235
Other income, gains and losses HMA - s kEE 7 3,176 2,258
General and administrative expenses —MBRITEXH (19,418) (26,767)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories FE R EEE (6,488) -
Impairment losses on finance lease receivable FEREEHERERSE (234) (838)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment ¥7% -~ [RE R & & 2 MEEE — (2,052)
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets CREEEZRERS - (1,703)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) Bt FEULE 5 [ H 4tb IR 2 g 22
recognised for trade and other receivables WEEER R CRERE) (684) 842
Impairment losses on loan receivables JE U & FOR B & 8 (121) -
Inventories written off bl SR Ea =1 ) - (204)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value R A FEFABZZ o/ EE
through profit or loss NP EWRE(BE) 10,738 (13,863)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HEZFBBERAFENE
through profit or loss CRIBEEMEIE (1,386) -
Fair value loss on investment properties wWEMEZ NFEBRE 21 (1,136) (1,566)
Finance costs B 7 AR 8 (172) (11,947)
Loss before taxation CX F ] 9 (11,6795) (52,610)
Income tax expense FTEBZ 15 (597) (428)
Loss for the year from continuing operations BEREERZAEERFER (12,272) (63,038)
Discontinued operations CRIEEEETE
Profit for the year from discontinued operations ERIEEEEB 2 AFEE N 13 548 2,878
Loss for the year KEEERE (11,724) (50,160)
Other comprehensive expense: Hti2E*XH
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to HignsHoEeEsy
profit or loss: EHA :
Exchange difference arising on translation of INEBREMEEZ
foreign operations i 5 =58 (9,344) (1,662)
Reclassification adjustment on translation HEMB ARG EY
reserve released on disposal of subsidiaries REZETHBAE (69) (8,090)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEHMEEXH (9,413) (9,752)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEZELIHASE (21,137) (69,912)
BEREEEEFRAR
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mEEmRAEMEEREKE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

£ ZE 202346 A30H (-4 8 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5E TERT FHEIT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AARBEEANEGEREE
the owners of the Company: (BR]) &F
— from continuing operations —RERBBEKEER (12,745) (52,410)
— from discontinued operations —REDRIEEREET 562 1,541
(12,183) (560,869)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to FERBREZEGRFE
non-controlling interests: (B#B), %7
— from continuing operations —RERHEREED 473 (628)
— from discontinued operations —REERILEEET (14) 1,337
459 709
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the EEAEE2E (X H),/
year attributable to: WA B
Owners of the Company EAN/NSIE RSN (19,603) (60,075)
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R R (1,534) 163
(21,137) (59,912)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income forthe EAREBEAELEAEEZE
year attributable to owners of the Company: (W) WMA#EEE:
— from continuing operations —REBEKEER (20,165) (53,835)
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEEER 562 (6,240)
(19,603) (60,075)
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (EE)BA
Basic and diluted — from continuing and BEAREHE-RaBBELE HK(0.45) cents  HK(2.75) cents
discontinued operations REKRIEEEETR 17 AL AL
Basic and diluted — from continuing operations EAREHRE-REFELE HK(0.47) cents HK(2.83) cents
S Al bRl
Basic and diluted — from discontinued operations — E 7N 7 &858 — K B 2 42 UE HKO0.02 cents HKO0.08 cents
B &AL Rl
The notes on pages 94 to 214 form part of these consolidated financial ~E94E 214 B & v it Bt S5 4 B EHE

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202346 H30H 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mg 3E FET FAET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BWEREE 18 4,515 203
Right-of-use assets TREEE 19 - 168
Investment properties "EYE 21 37,959 47,275
Interest in an associate GENR 2R 22 2 2
Finance lease receivable FEU L & & KA 24 - 33,897
42,476 81,545
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 25 7,335 12,882
Finance lease receivable BB & &8 24 - 4,171
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R EMEER 26 40,765 33,969
Loan receivables B E K 27 2,474 —
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEAFEFABRZZ
TREE 23 34,223 21,985
Tax recoverable EIRLQER A - -
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeEHE 28 9,147 24,493
93,944 97,500
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEGFENEE 14 37,610 -
131,554 97,500
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables ERE S5 REMBER 30 23,875 9,779
Contract liabilities ERNEE 31 7 2,430
Lease liabilities HEBRE 32 840 960
Customers deposits BEE® 3,895 3,483
Amount due to a director R —Z2EE %A 34 2,000 150
Tax payables JE 5P B 3R 1,257 2,759
32,584 19,561
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as 29 ¥ AiFE S E & E
held for sale HEERABENAE 14 4,899 -
37,483 19,561
Net current assets RBEEFE 94,071 77,939
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERARBARS 136,547 159,484
BEMNEEBERALT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

202346 H430H 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 2022 FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mo 3E FTHT FHET
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 32 - 840
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHRIBEAE 36 8,049 9,025
8,049 9,865
Net assets EEFE 128,498 149,619
Capital and reserves BRARFEE
Share capital & 7 37(b) 27,353 27,353
Reserves B 37(c) 83,899 103,502
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KARIGEE ANEEREZ 111,252 130,855
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR IR R HE 2 17,246 18,764
Total equity A 128,498 149,619

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 214 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

WONG MAN WINNY
B

Chairperson

T

The notes on pages 94 to 214 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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mERAERBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERREEARE

Capital Non-

Share Share  redemption General Capital Merger ~ Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
E1EE FERRER  RAER
RE  ROEE fiff  -REE ERRE  AHEE  ENGRR E A3t 351 28
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 00 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

(note (note (note (note (note (note

el o) Sel) o) SN STiei)
GE GE G G (bis (s
e SO ) STem) 7o) ST

At 1 July 2021 20217 A1H 68,383 2,221,869 50" 1,366,008" 846,860 8,358" 15,963 (4,534,453 6,967) 71,062 64,09%
Loss for the year EREER - - - - - - - (50,869) (50,869) 709 (50,160)
Exchange diference aisngon ~ RESN B BEFEL 2
translation of foreign ELER
operations - - - - (1,116) (546) (1,662
Reclassification acjustmenton ~ (HEHB R ABHRBKER
translation reserve released BEZENSBER
on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (8,090) - (8,090)
Total comprehensiveincome/ ~ E2 AR/ (Bx%) L8
(expense] for the year - - - (50,869) (60,079) 163 (69.912)
Issue of new shares uponrights A4 ik %173 1k {7
issue 205,149 - - - 197,897 - 197,897
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAA - - - - - (45650 {#5.650)
Reduction of capital A BB (246,179) 246,179 - - - - -
Divicend paid to non-controling 3¢ fi P JE 2 IR AR 3R 1 2%
interests ke - - - - - (6811) (6817
(41,030) 246,179 - - 197,897 (52,461) 145,436
At 30 June 2022 and R202%6830A R
1 July 2022 202257A1R 27,353 1,093,089 8,358" (4,585,322)" 130,855 18,764 149,619
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (12,183) (12,183 459 (11,724)
Exchange difference arsingon -~ RELSNERBERES 2
translation of foreign EXES
operations - - - - (7,351) (1,993 (9,344)
Reclassification adjustmenton ~ (HEHB A RIEHBBER
tranglation reserve released BEZENNIERR
on disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (69 - (69)
Total comprehensive income/ ~ FE2 AU /(B2 2%
(expense) for the year - - - (12,183 (19,608) (1,534) (21,137)
Non-controling interest capitel ~ FFEfki# % 1 &
contribution - - - - - M il
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - - - 9 %)
_ - - - - 16 16
At 30 June 2023 1202356530 H 21358 2214617 50" 1,366,008 1,093,039 8,358" (663 (4,597,505)" 111,252 17,246 128,498

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated surplus of approximately — * HWERERFAESAVERRRZEEBH®
HK$83,899,000 (2022: surplus of approximately HK$103,502,000) in the consolidated #783,899,0007%8 7T (20224 : & £ #7108,502,000
statement of financial position. I °

FUF2UUBEFE 2T ALERETHRE
ZHRRER D o

The notes on pages 94 to 214 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B & FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZRER
Loss before taxation from continuing RABEREESRZ
operations B T4 A1 S 18 (11,675) (52,610)
Profit before taxation from discontinued REDRIEKEET 2
operations FR 35 B A A 624 3,070
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BELREZTE 308 3,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZITE 168 2,506
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets BATFEFAERZ
at fair value through profit or loss CREECATE
(=) EiE (10,738) 13,863
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZ
(=) BB 12 (2,648) 385
Loss on disposal of financial assets PESMEEERE 1,386 —
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEZATEEBE 21 1,136 1,566
Loss on early redemption of promissory RAIERENEALERZ
note payable E 18 7 - 1,384
Amortization of intangible assets E A EHH 79 —
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FTHRESEZRERBRE 19 - 1,703
Impairment losses on finance lease FEU R & H & SRIB 2 RAE
receivable BB 24 234 838
Impairment losses recognised/ HEWE 5 R H RN
(reversal of impairment losses) for trade FiigER 2 M E/BE
and other receivables OB B R ERE) 684 (842)
Impairment losses of loan receivables EWEZREEE 121 -
Impairment losses recognised for property, RWE - WEK
plant and equipment REERZBEEISE 18 - 2,052
Impairment losses on inventories FEREEE 6,488 -
Property, plant and equipment written off WEME  BEMERE - 22
Inventories written off MiHFE - 204
Finance costs B 75 B AR 242 11,977
Interest income FEWA 7 (2,699) (2,6083)
(16,290) (13,118)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories a2z 0OgEm, B (933) 4,033
Decrease in finance lease receivable JE W B & T & SRIR 2R 4,388 4,627
Increase in trade and other receivables JEUE 5 I H R 5k 2 1 N (4,544) (31,381)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BRAFEFABRZ
through profit or loss ERMEEZRD - 6,045
Increase in trade and other payables ENE S REAMBEF M 21,452 33,448
Decrease in contract liabilities ERHBEZRD (1,713) (5,432)
Increase in warranty provision REREZE M - 42
Net cash generated from/(used in) operation ¥ () 2B & 38 2,360 (1,736)
Income tax paid ERAER (271) (511)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KEEREBE/ ()
operating activities ZHEFE 2,089 (2,247)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
Notes HK$°000 HK$’'000
B &% FHET FET
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHZ2HER
Purchases of property, plant and equipment RNEME BEREE 18 (5,329) (11,002)
Purchases of financial assets BEESRMEE (6,360) -
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HESREEMSRIEA 3,474 -
Interest received from loan receivables B U5 fE B RN B - 352
Interest received RPN 157 600
(Loan to)/repayment of loan from (BEFFE=FWHER,/
third parties REFE=ZFTHWEFER (2,590) 9,018
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from HEMBRATRACRH)
disposal of subsidiaries IR & F5 12 1,289 (56,968)
Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiary WEEM B A RIE &N L F58 (7,372) -
Additional of intangible assets NEEBVEE (369) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (i) /52
investing activities e FE (17,100) (58,000)
Cash flows from financing activities METE 2RSSR
Repayment of promissory note BEANZIR 28(b) - (41,387)
Repayment of other borrowing BEHEMES 28(b) (1,478) (185,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEAEaE 28(b) (960) (2,699)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBBEERNFE (113) (100)
Interest paid for promissory note ENAREEHFE 28(b) - (440)
Interest paid for interest bearing other borrowing ENFEEMEENTE 28(b) (129) (9,740)
Net proceeds from rights issue WA FT 1S SRIBF R - 197,897
Advance from a director REEEZRR 28(b) 1,850 150
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders m— M R AR FEE R
of a subsidiary R B = AR 2 - (6,811)
Capital contribution from non-controlling interest JEERERHE 111 -
Proceed from borrowing EBERprERIE 28(b) 3,582 —
Net cash used in financing activities MEZBHEZRSTE 2,863 (48,130)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReERBEEEZRD)/
cash equivalents 1% h0 % 58 (12,148) (108,377)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F I8 & NIB & E %58 24,493 135,567
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes [EREE) 7 & (3,195) (2,697)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FERHBESRESEEH 28 9,150 24,493
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BekBReEB|HM
Bank and cash balances HITRIR A H 28 9,147 24,493
Bank and cash balances included in FANDEARBESELS
a disposal group classified as held for sales R R IRTT MR © 14 3 -
9,150 24,493

FUE2UUEMBAZMERUEFEAPTBHRE
ZHBRCER Y

The notes on pages 94 to 214 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

1.

94

GENERAL

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was originally
incorporated in the Cayman Islands but subsequently re-domiciled to
Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in notes 43 and
22 respectively.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling
a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two

Model Rules

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective:

2.

FERKEITERBUER
£ HEB(EBAUERSE
28 ]) w0

7K 45 8 3 2 52 R DA T 0B 6 B 1 oK

EMZH A RS ET BB SRS
8 -

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts' izt R | REAE L
October 2020 and February FA75 (B 1E20204F
2022 Amendments to 10 A }2 20224
HKFRS 17) CAHBBMGEHRE
AR FATHREL A
1&35T)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets EA R E LR e E EEE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0HE BB NETE AR
Associate or Joint Venture? @t F 2858 ¥ CHENEE
({E5TA) & iE Al
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and EABB ISR & ER EZEHETE
Leaseback® F165 (IBETA) HEaEe
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EEGIENFE1RE KBBEIEAR
Current or Non-current and ({&&T7) Bk IE R EN A
related amendments to Hong Kong EBEERES
Interpretation 5 (2020)° 55 (20204 )
=T
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with EAGTERFE1HE  EREN
Covenants® (& 5T4) FnBEE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ EREGTENFIRE ST HENKRE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BEREVBHREE

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

WEFE25% (BRI A)
BREGFEAESHE FFEFHNESR

(& 5T4)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and EB et ERE12% HE-SZFES
Liabilities arising from a Single ({&&T4%) HmEENAE
Transaction' BERNIELE
FE'
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements® EASAERFE7THRE HERRELHES
HKFRS 7 &8 5 5 R
ETH

" Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

' FA2023F 1 B1H 2 &R 2 FEHR AR -
: BT Rk BRI FEBREY -
® R2024F1R1ASZEFAB 2 FEARAER -

ARAAZEETBHMERAMI LEETH
ERMBHREENRA R BRI GH AN
SESAVBHRRMBENSBLMAE
HEOBRBEEREATE -
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3.

96

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the HKFRSs (which include all the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss that are measured at fair value. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories (“HKAS 2”) or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (“HKAS 36”).
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein.
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3.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and
are considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing
outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under
common control are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after 1
July 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) except for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to
identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at
the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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3.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its
sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed
sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of
a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in
the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell, except for financial assets within the scope of HKFRS
9, investment properties which continue to be measured in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

FESTHERXw®

¥XKE 0w

MEBAFIEERTK  AREEEE
PRBERBEI CBEEENTEER
BRAHAIAEERESENRER ZA
FE - MAEEZEEZXER(WAE)E
RBE@SEMEERE (WRER)#ER -
MAKEBECERHELRANTH 2 BE
EHEREME2EKaBRALRERSE
MHHELEANEIRTENEWE A B
FINBRWBITNEEMEEZ SR8 8
AR EEANR -

WEBAHZNTEFRERAHELE
ZHREHRIDARTEK - BIAEE &R
AEKREFRECEBEREESHE -
ZEEERNAEHHE (R L3O R1E
HENHE UBIABINEEXAE
UWRRESEBEBRNKBEHCHFESE
EERZHER MHMEBZEER

REFERERRRAZE®E -

KEREFRRDEE

iR E A E (R HEER) 2 REE R
TERBHEERFMIFBBFHEERM
WE AlgsBARIERFE - IR E
REEESEEN TRARREE
HEGRHMEBLEZEE(HEHRD)
Z—REFGK BEEREER
HEEK EEEBAETERLE M
HEBRHEARDBABFE-—FAE
ERBERAR/ETRAE -

EARAKREAREZHEFE S RARE
MEARZEH#E  THRASERH
EREEREZNEBE R R 2 IEERE
m RMBRAZAEBEERABRA
BLERADERFKEFEZRIBENE
REFEHE-

DERBEFENERBEE(RHE
MR EEMREERRQFERLE
RARHEBREESE ETRREEEY
BHREENFIORRENEREANS
BMEE ZSEEREERREBMEEH
Pt ey & 5 R TTRT &

BENKEBERAT
—z-=fxx 101



e B RREE
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. T EE5BE w

(Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

—  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

—  fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity security is classified as financial assets at
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment as financial assets at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuers perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as financial assets at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products, gasoil, surveillance equipment, design and sale of renewable
energy products and solutions and systems, smart city solutions and
related software licensing) are based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and the Group excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties. The Group satisfies a performance obligation
when it transfers control of the cultural products, gasoil, surveillance
equipment, design and sale of renewable energy products and
solutions and systems and related software licensing to a customer.
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the point in time.

For smart city solutions, the Group establish an intelligent management
system for construction site. The Group recognised revenue from smart
city solution when the Group satisfies a performance obligation that
transfer the control of the solution to a customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The revenue from provision of installation and maintenance services is
recognised over time.

The revenue from provision of maintenance service is recognised over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services
to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer. When the
Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
specified good or service transferred. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EE:BE w

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

Indicators taken into account by management of the Group to
determine whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent include,
but are not limited to, the following:

(@  whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or service;

(b)  whether the entity has inventory risk before the specified good or
service has been transferred to a customer or after transfer of
control to the customer (for example, if the customer has a right
of return); and

(c)  whether the entity has discretion in establishing the price for the
specified good or service, indicating that the entity has the ability
to direct the use of that good or service and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings ~ Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the relevant
leases or 50 years

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%

communications networks

Furniture and fixtures 20%-33%%

Motor vehicles 25%
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#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.
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3.

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of
an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

FESTHERXw®

ME - HERREUREHE
EERE®

HRTEAEE BN ST AN EEER
BUMNGREEL —MOLXEE K
SEES -—HERFEUNKEESE &
EORBZABREUNEEEES—
MOLEBEEMNRESR EZAEH
BUMNATKREEFEETHER - £ KR
EEER 5D RREBENRDE
MEE(ER) WEmEE ARRIEZ
BudZASREMTSREENRE
BREISEEZEEMEE - —REEN
FEeREIEROEEREQFERE
BREXRA(WMAAB)NSE HERE
BENMAEE) RTARSERE) R
AOBREZEENREEBESBIZLD
DEAZEMRZEAZRELNEME
E - MEBRBIZAERS PR -

MERBEERERR ZEE(RERE
) zEHEEAREEER M2
WEegE HEEMZEEETE SR
ZEE(KEIREN) N B EFE &g
RBEERMEREE 2KEE -  BE
BREZBEETBERNIEEPER -

SENBEEERAT
—z=—=ggx 109



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contact are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

U the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEi X @

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Research expenditures

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
on the following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and loan
receivables); and

— finance lease receivable.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for receivables are discounted using the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)
ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting
date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL on the basis that there are no significant
financing components. ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using internal credit rating based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Loss allowance for finance lease receivable is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL and assessed individually.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited

114  Annual Report 2023

FES TR @

FEFEREEREM®@m
ERMTENEEEIE®
HEAHIEEES ()
EHEEBEERBUTE &%

e

- NREABRHEEER:EEHRBEH
BI2EAAAEELENEOEM
MmEMHFAHEE K&

- =ZHREHEEEE: EREHMEES
BRAEBBEB Z2EHEFHAM
BAIRE BN EHEHNANERE -

FRRESERZBEERBERBEEKRR
BROMER - REFRAN 2 HEY
EEBENSHETE - RERAH Z
SeRMEENBHMEEERIREARAE
ENmELEERELREAARNSERR
APETRE REBEBANKTEREZR
HE A RE - REER ARG ET

o

13

O

P 4 RSSO 3 B A R
2 HEBEEBEALTER TEBR
GraE

ERFEEMeRmIA - AEEEIAME
FR2EAMBEHEERRSRER
EREE BRIFAVRERRZERT
AmEERRBELZM EUHBERT
EHEEAEEN2HRBEERESR

EEE



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instruments external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment
of a significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual
basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
financial instruments credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of
the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:
— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or finance lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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3.

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of the associate used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
Changes in net assets of the associate other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill,
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period
in which the investment is acquired.

which is included within the carrying amount of the
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#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the
Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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3.

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.
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e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £202346 A30H L E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or
loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.
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3.

124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Retirement benefits to employees in the PRC are provided through a
defined contribution plan. The Group is required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The Group is required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions after payment of the fixed
contribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. X EE5BE ®w

(Continued)

Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)()) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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3.

126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related party (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

4., EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 EERR@m

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (@ ERXAKEEFBEZE
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued) E &5 ¥ E
Deferred taxation on investment properties EREKREYEZELERIE

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Group has reviewed its investment property portfolios
and concluded:

In respect of the Group’s investment properties located in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the management has
determined that these properties are held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time and consequently the sale presumption in HKAS 12 is
rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group continues to
measure the deferred tax relating to these properties using the
tax rate that would apply as a result of recovering their value
through use.

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
gasoil, surveillance equipment systems and related software
including renewable energy systems, smart city solution and
cultural products. The Group carefully evaluates the terms and
conditions stipulated in contract and/or sale order with a
customer and assesses when the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customer. In addition, the Group also assessed
whether the Group is acting as the principal (i.e. whether the
Group has the primary responsibility for the sale of goods, bears
the risks of loss and obsolescence, and also has full discretion
over the goods). The directors of the Company have determined
that the control is passed to customer upon the goods are
delivered to the agreed destination. This is also the point in time
at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTAND KEY 4. EAHE REHIAREE
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION M ZEERF@m
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying (@) EAXSESFHERZE
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued) EGHHEm
Revenue recognition (Continued) U 2% 78RR ()
The directors of the Company assessed and considered that the AKRNBEETHITRE ZRHEE
sales of systems and installation are one single performance REEREERBEIBIERSE R
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time (i.e. ARG EEERER)ERR
when control of the systems and software is transferred to the BE—BHOEFT AEEBERGH
customer). The Group delivers products to customers after TEETHEHERAEERIESR -
installation of customised softwares in the systems. The TRTIEEAEFR BT F B
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites FEHEET - REBRBRTFTESFEHA
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right to ZEERRETR  KEBBENER
use the software and no update or upgrade of the software is FEHSARZE G B BB
required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales of RAERBEEBEHREERES
systems and software and related installation are assessed by HEFENOUE(EBHHREE
the management to be not distinct in the context of application of HIZE15% )  EEEBIGHEE R
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (‘HKFRS GREMHEARBETEERR
15”) as what being delivered to the customer is a combined AXMFEFPFMNERSARTRP
product with customer specifications. REEEENER-
Principal versus agent consideration (principal) FEAERKBANZE(E

BA)
The Group engages in trading of gasoil. The Group assessed AEEREXNRBES - AEBFF
whether the Group is principal and should recognise revenue on HAEBREEREBERTSVBER
gross basis based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The SR EA55R AR TE R R U o
management concluded that the Group acts as the principal for EEEBSENERA AEERE
such transactions as the Group controls the specified goods BZEBSHNTFEAN HAKEER
before the goods are transferred to customers after taking into EEZRIAEBRTEBEEITIE
consideration of indicators such as the Group is primarily MR BRERNEALSEER &
responsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the gasoil EVEBRERFRIBEERETED
products, the Group has inventory risk before transferring the PrEE e AEFEBK R HERER
gasoil to customers, the Group has discretion in establishing the FREFEEFERR AEBAER
prices for the gasoil in form of a premium over their market BEURBEEZETEERN S BT
prices. Before transferring the gasoil to customers, the Group IR E BZ K OB I (B o AR
has ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the MmBEBRERE Z A ANEB AL
remaining benefits from the gasoil products by determining the HBAETE PR ERK & H
customers and the timing to which the gasoil products will be EnMEBERAEKNDBEERD
sold. ER URPESERNLEFERG
B & e
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

Lease

The Group applies reasonable judgement to determine the lease
term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets recognised. The Group considered the
exercise of the renewal option is uncertain, therefore, the lease
term does not include the renewal option.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
Investment properties located in PRC (excluded the leasehold
land where hotel property erected) as at 30 June 2023 are stated
at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by Stirling
Appraisals Limited (2022: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by using
direct comparison method.

Investment property included the leasehold land where the hotel
property erected and located in the PRC as at 30 June 2023 are
stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued by Stirling
Appraisals Limited (2022: Stirling Appraisals Limited), by using
adjusted market comparable method.

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based on property
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market and appropriate discount
rates.

In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market condition.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

130

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of investment properties as at 30 June
2023 and 2022 were HK$37,959,000 and HK$47,275,000
respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used
for fair value measurement, are stated in note 41.

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivable and loan receivables)

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses internal credit rating to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are assessed individually. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision is based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables, loan receivable and finance lease receivable based
on ECL. The Group assesses the ECL for each of the other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable
individually based on the financial position and the economic
environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and finance lease receivable are
disclosed in note 5.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2028, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$7,335,000 (2022: HK$12,882,000).

4., EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 EERIRm

(b) EFFFABEM ZRIR @

FEZAZRFE
FEZAERFERATFERB
BpzEAEERMGI TN S
RARBERGTE - REHET
REBEBUERZRITHE LD H
HEERLUMEERZBERLR
mEd TEEETRMELER
Bl BERERSWMS AHFEZ
FHE-

MR2023F6A30H  REEHFE ~
BR T B /7,335,000 7T (20224 :
12,882,000/& JT) °

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. €T A
Categories of financial instruments T EER
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHxT FHET
Financial assets SREE
At fair value through profit or loss BAFEFT AER 34,223 21,985
At amortised cost bing: Xi-DN 50,747 92,037
84,970 114,022
Financial liabilities tREE
At amortised cost o B AR AN 25,875 9,533
Lease liabilities HEAE 840 1,800
BEMNEEBERALT
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5.

132

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivable, loan receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amount due to a director and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade and other
receivables, finance lease receivable and loan receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

For the trade debtors, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL on trade receivables based on internal credit rating. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk is low
based on the sound collection history of the trade receivables and the
environment the debtors operate. Therefore, provision of HK$103,000
(2022: HK$255,000) had been performed for the remaining debtors.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. 2@ T A

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade
receivables during the year are as follows:

BEEREEEEREE @

FER M @)
AEEREKE SR REEENEHE
R

Non-credit

impaired

FEERE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 July 2021 MW2021F7A1H 1,122
Reversal of impairment losses B S R E (1,122)
Impairment losses VERIEN TR 255
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 202296 A30H k202247 A1H 255
Impairment losses B EE 103
Exchange difference FE 3 = %8 (12)
At 30 June 2023 K 2023%F6 A30H 346

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
assessed impairment of other receivables which are not credit impaired
based on 12-month ECL and impairment loss of HK$581,000 for other
receivables (2022: HK$25,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 30 June 2023. The management of the Group considers
the probability of default based on the financial position of the debtors
and the economic environment of the debtors operate.

The management of the Group considers that credit risk for other
receivables which are not credit-impaired is low and credit risk for those
are credit-impaired is high.

20236 A30H » AN &£ F & S B E
HEERNEERR - EALAEEERRE
SEEN B AEBERARKREER
B H U BR 3R R R E 0 & 1218
ABEHEEBETE e RNE £2023
FOAHIFEZIERTHEREL A E
U B FXOR (B 5 $8581,00078 7T (2022 4 :
250008 7C) c WA EEEREREE
BANMBRRUARELEENERIRE
MmEEERONABEMERE -

AEEEEERRLEEERENEM
EUFENEERRRE  BEERE
MEMERFIBENERERBRERS -
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T H
Financial risk management objectives and BREEEE B ERBEG®@
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EER k@)
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of other REERERIEMBERBEEEGNEHS
receivables during the year are as follows: SRR

Credit Non-credit

impaired impaired Total
*EE
FERE W E mE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TETT TR TR

At 1 July 2021 7202147 A1 B 5,683 - 5,683
Write-off b | (2,766) — (2,766)
Impairment losses VERI=N SR - 25 25
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 202296 A30H k202247 A1H 2,917 25 2,942

Impairment losses REEE — 581 581

Exchange difference P& i = &8 - (14) (14)
Reclassify to asset held for sales EMOHEEREFERE — 32) (32)
At 30 June 2023 202346 A30H 2,917 560 3,477
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment the borrowers operate. Therefore,
provision for expected credit loss of HK$121,000 (2022: Nil) on loan
receivables has been made.

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan
receivables during the year are as follows:

@I AEmw

BEEREEEEREE @

FEER k@)

20239630 REE AT ERE
FNEERR ASEEEEREEX
A FHE AR A BB 75 AR 0 BA R 18 3R A &
EREEREREZEEENHH AR -
I ERERERNEREEEEEE
121,000 7T (2022 4F : f#) o

AEEEENESAEEGDRZDER
m -

Credit impaired

EERE

HK$’'000

FHET

At 1 July 2021 202147 A18 6,613
Disposal of subsidiaries & B g A A (6,677)
Currency realignment FE 5, 38 2 64
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 202296 A30H k202247 A1H —
Impairment losses B EE 121
Currency realignment B (%)
At 30 June 2023 7R 202346 A30H 116

Other than concentration of credit risk on the largest customer and
finance lease receivable and liquid funds which are deposited with
several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

BRTEERRETNRERNEF KEKER
BEHEFERETPERRAREEFR
ZETRIZARBERIN AREAE
ETHEMEAGEERREFERL - R
B2 EERRAR RERXSHF
TREBREEFARBERTRERN
Az RIT
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuedq)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Groups operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Groups remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that the interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

@I Amw

BEEREEEERBEEw@

REE € RS
RRBECRREREMS  AREEE
EmRehReEREEERERAR
ERZKF MESAEEEBECRY
BEREREBATRIFE - BEE
ERBECRABRALREREETER
ol

BHHEEEGT TRANAEERS
ERMABEZRNBRENFHR - JIRDIEA
SEREARERERZERBERRE
BRESRIN HETEERAEZ
FMBEUMEEERBARER - JIK
BEMNEREAEZEEN

BRI EFEZNETIRERE T
BRZMNEGHEERBRANEAREE -

Effective Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2023
72023 F
—FRE REER 6H30H
BRERE BRER —Z=-F Z—ZEIF HRLRHEHE Y BRI B
%  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BAL FERT FERT FERT FERT FTERT
2023 2023
Financial liabilities JZ# R ATEW
at amortised cost SR EE
Trade and other ENEZREM
payables BR X - 23,875 - - 23,875 23,875
Amount due to JEN —REEHIE
a director - 2,000 - - 2,000 2,000
Liabilities at REBHERATEN
amortised cost =R
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 7.7 873 - - 873 840
26,748 - - 26,748 26,715
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. TRt T B
Financial risk management objectives and HEERESERERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REESER @)
Effective  Within one Total Carrying
interest yearoron Between Between undiscounted amount at
rates demand 1-2years 2-5years cash flows 30 June 2022
2022 F
—F R RALER 6H30H
I RBER —FEZF ZZEZRF REeRBE B ER B
%  HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Aot FET FET FET FET FHET
2022 20224
Financial liabilities 1% # 88 S A 5t & 89
at amortised cost £ RIAE
Trade and other ERESREAM
payables BR X - 9,383 - - 9,383 9,383
Amount due to JER—REEHRIE
a director — 150 — — 150 150
Liabilities at REBERATTER
amortised cost =
Lease liabilities HEaE 1.8-7.7 1,062 873 — 1,935 1,800
10,595 873 — 11,468 11,333
The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for MRy SN RS E
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in EZ2HRGAEBE B EXBEBIETE
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates SRHEEYHMNXEXTAE 2 ESESEA
determined at the end of the reporting period. BE) o

BENKEBERAT
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to finance
lease receivable, loan receivables and lease liabilities.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposit and bank balances
at the end of reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming that
the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2023 would decrease or increase
by approximately HK$46,000 (2022: decrease or increase by
approximately HK$34,000).

In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. 2@ T A
Financial risk management objectives and HEERESERERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Equity price risk B% 2 5 1% B B
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments % B R B A E R A $5 UK T K E R
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the BAEEEHMEMNBRAZEATLET
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price B¢ 2R o AN BT REER D E AR
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial NFEFABF SR EE (M5E23) 2
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 23). AL EMEERABHEER -
The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets at NREBHEAIZATEFABZ 228
FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted BEZ FTREAKERBESHR E/H I
market prices at the end of the reporting period. RFERARF Rz TEGE -
The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of MR ERNGEORSEARZZSHH
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the BENEERE MBI ANESE  UE
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during BN FAZES N HEEEWT
the year were as follows:
30 June 2023 High/Low 1 July 2022
2023 F 20224
6H30H BE/RIE 7R18
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB —BAEEH 18,916  22,701/14,597 21,691
The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price AEBBBETYERAEFEZERAR

movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these equity investments.

REEENEREILTRNEHERH
PR R o
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T H @
Financial risk management objectives and BEEMRESEIERBKE @
policies (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued) R A B & &L B (&)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRIWTREFEEMBEELHREBTEA
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all REAFABMBEEZIERT  HIERA
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on WEZATEEBHBEAEBIREHE &
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. B Ty A S ARAMNEmESTE -
Decrease/
(increase) Increase/
Carrying in loss after (decrease)
amount of Increase/ tax and in other
financial (decrease) accumulated components
investments in price losses of equity
MR EEE Hih ez
SRRE BREMm, RREFER AR
SR E (R2) W2 /(8m  #Ei 0hd)
HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000
AT Bkt FAET A&
2023 2023 F
Equity securities listed EEAELEmZ
in Hong Kong: N 34,223 55.51 18,999 -
(55.51) (18,999) —
2022 2022 %
Equity securities listed e M T
in Hong Kong: R AR E S 21,985 58.26 12,808 —
(68.26) (12,808) —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T H @
Financial risk management objectives and HEERESERERBE®@®
policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk Fh & [ B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign INERBRIES Y ERAEB VS EE X
currency exchange rate which will affect the Groups financial results HIR M EERSEFHERM NER
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of the ATHERE ZERRRITES TSI
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does not BEEHE o A E B I &Y KA ] 5NE E 0%
engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the Groups TE - AEEHZ —BERXRSBE LI
policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching foreign MWARSTHEEEIERR &8
currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign DEEINERME  BERSE 2 P
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used. TH-
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency KABZEWERAREAENUNIIMNEFE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group CEEEERAG SAREEEDYHINE
to foreign currency risk. JE e
The carrying amounts of the group entities foreign currency EEERUINEFEZCEEEEREE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting BERBREEHZEmENT
date are as follows:
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE 8E& BE =R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FEx FAET FAT
Euro BT 2,510 (793) 1 (793)
United States dollar ETT 181 — 19,235 —
Renminbi AR #E 15 — 38,082 (1,202)
BEREEEEFRAR
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €@ T H @
Financial risk management objectives and BEEREEEZERBE®@
policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) Fh & L B ()
Sensitivity analysis BEE D7
The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from AREBEREITEAEZIIERR KA
Renminbi, Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange ANBREE BT R FEITT o FF B B2 E R H
rate system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation T AR EERABTRETEXRRK
between Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered B) 7 B RS R B AR K 0 R Ik W £ AR B BRR
insignificant by the directors of the Company and therefore no B e
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
The following table details the group entities sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) TRERFMNAEEETREE TEA
increase and decrease in Euro and Renminbi against each group B KX EETER 2N EEZER |
entity’s functional currency. 5% (2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used RN FH5% (20224 1 5%) 7 B R JE o
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 5% (20224 : 5%) Ty At & B A& M =
personnel and represents managements assessment of the reasonably EEBABREIERRIEMER Z&
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis RELER ERXREBEBYINEERS
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary JB A Re B ) 2 T 1E ’éﬁ( B & DT 12 B FE
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% (2022: 5%) AN Bz RENEEEB - X HI
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates a [ [ & & &)5% (2022$ 5%) ¥ H F 4
decrease in loss before taxation where Euro and Renminbi strengthens 2HEEHAEZE - LTNIEEB R NE T
by 5% (2022: 5%) against each group entity’s functional currency. For FAREN SEEEENESEAESY
a 5% (2022: 5%) weakening of Euro and Renminbi against each group (20224 5% ) @SB THATE B TIE -
entity’s functional currency, there would be an equal and opposite MBI TR ARKEREBRETERIGEE ﬁ}%
impact on the profit or loss. 57 {E5% (20224F : 5%) @ B & 4 18 2%
BREREE ZHERTE -
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Euro BL T 86 (40)
Renminbi AR 1 1,844
In the managements opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative EREBRE HRESITITAEREKRE
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does *ﬁ‘m\[ﬂ & DHPNEEBRR I TR
not reflect the exposure during the year. R €5 (A L B o
Fair value of financial assets and financial tRHEERERESEZ A
liabilities Y&
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RATEEDREIREHEK ARG S BT &
financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the HERVEZESRHEELRABE 2 EAMEHN
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values. HAFERBRSE
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERKSTHEHEHR
INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (a) W=
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHEAEERTRINATELEE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external EmLREEERE 22 WKL ER
customers. FKIE ©
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: REEBZWEFBHETY KA
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers EEBMERELEDFE155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 Revenue EPEHNKmEEANZ

from Contracts with Customers BEF & W
Sales of cultural products HEX/LER - 3,238
Technology — Smart City Solution BE-—SE8RMmEBASTR 12,181 44
Technology — Design and sales of BHE—FRsH REE T BERER
renewable energy products and solutions 2§ R T & 13,111 6,914
Trading of gasoil and related business ool B 5 iR 1% - 50,773
25,292 60,969
BEREEEEFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ZE 202396 A30H |- E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment information

144

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. For the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group ceased its sales and leasing of
charging business products operations (“Charging Businesses”)
upon the disposal of the shareholding in Beijing Mingxin Zhilian
Technology Co., Ltd.* (LREAEEEEINERLR) (‘Beijing
Mingxin”). The Charging Businesses does not include in any
segments of the Group since Beijing Mingxin became the
subsidiary of the Company in January 2023, and therefore,
comparative figures do not need to be restated to reflect the
cessation of the Charging Businesses as discontinued
operations. For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group ceased
its then existing system sales and licensing and leasing of system

products operations (“Those Businesses”) upon the disposal of

the shareholding in Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”). Those
Businesses include “Technology — System sales including

software licensing and services” and “Technology — Leasing of

systems products” which were classified as discontinued
operations. Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the
cessation of Those Businesses as discontinued operations, and
segment information in this note includes only continuing
operations.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the chief operating decision maker, the
Group has presented the following five (2022: five) operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

e Sales of cultural
products

includes income from trading of cultural
products

includes income from sale of business
solution including software and
hardware for construction site and
related businesses

e Technology: Smart -
City Solution Business

e Technology: -
Renewable energy

includes income from design and sales
of renewable energy products and
solutions

e Tradingof gasoiland  —
related business

includes income from sales of gasoil
and income from vessel charter (shipping
business)

includes income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

e  Strategic investments ~ —

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding loss on early
redemption of promissory note payable, interest income, gain or
loss on disposal of subsidiaries, fair value gain or loss on
investment properties, finance costs, unallocated income and
expenses such as certain administration costs etc. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

6. W ko EER @

(b)

THEER@m

BTHRNBESBEAEZLERE
EOEE—B ASEERAEAVE
HREEAFESFEE DT
T FE (20224 : A ) & & R AT

EHHE -

o HEXEE - BEXLERE
Em 5 ZHA
o HEEE - BEHEIBK
LS HEXHH IR
GES Y/ HEBBRRIR
ZHA
L S - BRRARHEE
AELRER BERRER
RARZEBA

o KmHMESH — BREEKRHE

RIAEES kA E (M
EEH) ZBA
o KEURE - BRRATEE
AEHZERE

EZRA

DREBEEEURE D BMER
ZBRBATE R S EE - BRI
BEEMAERBZER  FEK
A HEMRBRARAZKEHERE -
BREMEZ A FEREXER ¥
TR B R o3 ez W A B2 B 32 (an
ETTBRASE) R EEL
BARERS ZENR  UHHE
ELERD B RGO ERR -

BEMBREEERAA
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

6. WakosEER®
(b) Segment information (Continued) b) 7EER@
EALRSEERZFROT :

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

Trading of gasoil and

Technology related business
B RRHE S REHER
Sales of Trading of
cultural SmartCity ~ Renewable Strategic ~ gasoiland  Shipping
products Solution energy investments others  business Consolidated
B
HE BERT AEE R R
XE R BRER BIR RE NES MEER &®&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER TER TER TER TER
Year ended BZ2023F6A30H
30 June 2023 LEE
REVENUE ¢
External and total revenue HHNEE R B YR
Recognised at a point in time RE-BEER - 12,181 12,308 - - - 24,489
Recognised over time B FE 2 - - 803 - - - 803
- 12,181 13,111 - - - 25,292
RESULTS ES
Segment result PEEE (6,838) 1,759 905 (4,291) (10) Ul (8,482)
Interest income FEBA 2,699
Fair value loss on investment BEME L NTE
properties BE (1,136)
Finance costs BT S (172)
Unallocated expenses, net AOERAX-FE (4,584)
Loss before taxation from continuing & B B L L &K 7
operations REAIER (11,675)

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERDEER @
| N FORMAT'ON (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 2EER @
Trading of gasoil and
Technology related business
B Kang s REEER
Sales of Sales of Trading of
cultural surveillance Renewable Strategic  gasoil and Shipping
products equipment energy  investments others business  Consolidated
X
HE EER AEE R REM
XALE @ ZHE R RE MESH MEXH ma
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL TRT TEL TRT TEL TRL

Year ended BZ2022F6830A0 1t

30 June 2022 EE
REVENUE g
External and total revenue HINEE R B E

Recognised at a point in time ANE-EERED 3,238 44 6,289 - 50,773 - 60,344

Recognised over time FErs R - - 625 - - - 625

3,238 44 6,914 - 50,773 - 60,969

RESULTS ¥
Segment result BELE (581) (302) (3444 (33391) 2,05 - (35,499)
Loss on early redemption of REBEREAALER

promissory note payable BE (1,384)
Interest income FIEWA 2,251
Fair value loss on investment REMEZATFE

properties BE (1,566)
Finance costs BB (11,947)
Unallocated expenses, net AOBREY 38 (4,471)
Loss before taxation from continuing & B ERLEK 2

operations BREAIEE (62,610)

—
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (Continued)

(b)

148

Segment information (Continued)

6. WEKRDTEER @

Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

b) 7EER@
BB PEENZHRMT -

Trading of gasoil and

Technology related business
B BeRAE S RERER
Sales of Trading of
cultural ~ SmartCity  Renewable Strategic  gasoil and  Shipping
products Solution energy investments others business Unallocated Consolidated
Ay
HE BEHT TBE R REM
XER BRER BR RE NES MEXY RAE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEx TR TiER THET TER TR TR
Year ended 30 June 2023 HE2023%F6H308
LEE
Amounts included in the measure of AR EH 8 2 8% il 3
segment profit or loss: BEze®:
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BELRREZ
equipment nE 7 39 - - - 20 70
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZNE - - - 168 - - - 168
Fair value gain on financial assets at far %A FE:t A2
value through profit or loss SREAEZATE
e - - - (10,738) - - - (10,738)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HESREEZER - - - 1,386 - - - 1,386
Impairment losses on finance lease EURAREREL
receivable AEEE - - - - - - 234 234
Impairment losses recognised for trade  3tfEUE 5 & H B 3
and other receivables BAZREER - 606 - - 70 - 8 684
Impairment losses on loan receivables 84 & FR E B - 121 - - - - - 121
Impairment loss on inventories BEZRERR 6,488 - - - - - - 6,488

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERDTEER @
|NFORMAT|0N (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 2EER @
Trading of gasoil and
Technology related business
B KRaBEHREHER
Sales of Sales of Trading of
cultural  surveilance  Renewable Strategic ~ gasoiland  Shipping
products equipment energy  investments others  business  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
B
HE giER EE REEM REM
X{LER ZHE R RE WEH MEXHK AR &a

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TER TERL TARL TER TER

Year ended 30 June 2022 HE2022%56A30A
fl:3:4

Amounts included in the measure of 5T 8 5 8% M5k

segment profit or loss: BEZER:
Depreciation of property, plant and g BERREZ

equipment e 14 9 165 269 - - 17 474
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE - - - 1,394 - - - 1,394
Fair value loss on financial assets at far & A FE: ABH 2

value through profit or loss SRAEZATE

BiE - - - 13,863 - - - 13,863

Impairment losses on property, plant ~~ #1% R Rk

and equipment REBE - 192 1,768 R - - - 2,052
Impairment losses on right-of-use FRESEZRERE

assets - - — 1,708 - - - 1,708
Impairment losses on finance lease EUREHREREZ

receivable AEEE - - - - - - 838 838
Reversal of impairment losses/ HRERE S RE R

(impairment losses recognised) ZHEEBREE/

for trade and other receivables (BRAEER) © 0] (49) - 919 - (25) 842
No information about segment assets and liabilities is presented AT ERERDE kX BFMG
as such information is not regularly provided to the chief THRTIEKLEREEIREEH
operating decision maker for resource allocation and DHEBEERBEMNER HIESR
performance assessment purposes. TIBEEE R -

BENEEEERAR
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WE RS2 BEER@w
| N FOR MAT'ON (Continued)
(c) Geographical information (c) wHEER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue AREFBDRIEEP R EEMRETH
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location oz WHFRIERBEED T
of assets respectively: TIRTX :
Revenue Non-current assets
Wz ERBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BZE6H30ALEE R6H30H
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F 2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT FHET FET

The People’s Republic of 1% A R AN

China (the “PRC”) ([HE]) -
including Hong Kong BIEE B MR
and Macau 25,292 60,969 42,476 81,545
(d) Information about major customers d EEEFEFZ2EHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RIEEFEEAEREEAER
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: B|I0% 2 BRI ZFNMT :
2023 2022
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET
Customer A EPA - 27,823
Customer B =FB - 22,949
Customer C BPC 6,633 —
Customer D ®FD 5,463 -
Customer E BFE 2,784 -
Customer A and B contributed revenue from sales of gasail HZE2020F6A30RIEE &P
during the years ended 30 June 2022. AKBY AL G oM i S W E
BE e
Customer C and D contributed revenue from Smart City BECKDHHEZ M M ERWZE
Construction and Customer E contributed revenue from EXR BB EPEY A HEAEEIK
renewable energy. SELRTE -

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS ANDLOSSES 7. Httlg A - hFZE R EE
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FiET
Continuing operations RELEXB
Interest income F B A 2,699 2,251
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BE X (E518), Wz % 5 (615) (7)
Loss on early redemption of promissory note CRERENA N EE EE
payable (note 34) (P 5E34) - (1,384)
Others (note) HAb (MF7E) 1,092 1,393
3,176 2,253

Note: Others included rental income from investment properties, government subsidy

and other sundry income.

M : HemREmENBEA  BUFHK
Ro B At 48 BE WA

FINANCE COSTS 8. MM
2023 2022
2023 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

Continuing operations SIERBER
Interest on interest bearing other borrowing STEREMEEZFA - 9,740
Interest on promissory note payable FENEKERE 7T A - 2,137
Interest on leases HEZFE 113 70
Other interest HaF 8 59 -
172 11,047
BEMNEEBERALT
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBIAIEE
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Loss before taxation from continuing operations K E#H#ERK LXK 2R TFHATER
has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): Thaednpk (BT AL TIEE
Eu
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) ZE2H < (F7E10() 6,732 6,932
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration EEXRA(TBEESHE) 5,013 9,404
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKEHM GBI (EERIN)
other than directors (note 35) (PF7E35) 177 201
Total staff costs EEARLEE 11,922 16,537
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, ME BMELEREZITE GIA
included in general and administrative — MR RATEE B ) (F5E18)
expenses (note 18) 70 474
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in CTREEEZIEGIA—KE
general and administrative expenses (note 19) T EA) (BEE19) 168 1,394
Short term leases EEHEE 100 360
Auditors remuneration % B ED B
— Audit service — ZEED AR 15 1,300 1,150
— Other services — HEMAR 400 499
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense PERAAETEZEFEEKA 20,842 52,906
Direct operating expenses relating to HIEEMEBB 2 EERELERY
investment properties - 46
Champion Technology Holdings Limited
152 Annual Report 2023



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEME EEH AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EEhEEENE
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors and chief executive’s @ EEREEITHRAEZ

remuneration B &

Directors emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the BIEEB QA EH E383(1) 1§ A
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies FAEEESTMNZER) REIE2
(Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors) Regulation HoWEIEEMESWOT -

are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2023 HZE2023F6 308 ILEE
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments contributions emoluments
REMAR
Fek RIERHA BRER EZHe
e HMBERN Kz HE L3 wem

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER TERT TER

(note (i)
(P % i)
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny (note () (M) 3,456 - - 18 3,474
Mr. Wu Yun Jing (note (v)) RABEEMEW) - - - - -
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note (i) B3R5k 4 () 2,400 - - 18 2,418
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica (note () 4 3% £ + (B ) 480 - - - 480
Independent non-executive BUkBTES
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai (note (i) BB (M () 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yik Hei RS HEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand BANGAE 120 - - - 120
6,696 - - 36 6,732
BEMNEEBERALT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s

10.EEME BaH AL
LEREEEME w

@ EERBEEITHRARELZ

remuneration (Continued) < @)
Year ended 30 June 2022 BZE2022F6 H30BILEE
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
REHEFK
ek RIERHA RAREA Rk
Be HMRMN BRofd RS B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT TET FHT FHT
(note (ii))
(B (i)
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny (note (i) =L (M)
— the Company NG 3,456 - - 18 3,474
— Kantone -8R - - — - -
3,456 — - 18 3,474
Mr. Wu Yun Jing (note (v)) RAFLEE(HFEWV)
— the Company YN - - - - —
Non-executive directors FBTES
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note () B Rk ()
— the Company . YN 2,400 — 200 18 2,618
— Kantone —-ER - - — - —
2,400 — 200 18 2,618
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

10.EEME BaH AL
LEREEEME w

@ EERBEEITHRARZ

B < (&)
Defined
contributions
and
Performance retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors
Fees benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
REHEFK
ek BRIERR RIKAEF EEd ko
e HoRH Emofs BEIES ok

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TAT THET TR TEL

(note (ii))
(B2 i)
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica (note ()~ #t #F % 4 + (P £ (i)
— the Company —ARF 480 - - - 480
— Kantone — &R 160 - - - 160
640 - - - 640
Independent non-executive BUkBTES
directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai (note (i) R E K A (M EEG)
— the Company e WNE] 120 - - - 120
— Kantone —E8 40 — — — 40
160 - — — 160
Mr. Chan Yik Hei WS &HEE
— the Company YN 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wong Yuk Man Edmand BEBXEE
— the Company NG 120 - — - 120
6,896 — 200 36 7,132
BEREEEEFRAR
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#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

Notes:

]

(i

(iv)

The director is also a director of Kantone Holdings Limited (“Kantone”),
a listed subsidiary of the Company which was disposed on 9 November
2021 (note 12).

The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and performance of the directors
of the Company.

The remuneration for non-executive directors comprises directors fees
and other emoluments which vary with the number of committees in
which they serve.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
had waived any emoluments in both years.

Mr. Wu Yun Jing has been appointed on 24 June 2022 as an executive
director of the Company and resigned on 25 May 2023.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of those persons other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors were for their services as directors of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

10. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION, 10.EEM & BEe5H AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EEREEEME @
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments b) BEEFESE

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three (2022:
two) directors of the Company. Details of the emoluments of
those directors for the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022
during their directorship period are set out above. The aggregate
emoluments of the two (2022: three) highest paid employees of
the Group, not being directors of the Company, are as follows:

AEEBRERRHFATERBRE
=% (2022F - ME)ARNAIESE -
%5 E FE £2023F 202246
ASOR It FETHE=HME 2 M
SHBRREX -AEEEHTA
(2022 : =Z &) B = FEB (W
RARREE) 2 BENT :

2023 2022

2023 F 2022 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHT FHET

Salaries and other benefits He kHEMET 1,680 3,156
Performance related incentive payments BRIERBBE R ES — —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  3E K 18 F| 51 &I £ 2% 36 54
1,716 3,210

Emolument of two (2022: three) employees were within the
following band:

M (20225 : ZR)EEZB& N
FRIEE :

Number of employees

BEAH
2023 2022
2023 £ 20224
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 % 7£—1,000,000 & 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 75—1,500,0007% 7T -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7£—2,000,000 7% 7T - -

There were no amounts paid during the year (2022: Nil) to the
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement
from employment with the Group, or inducement to join.

ERRERRFE  E)RALZRS
HEEBRITAEEBBEKMAR
EEAFESEITHE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

11. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a sales
and purchase agreement with independent third parties, Beijing Mingxin
Zhichuang Technology Center (Limited Partnership) and Beijing Mingxin
Zhiyan Technology Center (Limited Partnership), in relation to the
acquisiton of 100% equity interest of 1t FAR(SEEEMTBIR AR
(transliterated as Beijing Mingxin Zhilian Technology Co., Limited)
(“Beijing Mingxin”) and its subsidiaries, which are incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), at a consideration of
RMB7,000,000. Beijing Mingxin and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in provision of smart and safe charging solutions for electric
bicycles in PRC. The completion date of the acquisition was 13 January
2023.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:

M. WEBHE L

NEH E20283F6A30B LFE ' AEH
MBYE=AHIERBAESEAIBEF L
(ER&%) RIEZRHAEERB RO
(BERAEB)FIUHEREBERE AD
BHRWEILZAEEBHENTAERAF
(TEmBAED) REHMB AR IR EA
RAME ([ )& A Sz) B 100% A%
- KRB A ARK7,0000007T > 1t 5 #H
EREMNBARIETEZERFPEATH BT
BEREESERZENAREMARAIR I
BBE 202341 A13B /K °

RUBEBHMEKRBENEE D BRK
BiE

Fair value

AFE

HK$’'000

FAET

Plant and equipment = K 5% 1,270
Intangible assets ERAE 932
Inventories FE 809
Trade receivables JEUE 5 BR K 1,827
Other receivables JRE LS H h BR 3R 4,061
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeSHE 526

Trade payables JERTE 5 BR (3,626)

Other payables JE AT B Ath BR 3K (3,042)

Borrowings (= (2,258)
Identifiable net assets AHERFEE 499

The receivables acquired with a fair value of HK$5,888,000 at the date
of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of HK$6,441,000.

R Uk EE H B A ¥ 1E 45,888,000/ LA E
L B JE U B IE B9 4B A 4 B8 46,441,000
BT e

Gooduwill arising on acquisition KEBEEENEGE
HK$'000
FETT
Consideration paid BRRE 7,898
Less: Recognised amount of identifiable net B BWEREAFEENERREE
assets acquired (499)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEERNEE 7,399

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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11. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 11. U B8 — & [t B 2 T i)

Gooduwill arising on acquisition (Continued)

As a result of the acquisition, the Group expected to increase its
sources of income for the Group in future. Goodwill of approximately
HK$7,399,000 arising from the acquisition is attributable to the
workforce and economies of scale expected from operations of the
Group and Beijing Mingxin. None of the goodwill arising on the
acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

WBEELENETE @

HRWE AEEEHEEBEALE
EEMkmRR - WEBEENEEY
7,399,000 7T 55 B A AN = B AL R E
BEMNTEHSH I REERE - HEK
BEAHEEEHTRBEBEBIRE N -

Transaction cost of the acquisition is immaterial. U B B9 22 5 Bk AR H i o
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition WEEENBES ALY S
HK$’'000
FAET
Cash consideration paid BERNESRE 7,898
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B BEWENEe MRS SE (526)
7,372

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2022, the total revenue
of the Group for the year would be HK$31,276,000, and loss for the
year would have been HK$15,393,000. The pro-forma information is
for illustrative purpose only and is not necessarily an indication of
revenue and result of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2022, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

WRHATKRERENTE

fisi Ug B8 B 7202247 A1H T N&E
B A F E A I = 48 58 A 31,276,0008
TC AN E K 518 515,393,000 7T
BEEEREHFERARR T TAMBAKRT
it U B8 B R 2022 7 A1 B ik A= [E i
EMEMNEBRREREEESE  TES
BEERRREEMNTER -
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12. (LOSS)/GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Year ended 30 June 2023

On 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, Beijing Yiguo Hongtu
Technology Co., Ltd., to dispose of its entire 100% equity interests in
Beijing Mingxin, which is incorporated in PRC, for a cash consideration
of RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$8,095,000) in order to streamline
the Group’s resources. The transaction was completed on 30 June
2023.

Consideration received/receivable:

12 HEMBLRZ

(E8), WH
HZ2023F6A30HILFEE

R2023F6 A30H © ANEBEEE T E =
FUREEEZEREERARIEER
ek A S R E (R B A
)R EE100% K E - BeREBAAR
# 7,500,000 7T (48 & 78,095,000 JT.) *
AR AEBER - X5 E R2023F6
A30H 5K °

B/ EUHE

HK$'000
THET

Cash consideration received/receivable

Bl ERRERE

8,095

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost upon NEEEBMEERSENEELEGE
disposal of business: SR
HK$'000
FHET
Goodwill RS 7,078
Plant and equipment BB K& 1,715
Intangible assets mEEE 1,170
Inventories F&E 801
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BR 3K 2,251
Other receivables JE 5 L A, B 3R 6,706
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReFE 870
Trade payables BB SRR (2,589)
Other payables JE T B Ath BR 5K (8,174)
Borrowings & 3 (4,217)
Net assets disposed of BEHEFEE 5,611
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12. (LOSS)/GAIN ON DISPOSAL
SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2023 (Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

OF 12HERBLAFZ

(B8), W& @

B Z£2023F6H30H L FE @)
65 — P B 2R ) ) 2

HK$’000
FiET
Consideration received and receivables Bk ERRE 8,095
Net assets of a subsidiary —HNBARNFEE (6,611)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of TR 25 1 I RE B RE B B A A
the net assets of the subsidiaries released on FEEMRTELEZSR
loss of control 69
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interest  Fff & A 7] JE1E R AE 25 FE (5 F B B
of the subsidiary 95
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & B A B W E 2,648
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELENBREESRAFEE:
HK$’'000
FiET
Consideration received in cash and RekReEHFDWNRE
cash equivalents 2,159
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B BEHERERREGERH (870)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal of e B AR ELED
a subsidiary BRemAFE 1,289
BEMNEEBERALT
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12. (LOSS)/GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF 12.HERBARZ

SUBS'D'AR'ES (Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2022

On 31 May 2021, Innovative City Investments Limited (the “Purchaser”),
an independent third party and the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser conditionally
agreed to acquire and the Company conditionally agreed to sell the
128,137,958 Kantone’s ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the issued

share capital of Kantone (“Kantone Shares”),

representing

approximately 59.04% of the entire issued share capital of Kantone, the
Company’s direct non-wholly owned subsidiary. The disposal

(“Disposal”) was completed on 9 November 2021.

(F18), W& @

HZE2022F6A30HILFEE

PR2021F5A31H WA KEBR A
RITERD —®2BILE=ZH)HEAR
RIFTEEHE Bt EXB K4
RAEREMAAREEKHEHRZELSE
128,137,958 R EBE TR AR FIRE
BO1E Lo EBR(EBRSA)  HE
REB(RARAEEFEZEHEENBA
A 2EE BEITRALE9.04% - Z HE
([HESEE]) D R2021FE11 OB TK -

HK$’'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment W BEREE 41,707
Right-of-use assets EHEERE 3,471
Inventories FE 21,466
Trade and other receivables EUE 5 N EMERR 27,868
Tax recoverable FE UL HR R 308
Cash and cash equivalents BehReFHE 114,292
Trade and other payables ENESREMER (60,435)
Contract liabilities aHAaE (17,167)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,546)
Warranty provision RERE (1,166)
Amount due to a director BN —REFHE (2,180)
Tax payables FESF LR (27)
Retirement benefit obligations iR PR 1R T (13,142)
Net assets disposed of HEMFEE 111,449
Consideration received 2B 59,072
Add: reclassification of the cumulative amount of o EEREBMEBEAELFEER
the translation reserve related to Kantone Group SRZEFHE 8,090
Less: net assets disposed of W HENFEE (111,449
Add: non-controlling interests derecognised IR EREIEIE IR AR R A S 45,650
Less: cost associated with the disposal PRI R == (=2 O N (1,748)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QRS (389)
Net cash outflows arising on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QR ZFRERD (56,968)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As disclosed in note 12, the Group completed the disposal of two
different investments in the fiscal year of 2023 and 2022, respectively,
and they are as followings:

)

The Group completed the disposal of entire equity interest of
Beijing Mingxin Zhilian Technology Co., Ltd.* (b X BA{Z &5 B R il
BT (“Beijing Mingxin”), on 30 June 2023 at a
consideration of RMB7.5 milion (“Disposal”), Beiing Mingxin
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company upon the completion
of the Disposal.

The principal business and activities of Beijing Mingxin was to
provide smart and safe charging solutions for electric bicycles, as
well as smart city safe power management and smart fire
protection. The Group ceased to sell those charging solution
products that are used to be sold by the Beiing Mingxin.
Accordingly, the activities related to Beijing Mingxin were
classified as discontinued operations.

The profit for the period from the discontinued operations of
Beijing Mingxin is set out below. The comparative figures in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income do not need to be restated since Beijing Mingxin became
our subsidiary in January 2023, that is during the current
reporting period.

13.ERLEEERK

AN SE12FT IR R

C R E 5 R 2023

F 2022 F B U R 5B Ak T W IE R %

BEmHE-

U

g

NEER2023FE6 A0BE AARE
TSOBTTHREZKEILRABAES
BRI AR AR (TERBED E2F
BENEE((HEEE]) - HEE
HEK%E  tRBEIBAEEARQA
HI BT B A R

ERHACHEIEXEBREDIER
EPHETERMUEELREAER
RNE AREEBTLZEENE
BREEHEHRE REEEF L
HEBLEMIERBEHENKE
%&E%Eﬁ°l%’ﬁﬁ?%%
HENEBROBERERLEEE
ES

RELFAHEEERIEEEERN
HRE MO T - R RBAE
720234F 1 A (BIRA A 3k & B ) A%
BEMOMBAR  AEiREE
HEREMEPEAREIRPOLRE

BEESEHRD -
BENBEEERAT
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

)

164

13 Elll\ Jtlg‘(:(él"'ﬁﬁ(

(Continued) Qn (&)
The profit for the period/year from discontinued operations: ERIEEEEENEF g
Beijing Mingxin
EHBEE
2023
2023
HK$’000
FEX
Revenue Wz 3,515
Cost of sales 55 AR (1,379)
Gross profit E7 2,136
Other income, gains and losses EMA - Wz REE 36
Distribution costs 75§85 P A (1,758)
General and administrative expenses — M RATBEZ N (2,368)
Finance costs B 18 AR (70)
Loss before taxation B B R & 1R (2,024)
Income tax expenses Frig8®i sz i (76)
Loss for the period/year from discontinued operations ERIEEEEBHEFREE (2,100)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax HEERIECEEBNER
(R E) 2,648
Profit for the period/year from discontinued operations BRI E O F N T 548
Cash flows from discontinued operations REERIKEEBNRESRE
Net cash generated from operating activities KEESEA S FHE (616)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities BREEBELE (EFA) 2RSS FEE (999)
Net cash used in financing activities BMELMEACESFE 1,959
Net cash increase in cash and cash equivalents HekBReEHE MRS FE 344
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BEMKRETE 238
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENS -
Amortization of intangible assets EEEHH 79
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense FERABRABRX 247
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(i)

The Group completed the disposal of 59.04% equity interest of
Kantone on 9 November 2021, Kantone ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company upon the completion of the Disposal.

The principal business and activities of Kantone and its
subsidiaries (together “Kantone Group”) are sales of systems
products, software licensing and customisation, leasing of
systems products and trading of cultural products. Upon
completion of the disposal of shareholding in Kantone Group, the
Group ceased to sell to Europe those system products, software
licensing and customisation leasing of system products
businesses that are used to be sold by the Kantone Group.
Accordingly, the activities related to Those Businesses were
classified as discontinued operations.

The profit for the year ended 30 June 2022 from the discontinued
operations of Kantone Group is set out below. The comparative
figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been restated to re-present the
result of sales of systems products, software licensing and
customisation, leasing of systems products business as
discontinued operations.

(i)

13. E R I REE K @

ANEBP2021F11 A9 TR E &
E B R59.04% % HE o I E B IHE
% BBTBAARANNE

Am

FERAREMNBAR (GBI EESE
BONEZEBREHAREZRS
EmiHE HABREERRERNER
EHERMHERGE URBEER
MEMEXILtERES - ExKE
EEREEREZ AEEEFLE
HEZEBEHBEBEEHEEN
REED BEEEERABENER
EHERNHESGE ULKBEER
REMEBDEMN - Bt - 5252
BEIBRERIEEEEK -

REZE2022F6A30HIEFE - &
BEEREECRIECEEBNF
REMEBINET - RABEREM
PEHREROLEEHFTE FUE
P UK RFEEREE - BFEE
kABEREFEE ST M
B URHERFEREBNES
BHINAERIECEER-
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continues)  13. B #& 1F & & £ & )

(i) (Continued) iy (&)
Kantone
Holdings Limited
FBE
BRAF
2022
20224
HK$’'000
FET
Revenue Wz 41,302
Cost of sales 55 AR (17,233)
Gross profit EH 24,069
Other income, gains and losses EAlA - Wz REE 900
Distribution costs 7§85 Pk A (8,881)
General and administrative expenses — R RATHE S (12,603)
Finance costs B 7 P R (30)
Profit before taxation B A% A & A 3,455
Income tax expenses Frig8®i i (192)
Profit for the period/year from discontinued operations BRI EEBNE " FREF 3,263
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax HEBRIELEEBKNER
(fMER T 28) (385)
Profit for the period/year from discontinued operations EARIEEE XS FNEF 2,878
Cash flows from discontinued operations RECRIEKEEBNEESRE
Net cash generated from operating activities R EJJ FrES ZIRe T8 5,743
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities WEFRSMEE/(FER)2BEEFHE 1,894
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFEACRE T (881)
Net cash increase in cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEIEMBEFE 6,756
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment V- BEMEETE 2,893
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 1,112
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense FEKRAERARX 6,199
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14. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY
ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 2 May 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to sell all of the equity interest of Honest City Enterprises Limited (“the
Disposal Group”) to an independent third party at the consideration of
HK$45.9 million. Accordingly, the following assets and liabilities of the
Disposal Group have been classified as held for sale as at 30 June
2023.

The assets and liabilities associated with the Disposal Group classified
as held for sale as at 30 June 2023 are as follows:

M. 2ERBFESENEE
REDERBEGEER
EEEMEBNAE

MR20283F5H2H - AEEF L E EWH
& M —%B L E = 5 ChuYing Man %t &
HERMCEERARI(HEEEDM
FrEzm REABIBEE T At
202396 830H U THEEENE
ERBBEYBEABESSE -

R2023E6 H30R - BIHEE B HE A
BIEHEHREBNEERAGOT -

HK$'000
FET
Investment property WA 4,533
Finance lease receivables BhE T & E AR R 32,053
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR X 1,021
Cash and cash equivalents RehReFE 3
Assets classified as held for sale DEABEREEE 37,610
Other payables H b JE T FIB 2,849
Tax payable JES R TE 2,050
Liabilities directly associated with assets HAEARBEFEEEREEBEENEGE
classified as held for sale 4,899
Non-controlling interest of the disposal group. HEEBEWIEERES
Proportion of
ownership interests and
voting rights held by Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Place of incorporation and non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests
Name of subsidiaries principal place of business as at 30 June for the year ended 30 June as at 30 June
MN6A30H HZ6H30ALEE
AR 3L 3t B R FERRRER T PEFEERRR H6A30H Rit
MEDEER TEEE WY RERESRREELA BHEZER(BE) FERBRRER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F 2023 F 20224 2023 F 2022
Golden Field and its Hong Kong/PRC 49% 49% 473 (628) 17,271 18,789
subsidiary E#/
#& g R E M B A E
BENEEEERAR
—z=—=g5x 167



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

PA
15. INCOME TAX 15. Fi 88
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FiET
Current tax: BN EAFR IR -

— PRC enterprise income tax —HEEMEH 940 845
— Hong Kong profits tax —BEBNEB - 184
940 1,029

Under/(over) provision in prior years: BEFEZBETRS

(HREERE)

— Hong Kong profits tax —BEENEB 13 (10)
Deferred tax: EIEFIR -

— (Credited)/charged for the year —FREER), Mk (356) (591)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frigm GEe), S 597 428
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) BEABRCEMSRETEERS
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC EDREGEMRGBIABEBEN - REZ
subsidiaries is 25% for both years. For income generated in the PRC WEBARIRMFERNZHEY B25% R
earned by subsidiaries incorporated outside the PRC is subject to AR 3 AN G AR S BB B A Rl AE P B
withholding tax at 10% (2022: 10%). 15 8 UL A 78 12 10% (2022 4F : 10%) 81 49

TEIT
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the BEBRNERIINRERB 2 A ERY
estimated assessable profits derived from Hong Kong. i | $#216.5% (2022 4F : 16.5%) 2 i =
& o
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15 INCOME TAX (Continued)

16

15. T 5B @)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per NREEB7BRBHGAEZEEME2EIK
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive HRZBEBAEBEYENT
income as follows:
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Loss before taxation M FE AT ES 18 (11,675) (52,610)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBMNEHE165%
(2022: 16.5%) (20224 : 16.5%)
FFEZBIE (1,926) (8,680)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMENEM R &L 2B AT
operating in other jurisdiction Z TRMEZHE 329 440
Tax effect of income exempted or not subject to HAth 7] A Hb 2 38 R 4 ﬁ 54
taxation in other jurisdiction BERBMBAZR BT E (3,346) (163)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax BARBEEMNIRZAEZZ
purposes Mg 1,450 3,384
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRBBEZH G E 4,402 5,691
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years HEFHEENBEIRS
(FBEE#E) - (10)
Tax effect of two-tier tax rate MR R B & - (165)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised &) il i@ R FER 2 Bl 1B &5 18 (273) -
Others HAb (39) (69)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRABHR(EE), T 597 428

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June
2023 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting

period (2022: Nil).

16. ix =

i
TRR 52 %

Ik B ] AR
g‘z/fﬁ%{?cﬂﬁx

BEMBREEERAA

—E=FFR

%iz&ozsisﬂsoa IEFE - IR
CEmSHESER
,u<2022¢ DHE) o

169



e B RREE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. 8 R (E518) B F
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the RKATRHEEANEEZBRERNERB IR
Company is based on the following data: BETHERTE :
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAT
For continuing operations: RHELEER:
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARAREEABLAFEEIE
of the Company (12,745) (52,410)
For discontinued operations: B E A TS
Profit for the year attributable to owners KRAREB AL ARFEE &
of the Company 562 1,541
Number of ordinary shares EBERK D EE ’000 '000
TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ & Gk H & (F18) /B F| 2
the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share LB hNRE B 2,735,323 1,850,956
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2023 and B R E 22023F &2022%6 A30H I F
2022 were the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there BYEEXTELL AR WHREEE
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years. ZEREE(EE), /BN BEGIRER(E

1B)/BAER -
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BER&HE
Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
Land and communications and Motor
buildings networks fixtures  vehicles Total
BE - #ER
THRETF BiERE BRREE RE #E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Cost B
At 1 July 2021 202147 /18 15,603 319,548 8,405 1,962 345,518
Currency realignment [E 5 & (94) (2,331) 1) - (2,446)
Additions NE 6,452 4,522 28 — 11,002
Disposals/written off k- € - (96) - — (96)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) i+ & ff & 2 &) (fff £ 12) (21,961) (317,665) (116) — (339,742
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 7202246 A30H &
2022F7H18 - 3,978 8,296 1,962 14,236
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y B Bt B A /) - 1,270 - - 1,270
Currency realignment fE i & - (320) 61) — (381)
Additions NE — 5,313 16 — 5,329
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) &M B A 7 (Mf5E12) - (1,948) - - (1,948)
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H — 8,293 8,251 1,962 18,506
BEREEEEFRAR
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

18.M¥  BMEKRXRE@m

Plant and
machinery
and Furniture
Land and communications and Motor
buildings networks fixtures  vehicles Total
BE #BER
T RIEF BiERE BRAREE RE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET FAET FAET
Depreciation and impairment T & & & &
At 1 July 2021 20217 A1H 4,592 294,329 8,058 1,962 308,941
Currency realignment R ER (18) (2,181) (19) — (2,218)
Provided for the year FREE 65 3,070 232 - 3,367
Eliminated on disposals/written off 1 & /#fi $ B #fi & - (74) — — (74)
Impairment losses recognised A28 R AR E
in profit or loss (note 20) &8 (M 3E20) — 1,990 62 — 2,052
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) & Kf B2 & (ffsE12) (4,639) (293,280) (116) —  (298,035)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 7202246 A30H K&
2022 7H1H — 3,854 8,217 1,962 14,033
Currency realignment R - (59) (58) — (117)
Provided for the year FREE — 308 — — 308
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 12) HE M B A &) (H5F12) — (233) — — (233)
At 30 June 2023 720236 A30H - 3,870 8,159 1,962 13,991
Carrying values BREE
At 30 June 2023 20236 H30H — 4,423 92 — 4,515
At 30 June 2022 202266 A30H — 124 79 — 203
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 10. FHEEE

Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
T RIEF RE FoR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FHET FHET
Carrying amount FELHE
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 A2021 6 H30H &
2021 %£7H1H 1,581 4,244 5,825
Additions NE 1,743 307 2,050
Depreciation expense WEEH (1,490) (1,016) (2,506)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 12) HEMRB AR (MHE12) (130) (3,341) (3,471)
Impairment losses (note 20) BB & 18 (M 7E20) (1,703) - (1,703)
Exchange adjustments b 5, ) 22 M (26) @7)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 20226 H30H &
2022F7H1H — 168 168
Depreciation expense wEEA - (168) (168)
At 30 June 2023 720236 HA30H — — -
For the year ended 30 June 2023 B Z£2023F6H30H
LEFE
Expense relating to short-term leases EiHAFAE R EMAEH
and other leases with lease term HHER HAHEEHAE
ended within 12 months 128 A NER 100 — 100
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLEH 1,052 121 1,178
For the year ended 30 June 2022 B E2022F6H30H
IFE
Expense relating to short-term leases EiHAFAE R AME S H
and other leases with lease term HHER HESHE
ended within 12 months 1218 A A& 360 — 360
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLES 2,089 1,070 3,159
BEREEEEFRAR
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

20

174

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years (2022: 1 to 8 years) but may have extension options included.
The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal
option. After the lease commencement date, the Group reassesses the
lease term if there is significant event or change in circumstances that
in beyond its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise)
the option to renew (e.g. a change in business strategy). As the Group
considered the exercise of the extension option is uncertain, therefore
the lease term does not include the extension option. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of difference
terms and conditions.

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying value of motor vehicles includes an
amount of HK$NIl (2022: HK$168,000) in respect of assets held under
hire-purchase.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

During the years ended 30 June 2022, the business performance of the
renewable energy segment and sale of surveillance equipment segment
were below expectation, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and performed impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the relevant segment,
which are considered as individual CGUs to which the assets belong.
The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs have been determined on
the basis of value in use.

The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on the
latest financial budgets approved by the management of the Company
covering a 5-year period at pre-tax discount rates of 13%. Cash flow
projection during the budget period was based on the operating costs,
budgeted sales, growth rate and gross margin during the budget
period and the budgeted sales and budgeted margin have been
determined based on past performance and management’s
expectations for the future changes in the market.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

20. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the directors of the Company
determine that the recoverable amount of the CGUs is lower than the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGUs and impairment of
HK$3,755,000 was provided for the year ended 30 June 2022. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets, such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. Accordingly, the
Group recognised impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets of HK$2,052,000 and HK$1,703,000
respectively during the year 30 June 2022.

20. )% - BB R R A

REREEENRE
18 )

BEFHER ARAESBTERER
EEMNNATKRESBERRABE S REEN
AT S5 WEH £202296 430
A 1 & & #F 3,755,000 7T & & E 51
R-BESECOEZZHME BE
BREURFRAREE FEEEED
FEEETERIZEEREQRTFERLE
KAREREENEZSE Bit 8=
2022F6A30HIEFE  AEBDER
WE BERREAREREELEENR
8 &5 18 5 7112,052,0007% 7T K& 1,703,000
T

21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 21. REY

Properties
located in
the PRC
B ¥
HK$’000
FAET
Carrying value at 1 July 2021 202147 A1 B 2 BREE 50,022
Currency realignment & N e (1,181)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ N FEERE (1,566)

Carrying value at 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 202266 A30H &
2022F 7 A1 AZRTAE 47,275
Currency realignment PE 7, 3 & (3,647)
Fair value loss on investment properties HEWMEZ A FEEE (1,136)
Reclassified to assets held for sale (note 14) ENOEERHEFEEE (M&E14) (4,533)
Carrying value at 30 June 2023 M2023%F6 A30H 2 BRE & 37,959

BEMNEEBERALT
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2.R—HEBERTzER

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD R AE 2 2
Share of post-acquisition losses FEH IR 1R B 1R - -
2 2

Particulars of the Group’s associate at 30 June 2023 and 2022 are as

MR20234F R2022E6 A0 NEE 2 A&

follows: BREZHBOT
Proportion of
Principal Class of nominal value of
Place of place of shares issued capital
Name of company incorporation  operation held held by the Group Principal activity
3l TE g2l rEERAERT
NCIEE 1t B e I 43 % 5l IR A TE B 2 b 6 TEEK
2023 2022
2023 F 2022F
Champion Oriana Power Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 20% 20% Provision of solar
Management Limited energy and

(“Champion Oriana
Power”)

BEBNZRAERAR  &HE BN EBK
((BEBHRK]

Champion Oriana Power, the only associate in which the Group
participates, is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price
is not available.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

22_INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 22 A— & QT 2 RS @

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s interest in
an associate, which is prepared using accounting policies in conformity
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group and accounted for
using the equity method, is set out below:

AEFER-—HBERRZEEZMBEE
MBERESHEMZETHE HE
AEBPRRMZETHEER -3 F@EH
BERAEREARR  ERE2EHINMAT

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FH T

Total assets BEBE 10 10
Total liabilities afEBE (11) (1)
(1) 1

Revenue & - -

Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEEHEEAEEILEE

for the year - ()

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 2. B AT EFABERZE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

MEE

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F# T
Unlisted equity investment I EMRAEE
— Company A (note (i) — A AAEE() - -
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong (note (i) & & - A& A< 8 & (Kt 5% (i) 34,223 21,985
34,223 21,985
Represented by: LA 31 BI85 R -
Current assets IR L) 34,223 21,985
Non-current assets IEBNHAER 1 - -
34,223 21,985
BEMNEEBERALT
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROF'T OR LOSS (Continued)

178

Notes:

(i)

On 29 March 2019, Allied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited (“Allied Joy”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and two other independent third parties
established a company (defined as “Company A”), which was incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) with limited liability. Allied Joy subscribed for 25
ordinary shares of total US$250,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,965,000) of Company A. Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of Company A, it required more than 50% of the voting rights of
shareholders to pass all the resolution (including appointment and removal of
directors of Company A. The other two shareholders, together hold 75% of the
equity interests of Company A, have joint control over Company A and
appointed all directors in Company A. Upon the completion of the subscription,
the Group holds 25% of equity interest in Company A. The Group has no right
to appoint any director in the board of directors of Company A which is
responsible for making decisions of the relevant activities of Company A. In this
regard, the directors of the Company conclude that the Group does not have
significant influence over Company A and hence conclude that the investment
in Company A is accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss of the Group.

The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the
quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange. For details,
please refer to securities investments section in Management Discussion and
Analysis in the 2023 annual report of the Group.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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23. B AFEFAEBERZSE

A& E @

BYRE

U

(i)

MR2019F 3208  ARARMEEWEB R
AEREB)BRAR(VER] BB
NBYFE=ZFRI-—BRARA(EEAD
AAD  ZARERBHERRS((HB
HERBEDEMALAEREMERA -
EMR M A AR 7250 L @A &5t
250,000 7t (48 & # #71,965,0007% 7T ) °
RIBEQNRANBEEEERRMAMME - FFE
REBEARAEENEHMESRL) AR
R EIAR A B IB50% /) 1% 2 #E /) A% 5 m iA
THEBB  RHIMEBRREREFTHAEAAA
ZT75% B ARAE - Bt M HERZES T AR
A WHEDTARANFIBESE - TRR
Bl NEEBERBIAZ25%H I E -
REBEREAATNAEESSEHES M
HEESHAEYHRARANBEESELT
RE - EEHAAARAEERANEERY
ARRIRBMHENTE N YARBHE
W BEAFANKEARARNERER
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24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE

24. EmERENE

Present Present
value of value of
Minimum Minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REEE =EHEE BREEAERE ZEMHEKE
IE WIH ZHE ZHE
As at As at As at As at
30 June 2023 30 June 2022 30 June 2023 30 June 2022
20235 2022 F A 2023 F PR 2022 F
6A30H 6 H30H 6 A30H 6 H30H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAET FET FAT
Within one year —F R — 4,566 - 4,263
Between one to two years E—F_F - 4,566 — 4,099
Between two to three years 8 — & = - 4,566 - 3,941
Between three to four years 5 = & P04 - 4,566 - 3,789
Between four to five years FUERF - 4,566 - 3,644
Over five years HEF L — 25,113 - 19,170
— 47,943 - 38,906
Less: unearned finance W REBEERE KA
income - (9,037)
Present value of minimum 1K B & 7118
lease payment receivable ZIRE — 38,906
Less: provision for impairment 3§ : J5 (& & 18 & &
losses - (838)
- 38,068
Represented by: AT & B3R :
Current portion* BNERER o * - 4,171
Non-current portion JERNERER - 33,897
- 38,068
* The finance lease receivables were classified as assets held for sale. * MEHERWHBENDEAFESFEEE -

BEMBREEERAA
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24. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE (continvea) 24, fE UK Bt & 1 & FX1H (@)

The effective interest rate applicable to the finance lease is MEHFEZERAEBRMNBEAFN XY
approximately 3.96% per annum. 3.96% °
The hotel operator had made payments in accordance with the BIEEERRANAPTHER N
contractual tenancy arrangement and had a good repayment record in ERBAFEEHAERTERDE -
prior years. Accordingly, the management of the Group considered that I AEEEEERAEBEEERR A
the credit risk is low and provision for impairment loss of HK$234,000 1K - 2L R E B 18 B #234,0007 T
(2022: HK$838,000) has been made. (2022 % : 838,000/ L) °
€
25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FHET
Raw materials R 3,671 2,595
Work in progress TR 223 2,169
Finished goods 2K B 3,441 8,118
7,335 12,882
Notes: B 5E
0] Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stones and [0) B RBEERBFERBERPIEE
antiques) of HK$1,260,000 (2022: HK$8,118,000), which are held for trading EREBEZNLER(BEELEBEARE
and resale in the ordinary course of business. fiir &a) A1,260,0007% 7T (2022 4F : 8,118,000
I
(ii) As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, all the cultural products of the Group were (ii) R20234F K 2022F6 A30H + A& B 2 Fr
stored in a warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an ANILEREFHRR —HERANEHRE
independent third party to the Group. RAIFEEZRBEEARN  HEAKNEESB
SE=T
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25 INVENTORIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group engaged GEM Appraisal Center of Peking
University (1t X4t K& A2 F #F 1)) (the “Appraisal Center’) to conduct a
scientific examination of 360 pieces of cultural products regarding their grading
and classification. The management of the Group arranged the valuer, 1t &
RIEEBFEAER AR ((ERERHTEEE") to reassess the market values
of all 368 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2018 based on the finding
of a team of cultural product and jewellery expert (“Experts”) from “China
Cultural Heritage Information and Consulting Center” led by Ms. YANG
Zhen Hua (15 Z %) and the Appraisal Center concerning the grading and
classification of 8 pieces and 360 pieces of the cultural products respectively.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2022, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t 52 7 B 7 12 to assess
the current market values of all cultural products as at 30 June 2022 based on
the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning the grading and
classification of the cultural products and the current condition of the cultural
products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30 June 2022
estimated by 1t 2 1 Bl 212, the management of the Group determined that
their net realisable values were the same as carrying amounts as at 30 June
2022.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2023, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t 52 /7 B 72 15 to assess
the current market values of all pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2023
based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre conceming the
grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition of
the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at 30
June 2023 estimated by Jt R M EIZ {5, the management of the Group
determined that their net realisable values were below their carrying amounts
as at 30 June 2023 and the shortfalls resulted in further impairment loss of
HK$6,488,000 for the year ended 30 June 2023.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the Appraisal Center, the carrying amount net of impairment
recognised so far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements, was the
best estimate of the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

25. 7 E @)

B & ()

(i)

MIRBEE2018F6A0BLEFEZHE
MHREMEs  AEBCERERILERE
BEZErhOo(EEFRN]) Y3600 XbE
ERERURSEETHBEF - AEEH
EEECLTHGEMERTE R EEET
HERAR(TEEZHEAERE]) D REE—
BHEBEELTRENKREIFEXYE
BREAPLIZXECERREREREK
(TEXR))RZETF O 23601 %=
MbERZRBURIEZ &R BEFTE
Ffr 5 368 14 30 {b B qh ’A20184F6 A30H 2
DIEER

MREEHE202F6A30BIEFEZHE
MHERETNE  AEEDEEGHEEMIER
THREREERERRETHFOLEZE
tERZBAURDEZBR  URERFTF
AR B S 2 8 b E & A 20224 6 A 30
BzBREMSEE BELETEEER
20226 A0 R ¥ L Em M hE K&
BEEEEBET  N202246H30R &1
BRFEAEREMR -

MIRRE E20283F6 AR LEFEZHEE
MHHREMs  AEBECDEEGHEMIER
TEZERBRERRETPOLHZE L
EmZmi kB2 38 UREBFRK
S Wl B E e E m 20236 30 H
ZHREMSEE RELIATREREYE
B XL E G E2023F 6 A30H M 1B © A&
S EHEEE R T H A2 IFE K 1X2023
FOABEMEHE EZHEHHE
202346 A30H IEFEH#E — R EE B
6,488,000 JT °

ARREERE  KEFFOETFHEA
A NEEMBRERRZAFHRD
TR BB 2 BR B 3 XL E f AT MR [ & B
ZEIEMRE -
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. BB 5 R HAMERM

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FET
Trade receivables (note) JiE U 28 5 B 3k (B %) 8,369 10,271
Less: provision for impairment losses B OREE B E (346) (255)
8,023 10,016
Other receivables JiE U L th BR 5K 36,219 26,895
Less: provision for impairment losses R EEERE (3,477) (2,942)
32,742 23,953
40,765 33,969
Note: Bt 5 -
The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers TEEREZESRPETHBEZEERE - BRI
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry HEZER BRERERIEE -TTARGET
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180 BEAMGTREENTI0OHEZ180HEEH - &
days. The Groups credit policy for sales of cultural products and smart city solution are SERHEXERREERTRASTRZEE
cash on delivery. BEREINRK -
The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) EWE SEF(NMRBHEEER) NR
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period CHRABREEZARZERSITE
is as follows: FanR
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FET
0-60 days 0-60 H 6,405 733
61-90 days 61-90 H 1,306 2
91-180 days 91-180H - 9,061
181-365 days 181-365 H - 171
Over 365 days B E365 H 312 49
8,023 10,016

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales
management team would assess the potential customers credit
worthiness and define the credit limit accordingly for the customers.
Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly with
reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation. Details of the credit policy impairment
assessment of trade receivable for the year ended 30 June 2023 and
2022 are set in note 5.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses)
presented based on past due status at the end of the reporting period

26. ENE F REMERFR @

REMNEMFEPA  AEE 0B R
HEBHEKSFMEBEEEP ZEE
E UWHEEEMRAEEFPZ2EERE - B
FTEPZEEREL2EBAERLHER
FHEEMNBRLT SHEEINEZEETH
2 B o B £2023F k202246 A30H Ik
FEMNEBEZIRRKEREERKBEN K
FFIBERNMES

ERBERRBPRN2I 2 EKRE
SERHBEEREEBR) ZRK DT

is as follows: e
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FiET
Not past due 8 1 53
Less than 1 month past due mE LR —EAR 6,296 227
1 to 3 months past due BH—E==EA 108 9,403
3to 12 months past due BH==+_-@A 1,306 284
Past due over 1 year BHEBA—F 312 49
8,022 9,963
8,023 10,016

BEMNEEBERALT

—z-—=fxx 183



e M mRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

27. LOAN RECEIVABLES

27. EIWE ™

2023 2022

2023 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHEx FiET

Loan receivable FEWE R 2,590 —
Less: provision for impairment losses R EEERE (116) -
2,474 —

As at 30 June 2023, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of R2023F6A30H  FEU — & B KA
HK$2,474,000 were due from one borrower, unsecured and with MNEREF(HNGREHEEEE) ALY
personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated in 24740008 T HEERAEERR
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rates at 6% ERAER FIAERBKRERHUARE
per annum with maturity date within 12 months from the loan draw (TAR®EHE - EREROEE FF
down date. Full amount was received by the Group subsequent to year R AE6% FHBAEFIRNAHEN T

ended 30 June 2023.

“EAR AEBEE REE2023%6 A
HIEFEERKEIZFK -

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. e RBEESEHE

(a) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits (a) BepBReEHEBEINHA A=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the 8 Ak AR 2 BB FERRAE
Group. BHEZRE -
Certain bank balances and cash of HK$3,522,000 (2022: A #3,522,000% T (2022 4F :
HK$6,773,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely 6,773,000 7T) Z & TIRITA &R &
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance ReNUAREHE MAREL
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions A RBEMZERRLRZE -

imposed by the Government of the PRC.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 28 iﬁ, ﬁ & Iﬁ, ﬁ % gﬁ ()

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below shows the detailed changes in the Groups major
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and

(b) ERMEFBRELEREN
¥ AR

TREINAKSEERELTHAE
EXRRENEH(BRASKRIF

non-cash changes. WEEH))FE -
Interest
bearing  Promissory Amount
other note due to Lease
borrowing payable  adirector liabilities Total
(note 32) (note 30)
TR ERRE  EM-%F
HifE & RE EEXE HEER @t
(M732)  (Ki5E30)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET AT FET TET FHET
At 1 July 2021 R2021 %7811 185,000 38,306 2,180 6,046 231,632
Financing cash flows: BERSRE:
Repayment of other borrowing EBEEMES (185,000) - - - (185,000)
Repayment of promissory note EBEALERE - (41,387) - - (41,387)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREERE - - - (2,699) (2,699)
Advance from a director KBEZNER - - 150 - 150
Interest paid BRFE (9,740) (440) - (100) (10,280)
(194,740) (41,827) 150 (2,799  (239,216)
Currency realignment R - - - (28) (28)
Other changes: Hit#8:
Loss on early redemption REBRZER - 1,384 - - 1,384
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB R A - - (2,180) (3,546) (5,726)
New lease entered G Ak - - - 2,027 2,027
Finance costs BB A 9,740 2,137 - 100 11,977
9,740 3,521 (2,180) (1,419) 9,662
At 30 June 2022 RW2022F6H30H - — 150 1,800 1,950
BEREEEEFRAR
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (continued)

2. BERNBEEH @

b) ERMETBFMEEEREN
¥R @)

Amount
due to Lease
Borrowings a director liabilities Total
(note 34) (note 32)
ER—2
B EENE HEAE et
(Pt 5E34) (Mt5E32)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT FAT T
At 1 July 2022 R2022F7H1H — 150 1,800 1,950
Financing cash flows: MERSRE:
Repayment of lease liabilites (ZiEHE B & — - (960) (960)
Advance from a director RKEEBEEFHRNR — 1,850 — 1,850
Interest paid BEATH & (129) — (113 (242)
Repayment of borrowings BEME K (1,478) — — (1,478)
Proceeds from borrowings ~ f& 3 pri8 %18 3,582 — — 3,582
1,975 1,850 (1,073) 2,752
Other changes: Hih# g :
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT (4,217) - - (4,217)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B BT /B A A 2,258 — — 2,258
Finance costs B 75 B AR 129 — 113 242
Exchange realignment P H A& (145) - - (145)
(1,975) — 113 (1,862)
At 30 June 2023 720236 A30H — 2,000 840 2,840
29. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 20. FEBFHRERH

186
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group had signed a deed of
novation with a customer and a supplier. Under the deed of novation,
the Group had assigned the trade receivables from the customer to the
supplier for the amount of approximately US$3,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$24,333,000), as settlement of trade payables due to the supplier.

REE2022F6A30BIEEER > KN&E
EHE-—UREFPE—UHEBSIT 7
EEZE-REEEZE ASEEH
EEFMEKEBESERBETHES &
%8 49 43,100,000 3 7T (48 5 74 24,333,000
BT NESHERMNE ZEHERK -
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 0.ENEZREMIRMN

2023 2022

2023 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

Trade payables I E SRR 4,560 995

Other payables JFE AT B Ath BR 3K 19,315 8,784

23,875 9,779

The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice EBRNEZEFRBEHTERFRBERE
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: AHZEREDITZ3WT

2023 2022

2023 £ 2022 4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THxT FHET

0-60 days 0-60 H 3,581 203

61-90 days 61-90H - —

91-365 days 91-365 H - —

Over 1 year HBiE—F 979 792

4,560 995

R
g
iy
o
N
i

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 120 EHNFI0BE120H -

days.
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES M.EHNAR
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Receipts in advance from customers for provision FiiZt RE 2 FEW & F /B
of services 77 2,430
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEERS
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
At 1 July ®n7A1H 2,430 25,172
Currency realignment b 5, 38 & - (143)
Disposal of subsidiaries ek =N PEERNE] - (17,167)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing REREERRTEMERS L
in advance of provision of service B EE 2,749 11,291
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RERNERTAFYEHEE
recognising revenue during the year that was HEmeEmsnasgZzngd
included in contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year (4,462) (16,723)
At 30 June M6 HA30H 717 2,430
All the amount of bilings in advance of performance related to 20236 A30H - BEE A B AR FE
renewable energy business as at 30 June 2023 are expected to be BHMERAOZENRIBEFN —FA
recognised as revenue within one year. BRAWE o

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

R.BEEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Lease liabilities payable: EREEEE:
Within one year —F R 840 960
Within a period of more than one year but not —F A HET BB F
more than two years - 840
840 1,800
Less: amounts due for settlement within BomEBaE T2 AR
12 months shown under current liabilities FIHE B FE (840) (960)
Amounts due for settlement after JERBAE T 12 A%
12 months shown under non-current liabilities FIHR BB M RIE - 840
33. WARRANTY PROVISION 3B.RERKE
2023 2022
2023 F 2022 4
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
At 1 July R7A1H - 1,062
Currency realignment PE i S B - 62
Disposal of subsidiaries & B8 A Al - (1,166)
Provided during the year FRNFHE - 150
Utilised during the year FAFEHR - (108)
At 30 June K6 A30H - —

REREBREEZERBBELBIER
HERREMIIERME G TRK
mT—EAAREHME AEEE EA&E

The warranty provision represents the managements best estimate of
the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on
manufactured products, based on prior experience and industry

average for defective products. {EH 2 s ETE -
BEREEEEFRAR
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34. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director of the Company is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on
demand.

As at 30 June 2023, such director of the Company, who is also a

substantial shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested in
16.17% (2022: 16.17%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

UNEN—BESEME

%H$ﬁﬂ*%§$mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AECEEEEFMERARERER

R20283F6A30H 2 ARAEEZINA
KRR ZEERE HHRENAKRD T
16.17% (20224F : 16.17%) Z BT R A
FHEB R o

35. 3 ¢ 18 R 5+ &

2023 2022
2023 2022 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAET
Retirement benefit contributions to MAEEZ EEERGTEZNZ
the Group’s defined contribution scheme R AR I 213 237

(@) Defined contribution scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the
“MPF”) scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme
charged to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
scheme.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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(a) EFEHEE

ARRETETHBELRARID
BE2H—THRKEAGE - %A
HECEERAKRBEZEENH
A UFERABILXFEAENZ
Een-

EH2000F12A 8 AEEAEHER
BB EBEAREREERFEMER
scHEBHEAES((RESR] T
Bl RBENBRZABESFTEIRIK
BRI A e AL B %58 T ¢ st &
HMEZzhERHAEBESEIEL 2
HEER o
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Defined contribution scheme (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total expense recognised in the profit or loss
amounted to HK$213,000 (2022: HK$237,000) and represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

Forfeited contributions

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined a
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

(a)

(b)

35. & K& R 5T & )

ok CRE I )

AEERFEZMELRAEER
R A& T IRT 2 B
ERRARBAEKE - NEEA
UNIEEBE D L2 TEKAMZR
R BIER R RZERF
RHEES - FHEEHRFIIAEKE
FhEZR IR AR AR 8 2 M — R -

FR - RIBRERZ X 213,000
7 JT (2022 4F : 237,000 7T ) A A
SEEZETEFURTEZ L E
HEFEE L 2 BT -

2 WA K

B2000F 12 A1HE  REBITFE
REEBEBZ2MEHELAER
E((aESEE)) BB E
ERIE R M QES B K0 E
BB EEREREM- &
BB zEERABYITEAL
flzEeFa BASEZEESD
FERE - RIFBESE EER
HEB&SBERMBAAUTHZELERR
BIESFEELHER - AEBEBH
BEEFHEZE—BEEARELR
TEER Z 5K - Br B FAE RN -
EAMBESFE 2R E A
AR R R FEREL Z 5K -
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

36. DEFERRED TAXATION

192

(Continued)

35. R K8 R 5t & )

(b) Forfeited contributions (Continued) (b) 2 WK @

For the retirement benefits of the Groups qualifying employees in
the PRC, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the local municipal government of
Shenzhen. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of their payroll costs to the scheme to fund the
benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of services in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the scheme is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the scheme. Contributions to the scheme are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution under PRC

ERAKMETHAZAKGERE
ZREFSE  AEEE LM
R Y375 7 O 2 R O R
sHE o A EEARA B IR B B
A2ZAEEE D P IR KA
BRI GRS o AR 540 B BT AR
bl BETFHRRAM EAFH
& RIRH 7 B35 B 2R INE R o &
EEEMBAEZE - RERS
SR A BIRE M1 2 B3R o 1%
SHEIE I 2 BB R R R 5t
2RI A RS R
SEMEHR NI - BT

retirement benefit scheme is available to reduce the contribution

payable in future years.

At 30 June 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$728,840,000 (2022: HK$740,565,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses may be

carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred tax liabilities

ZRIRE T &l 2 R W KA A
PAFUR AR SR F AR 2 K

36. IE it T 18

R2023F6A30H  AEBMAEKRSHZ
i 18 &5 18 #9728,840,0007 JT (2022 4F :
740,565,000 7t) + Al AEKBE A & 2
K o B RAETERT A 18 2 & R 2R -
WA EEREERIBEE - WEBIEE
18 AR B AR A o

EEHEARE

Fair value change of
investment properties

REMEZ

AFEEE

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 July 2021 7202147 A1 8 9,616
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FIET AR E R R (591)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 7R20229F 6 A30H &20229F7HA1H 9,025
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss RIEBHFT AB &= (356)
Exchange difference PEH E58 (620)
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 8,049
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 7. WA R

(a)

(b)

Movements in components of equity (a) EID 225

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Groups consolidated equity is set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

AEBEGARARESHBD ZF
NEFRGEHB2ERAREE
BAERBBHRA - ARFRAZ
18 51 &8 2 7 F ¥) & F R = 8 &

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in 1S5ERMIFE42 ©
note 42.
Share capital (b) A
Number of
shares Amount
il - =] -
000 HK$’000
T FAET
Authorised share capital: ETERA
Balance at 1 July 2021 with par value of BEREECE TR
HK$0.1 each 20217 A1 H 2 &% 1,500,000 150,000
Increase of authorised share capital (note 1) 3 & B& 2 38 hn (Bt 351) 14,500,000 1,450,000
Share sub-division (note 3) B% 17 ¥ 48 (B 5£3) 144,000,000 -
Balance at 30 June 2022, 1 July 2022 and 32 & IR EE0.016 Tt 7
30 June 2023 with par value of HK$0.01 2022%6 A30H -
each 202267 H1H K
20234 6 A 30 H W) & & 160,000,000 1,600,000
Number of Share Share Capital
shares capital premium reserve Total
REAHAE B R EE R fE A wE
‘000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Tk FHET FHEL FHL FHEL
Issued and fully paid share capital: BETRBERAE:
Balance at 1 July 2021 with par value & & BR E (H0.178 7T 5 7
of HK$0.1 each 2021 F7 1R 2 &% 683,831 68,383 2,221,869 846,860 3,137,112
Rights issue (note 2) HAR (H5E2) 2,051,493 205,149 (7,252) - 197,897
Reduction of capital (note 3) R A H R (KT 3E3) - (246,179) - 246,179 -
Balance at 30 June 2022, 1 July 2022 1% & IR E E0.0178 L&t i
and 30 June 2023 with par value of 20226 H30H »
HK$0.01 each 2022F7A1B R
202366 A30H M # & 2,735,324 27,353 2,214,617 1,093,039 3,335,009
BEREEEEFRAR
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Share capital (continued)

(c)

194

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

On 8 November 2021, increase in authorised share capital was
approved by shareholders at the special general meeting, the
authorised share capital of the Company be increased from
HK$150,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 shares of HK$0.1
each to HK$1,600,000,000 divided into 16,000,000,000 Shares
by the creation of an additional 14,500,000,000 new shares.

On 14 December 2021, the Company completed rights issue on
the basis of three rights shares for every one existing share,
approximately 2,051,493,000 shares had been issued.

On 1 June 2021, the Company completed capital reduction and
sub-division, the par value of each of the issued shares be
reduced from HK$0.10 to HK$0.01 per issued share by cancelling
the paid up share capital to the extent of HK$0.09 per issued
share and each of the authorized but unissued shares with par
value of HK$0.10 each be sub-divided into 10 new shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each.

Reserves

@i

(i)

(iii)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed by
section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the amount by
which the Company issued share capital was diminished
on cancellation of ordinary share repurchased.

General reserve

The general reserve represents the reserve arising from the
reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of shares of 25 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2002) of HK$2.5
each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of
HK$2.4 on each share of the Company in 2002.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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37. B A= K {3 18 )

(b) AR ()

BsET: 202111 A8H - R EREEFI

(c)

AE FHOESIDEERA - AR A
#5% JE B% 7N $1 150,000,00058 JT (52
#1,500,000,000 % & B% E {£0.178
7T 0 B 17 ) 4 A0 = 1,600,000,0007%
7T, (% #16,000,000,0000% i 1) » 75
3% /5 18 3% 14,500,000,000 8% ¥7 B 19

MaE2 : MR2021F12A14H AR REE

HEIRBEAERG B EIRER
fRD ) BT MR - B FHITH
2,051,493,000 f% 5 15 °

MaES : AR AIFE202146 A1 HERBA

BIR RAF40 SBFHETRE R
TRRH0.09B T 2 BMBBAEE
RE BT’ ZEEHRCI0E T
HIR Z0.01 T - Wi B REE
010/ 7T 2 A EB R EIT R0 IF
A0 B R EECOIB T ZH
& -

(GRS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

B 158
BMHOEERE2EASARE
1981 F R BEFA0EHHRE ©

BAREE#E
AAEE G EREHE R
ZEBBMSIHAREDH
TRARDSZ 28 -

— R i#E

— R REHEIE A LD AR 2002F
LAos SR EmECIB T E
BRAFAIRETRDE
BE1% - TA20024F LA s 88 B &
BAFR  mBR24FB T H
REDRARXNRFR25FTTZ
B EEMESZ FHiF-
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 37. RA K # @

(c) HEuwm

(c) Reserves (Continued)

(iv) Capital reserve (iv) EXRREE
The capital reserve represents the amount arising from (a) BEARFEHEIB@QA R A — BN
a bonus issue of shares of a subsidiary of the Company by BRARAILERCERSB &
way of capitalising the subsidiary’s retained profits and R—2XERRZEETE
deemed capital contribution from a substantial shareholder, ZHREBETLR  b)A R A
(b) the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of 2017 F LA20 & = i% E 1B 0.1
the Company (after the consolidation of shares of 20 BrzEBREMRIRZR
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each into 1 share in 2017) of & B - 72017 F LA 5 88
HK$2 each by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent BEHBRAGN - ZER1.9E
of HK$1.9 on each share of the Company in 2017 and the AR Y EA R TSRS
reduction of the nominal amount of the share of the JC 2 B 15 T B LA K 7R 2022 F
Company of HK$0.1 each by cancelling HK$0.09 on each INE 8 R A 2 F Mk 150.09
share of the Company in 2022. BT E R ER AR R R
OB ZBRMEEmMELZ
B
(v) Merger reserve (v) EftfE
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the B B FE B R K &£ B 71992
group reorganisation in 1992, FHETEEEANMEEZ
(vi) Translation reserve (vi) [ES{&E

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is

ELAFEERREEIINES
M WRAELEZ 2 A05ME
EH - EBIREM EIM

dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out BERTBRER -
in note 3.
BEMNEEBERALT
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 38. B IR T &

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective
subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

On 29 December 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) and the share option scheme adopted on 30 November
2012 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired. The New Share
Option Schemes were adopted for the purpose () to enable the
Company to grant Options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the growth and development of the
Group; (ii) to attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable
development of the Group; and (jii) to align the interest of the grantees
with those of the Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and
business performance of the Company. The basis of eligibility of any of
the eligible persons to the grant of share options shall be determined
by the Board from time to time on the basis of their contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group. The
New Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from 29 December 2022.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the
Board, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of the
grant. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the New Share Option Schemes for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

39

The subscription price in respect of any option will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the Offer; and (i) (where applicable)
the nominal value of a share.

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the New Share
Option Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated
30 November 2022.

Other than the share option schemes of the Company aforementioned,
at no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the New Share Option Scheme and Old Share Option Scheme
since their adoption.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Groups overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

38.

39.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

)

(i)

198

The key management personnel are those persons holding
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,
including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid
individuals. Key management personnel remuneration are as
follows:

U)

40.BEEALRS

HREBEAEREEEXEBREME
HEEREZEME S BB RS A
SEEHHRUMNAE  BEAR
AEENHEHZRFTABE -TEF
BABHBMWOT :

2023 2022

2023 20224F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAETT

Salaries and other benefits e kHEMER 9,644 10,052
Performance related incentive payments BIERREBEH 2 ES 84 200
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ERAEFIET B R 84 90
9,812 10,342

On 22 March 2023, the Group (as the borrower) and Ms. Wong (as
the lender), a substantial shareholder and director of the
Company had entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which
Ms. Wong agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$2,000,000 in
aggregate principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable
on demand (note 34) (2022: HK$150,000). The transaction
contemplated under the facility agreement constituted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listing Rules. However, this transaction is fully exempt
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main
Board Listings Rules as the transaction was on normal
commiercial terms or better and no security over the assets of the
Company was granted in respect of such financial assistance.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. EAN TR B w0

(Continued)

@iy~ On 19 July 2017, the Group (as the borrower) and Mr. Law Shing
Hung (“Mr. Law”) (as the lender), a director of a subsidiary, had
entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which Mr. Law
agreed to lend to the Group up to HK$1,441,000 in aggregate
principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest bearing and
had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable on demand.
As at 30 June 2023, the balance was included in other payables
under liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held
for sales amounted to HK$1,441,000 (2022: other payables
HK$1,441,000). The transaction contemplated under the facility
agreement constituted continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listings Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment properties measured as at 30 June 2023
and 2022 on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.

@iy 2017478198 K &£ EH( 1k
A& 7% A ) £ Law Shing Hung %& 4
(lLaws & ] - EBERA - — M
BARIMES)IIURE HE - &
It - Law 5t &£ B B | A8 & B {8 1 A
£ HEE R 21,441,000 7T - AEIR
AT B ERTEFRARER
BSRE B - N2023%E6H30H @ #%
EHRERETHRSBEARBIEREER
EEEHEEAMNABEE THEME
18R 3% /51,441,00058 7T (2022 4 :
H & FUIE1,441,00008 70) © %
BMEMBBETITRETZRXZEN
BERERS(FERETRLETR
BIZE14AE) - AT - ARZER S
TR —MEEREEGKRKTL B
EZUBESHP T ERLEARAQA
BEERF ZEXZEZERE
BTFERLEMAAUFVAEZRE
HIE -

M. A FEFTE

RFEER

TRARKEHEEEFEZAEBRR
2023 N2022F6 A30H 2@ T A K&
KEMELNFE BEHLEEZHBHBR
HEAFIBHEIAFEFZIMARATEZ =
BAFEEHR EAFEFEFRHE

BRD2EZHERNMAZHBASEZ
AEEEREEEMEBET  FHEOT

-ERMGE: ERAE-EREAK
5 B0 LA AR R A S B A (B n E AR
B % EL)ARRELATHEE
T A R R R 0 AT () 0 (2 1
AENEREERT S L2 BECR
GEEIRE- IR

BENBEEERAT
—s==fxx 199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#H £ 202396 A30H ILF € FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) M. AFEFTE@

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have regular
market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based on other
data values or market prices. For example, valuers adopt valuation
model for assessing the market value of the properties, such as
comparing with similar assets surrounding the properties, hence, the
fair values are quoted prices for similar assets and not for identical
assets.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

Assets measured at fair value

NEEEFR @

F_EBRAGE KAF_ELB AR
BOARENEF - ERZAEEGA
g ETHEAEATAHREAZE
HEATE-F_EEERLEEHRT
LEEBZEE WHWHERAFEAREREM
BEREELATEMEE - HIm - HEM
RAMBERLAFGEYE 2HE BE
MERBBUEEELETLE Bit- 2
FEABUEEZRE MAFBRE
EZHE-

E-ERAGE:- RAERATABERGA
BEBFTEQAFE

BRAFEIFEZEE
Fair value Level 1 Level 3

DNEE E-EBHR EZE®R
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT TR FHET

As at 30 June 2023 1202346 30H
Assets B&E
Investment properties "EYE 37,959 - 37,959
Financial assets at FVTPL BERATEFAERSZCEREE
— listed equity securities — FRAES 34,223 34,223 -
Fair value Level 1 Level 3
~EE EFEH BDER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET FAET
As at 30 June 2022 R202296 A30H
Assets EBE
Investment properties wEME 47,275 — 47,275
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFAEGZEREE
— listed equity securities — FREES 21,985 21,985 -
— unlisted equity securities —EEMRAES - - -

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) M. X FEFE@

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair
value measurements are as follows:

BAFYESAEZEE @

FNEEE-BAATEHBIARY
SHHIIMT -

2023 2022

2023 F 2022

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHER FHET

Investment properties including those BMESBEARBELEZ
classified as held for sales "EE

At 1 July ®7A1H 47,275 50,022
Currency realignment PE 5, 38 B (3,647) (1,181)
Fair value adjustment on investment properties &Y% 2 A FE(EHE (1,136) (1,566)
Reclassified to assets held for sale ENOHEEREFEARAE (4,533) -
At 30 June M6 HA30H 37,959 47,275

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or losses recognised in profit or loss for the year were
arisen from investment properties and listed equity securities held
during the reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

The fair value of all investment properties located in PRC (excluding the
leasehold land where the hotel property is erected) (see note 19) were
derived using the market comparable approach based on price per
square foot or square metre observed in recent market prices and
adjusted for certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment of the
building age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to reflect
different locations and conditions. The fair value of the leasehold land
where the hotel property is erected, which was reclassified to assets
held for sale during the year, was derived using adjusted market
comparable approach by (a) making reference to comparable sales of
bare-land with lease term of 40 years; (b) adjusted for the term factor
using the valuation technique to estimate value of bare-land with lease
term of 10 years (2022: 10 years) at 2033; and (c) take into account the
time value of money.

BE 4 8 B 0 Ho At 2T UK R 2 [ S BE R 4
FHER

AEEREBESTHRIBNMME RS HER
BRARBEHRAFTENRENMER L

RAEFERN F-—BH F_EAR
F-ERzEALEER -

EEHMRPEZEENE(TEERE
MERBTIZEE i) (RHE19) 2
AFEDRERNCHAMESERMEE
FHRFFFABERRATSLRERS
B WRET ARG ASE  27&
Bl M AFEMSHESREEL
FAEMmMEL TR AR 2 &K
Mo BEMEFRBY 2HELT W Z AT
BENRALHAETSBLEEEEBEQLR
FAEB40F N =AY A L35 & 58 ¢ (0)IR
R ERMTSFBRERED AZGE
20334 F Hi B 104 &9 2= i {8 B (2022
F10F) ROKEERERNRHEER
s e
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41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) M. X FEFE@

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of unlisted equity securities at FVTPL
amounting to HK$NIl (2022: HK$NIl) is assessed by the management of
the Group by using income approach with discounted cash flow
method (2022: discounted cash flow method).

As of 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group has 2 pieces of leasehold
land with contractual lease terms expiring in 2032 and 2043 with a
hotel property being erected on the 2 pieces of leasehold land and with
a tenancy agreement with a hotel operator, the Group receives fixed
rental from the hotel operator during the lease term, expiring near the
end of the contractual lease term of one of the leasehold land (i.e.
2033). The abovementioned leasehold land and hotel property mainly
included 2 elements: one was a finance lease receivable (note 22)
representing the right to receive rental from the hotel operator till the
end of lease term (i.e. 2033) and the other was an investment property
representing interest in a leasehold land with the remaining lease term
from the end of the lease term with the hotel operator (i.e. 2033 to
2043).

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of related investment properties
amounted to HK$4,533,000 (2022: HK$5,151,000). The fair value as at
30 June 2023 and 2022 was performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers, Stirling Appraisals Limited by using adjusted
market comparable method.

The fair value of other investment properties of the Group amounted to
HK$37,959,000 (2022: HK$42,124,000) as of 30 June 2023 have also
been valued by Stirling Appraisal Limited, by using direct comparison
method.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) M. X FEFE@

BAFEFEZEE @

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Investment properties/

financial assets Relationship of unobservable

held by the Group Valuation techniques & key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FEEFANRE FTUBERAYEE
ME SREE HERTREEGAZE EXTAHEEGAZE AFEZEE

Investment properties
located in the PRC

Direct comparison method

ERLEBE

Price per square metre, using market A slight increase in the price per

direct comparable and taking into square metre will increase the

(excluding the leasehold
land where hotel
property is erected)
URPENRENE
(TBREBEDEM

The key input is price per square metre

TEHAEBEREFHAER

account the location and other
individual factors such as age of the
property, which is ranged from
HK$16,700 (equivalent to
RMB14,800) to HK$27,700

fair value significantly
BYHIKREREM LSS
AFEAEEMN

By zHETH) (equivalent to RMB24,600)
(2022: HK$16,800 (equivalent to
RMB14,400) to HK$29,600
(equivalent to RMB25,300)).

FAMGIERELRYEL R
b B DA e ) A8 B 5 H b B
AEEREZEBTHKERN
T16,7008 T (HER AR
14,8007T) £27,700% 7t (155
W AR24,6007T) (20224 -
16,8007 1t (HHER AR
14,400 7T) 29,6007 7t (HHE K
AR¥253007T)) °

BEMKEEERAD
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41. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Investment properties/
financial assets

held by the Group
FEERANRE
ME SREE

Valuation techniques & key inputs

EERMRETEGABE

M. AFEFTE@

BAFEFEZEE @

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTUBERAHE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TABRBAHESR
AVEZBE

Investment property
including the leasehold
land where the hotel
property is erected and
located in the PRC

REDX (BEBIEY
ERRGLERFRE
HHE L)

Adjusted market comparable method
ARG LEE

The key input is price per square metre

TEHAEBERETHIAER

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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Price per square metre, using adjusted
market comparable approach by a)
making reference to comparable
sales of bare land with lease term of
40 years; b) adjusted for the term
factor using the valuation technique
to estimate value of bare land with
lease term of 10 years (2022: 10
years) as at 2033; and c) take into
account the time value of money at
discount rate of 6% (2022: 6.5%)
from 2033 to 30 June 2023, which
is approximately HK$390 (equivalent
to RMB346) (2022: HK$430
(equivalent to RMB370)).
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HEAOFHNTHHNEE b FE
RAEERTMRFRERELAE
PAfE T R 2033 F F 1 A 10 F /)
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The higher the price square metre
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, 7K 2 7] Bf # Ak ¢ 3=
OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
2023 F 2022 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F# T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHEB AR Z R 728 728
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables JE U HL A BR 3K 4,874 4,629
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 5,428 15,771
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U BT B R B FRIE 27,494 17,311
Cash and cash equivalents RekReER 2,116 6,588
39,912 44,199
Current liabilities FEBEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A REM H MR 8,605 3,822
Amounts due to shareholders JE IR R KA - 20
Amounts due to subsidiaries & BT B A R 5K 171,940 161,247
Amount due to a director B —REEHRE 2,000 150
182,545 165,239
Net current liabilities REBAERE (142,633) (121,040
Net liabilities 8EFHE (141,905) (120,312)
Capital and reserves BAEARGFEE
Share capital A& 7K 27,353 27,353
Deficit (note) 85 4 (B 21) (169,258) (147,665)
Total deficit EaLAEE (141,905) (120,312)

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2023
and are signed on its behalf by:

AR A Z YRR EKE R20234F9 A 27
AHESgHAEREETE  H T

EEREEE:
WONG MAN WINNY LIU KA LIM
B BER
Chairperson Director
FE BEFE
BENEEEERAR
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, &K A 7 Bf # AR R 3] )
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and the prior years e AR AEERBEEEZHESS
are as follows: M
Capital
Share redemption General Capital Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
=&
RHHEE TEERE —REF BELRE RitEE &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FERT FET
At 1 July 2021 202157 A1 H 2,221,869 50 1,366,003 829,771 (4,759,739)  (342,046)
Rights issue A% (7,252) — — — — (7,252)
Capital reduction A A ) — — — 246,179 — 246,179
Loss and total comprehensive 7<% [E E518 [ & % {H
expense for the year 4 EE - - — — (44,546)  (44,546)
At 30 June 2022 and 7202246 A30H
1 July 2022 K2022%7A1H 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,804,285) (147,665)

Loss and total comprehensive 7k £ [ &5 18 & 2 H 2 H
expense for the year wE - - - - (21,593)  (21,593)

At 30 June 2023 720234 6 A30H 2,214,617 50 1,366,003 1,075,950 (4,825,878) (169,258)

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES 3. B AR B E

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2023 and 2022 are R2023%F &2022%F6 A30H © AR A&

as follows: WEARZFBENT
Nominal value of
issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER HMAY/Sgnl CRORAEE/ZRER/E45RE ADNAMBERARAEERA FEEH

2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 002F 2023% 2022F

100BESTSHOPS.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-shopping and

BE LER2ET ERRET internet-based activities

REEREFENREHEN
MR
Alied Joy (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EfR(ER)ERRA B EER1ER EBRIEL REER
Ample Splendid Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRRERAA ABEBREE EERI0ER  ZBRI0ET REER
Big Charm Holdings Limited* BVI Ordinary US$10,000 Ordinary US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
hEERERRE" ERERRES BBER10,000%ET LBR10,000% 7T REZER
Bliss Ease Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEBRAR" LAEABRES BBR50,000%5 T LiBR50,000% T REER
Bright Creation Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of cultural and other
REIFEERAR Vi3 EER10,0008x  LER10,000ET products
YEREHERES

Champion (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

ERHES EER1BR EBRIET REER
Champion Culture Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEXEEERAT B EER10000T EER10000ETT REER
Champion Energy Resources Co Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERRERERAA ABEBREE EERI0ER  ZBRI00ET REER
Champion Energy Trading Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Trading (Gasoil

Company Limited 0 EBRIER ERRIET 25 (ms)
BEXRESERDTA
Champion Luck International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
RERBRERAA 3 LER2ET ERER2ET NERE
Champion Million Indlustries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
HEBEARAT B EER2ER EBR2ET NERE
Champion Pacific Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Property investment
BITREBERAA i EER2ER EBR2EL NERE
Champion Solana Energy Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60% Inactive
BEAGHEBEERAT B EER10000T EHEK10000ETT LEXH
Champiqn Sports Development Limited BVI Ordinary US$1,000  Ordinary US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEREERBERLA EBERRES BBER1000ET  L@R1000%T REER
BENEEEERAR
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43.fi B2 A B E w

Nominal value of

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER EMAY/EEHd BRORAEE/HEMER/EXRE RDAMBERATRAEERS TTEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2025 2023 2025
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Engineering Company Limited 3 EER10,0008x LER10,000ET energy products and solutions
BEBLHRIEARAR ABERRERNERTRY
REAHE
Champion Renewable Energy Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Design and sales of renewable
Company Limited 3 EER10,0008x  LBR10,000ET energy products and solutions
BEBERRAERLA IBRERRERNERTRY
RiNAE
Champnet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
BERRBERAA &E LER2ER LakoET TEEH
Chosen Vantage Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EEGHS EER1ZR EERIET LEEH
Cosmic Ocean Global Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRRBRAR" EEEBARES EBR50,000% T EBR60,000% T REBR
Culture Landmark Authentication Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Inactive
And Valuation Centre (HK) Limted &7 LER10,000 T LEE10000/ET LEEK
WL EEER L (BE)BERAE
Cyber Solutions Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EEGHS EBR1ZR EERIET TEEH
Diamond Edge Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERCEBRAR" EEEBRES EER50,000%5 7 Li#R50,000% T RERR
d-Key Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
B EERIER LBRIAET TEEH
d-Key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EEGHS EER1ZR EERIET TEEY
ESP International Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Advertising and recruitment
ESPEREERBBR A 7k LER2ER ERER2ET agency
BERBERERRA
Eternal Huge Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100  Ordinary HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
KEBRRBRAT B EERI100ET  EERI00ET REER
Gleaming Developments Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
KRBERBRAT EBEBRES LER50,000% 7 i H50,000% T REER
Golden Field Property Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 51% 51%  Investment holding
MEERERRRA i HK$10,000,000  HK$10,000,000 RAER
EER ERR
10,000,000% T 10,000,000 7T
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. B R A B E

Nominal value of

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WELRER HMAL/Benl BRORFEE/HMER/EXRE KADFRCRORAEENS TTEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 020F 2023F 2022
Happy Commercial Company Limited Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of documentation
EXBRNA B MOP25,000 MOP25,000 services and arrangement and
LRRRMY LTERRME business consultant
25,0007 25,0007 REXHEERBAZHER
BEER
Harilela Kantone Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 55.0% 55.0%  Inactive
Telecommunications Limited Bk EER100008 T ZiHBAR10,000% T EREK
High Win Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding and strategic
RELARES EBRIER EERIET investment \
REZBRRERURE
Hero King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
BHERERAR ABEBRES EBRI0ERT  EEMRI0ET NERE
Honest City Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
RACEERAA" ABEBREE EBR50,000%5 7 Li#R50,000% T REER
Hong Kong T Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
RREAMBHBEFRAT & EER2ER ERR2ET LEXHK
i-key (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
B EER1ER ERRUEL LEXHK
i-key Inc. Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
EEGHS BERIET L aE TEEHR
Kannet Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
ERBEERAT i LER2ER ERR2ET LEXH
Kantone Paging Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000  Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Trading of pagers and provision of
BRTNETERAA o Deferred Deferred messaging services
HK$2,000,000 HK$2,000,000 BEEEWERREABERSE
LER10008T  EEKI000ET
BER BER
2,000,000 7T 2,000,000/ 7T
Kontone International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Investment holding
ARERERAT & LER2ER LakoET REER
KTT (Cook Islands) Limited* Cook Islands Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERES EER10,0008 T EEK10000ET REER
Luckiest Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting services,
Commercial) Limited 2 MOP100,000 MOP100,000 research and development,
HHEZ(RMEE) - ABRAF LTERRMAE LaRanE and trading of cultural
100,000 ¢ 100,0007C products
REBHRE HAREE
INREEXIER
BENEEEERAR
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43.fi B2 A B E w

Nominal value of

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER AL/ EEHE EBRORAEE/AMES/EARE RAAMBERORKEELA TTEER
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2025 2023 2025
Lucky Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
BRZRERAF EBEBRES EERI0ER  EERI00ET NERE
Lucky Global Group Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
VERREEARAA) ABABRES BERI0%XT  EERI0ET REER
Magic Elite Investments Limited* BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
PHERAERAR" ABEBREE EBER50,000%5 7 Li#R50,000% T REER
Marcotte Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
BETHS EBR1ZR EFRRIER REZR
New Envirotech Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20 Ordinary HK$20 100% 100%  Inactive
NEEABRAR i EBER0ER LEko0ET TEEH
New Telecomm Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Inactive
MEEAERAF i HK$6,000,000 HK$6,000,000 LR
EER LRk
6,000,000 7T 6,000,000/ 7T
Power Favour Holdings Limited™ BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEZERERAE AEEBRES EERI0ER  EBRRI00ET REBRR
QQKK.COM Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
i EBER2ER LakoEn LEXHK
Roc Castle Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERERAT HERBARES EBR50,000% T EiBR50,000% T REER
Skill King Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
LRERERAT AEEBARES EBR50,000% EiBR50,000% T REER
Silver Edge Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 Ordinary US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
FARERERAT LBEBARES EBR50,000% T EiBR50,000% T REER
Solar Rise Enterprises Limited* BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABOCEBRAR LZEERRES EERI0ET  EERI0ET REER
Vast Success (Hong Kong) Finance Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Money lending
Company Linited B HK$100,000 HK$100,000 HEES
BR(ER)EEHBAERAR EER TRER
100,000 7t 100,0007% 7©
Vast Acute Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$100  Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Property investment
EHRERERAT AERBARES EERI0ZR  EBRI00ET nERE
Y28.C0M Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Provision of e-commerce,
BHEBRLA % LER2ER LERET m-commerce and internet
based activities
REEREFHE RBHI
REBBHRE

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H Z=2023%6 A30H 1L FE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. B R A B E

Nominal value of

issued share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ registered capital/ issued share capital
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital contribution held by the Company Principal activities
WEAREH EMRL/EgnE BRORAEE/EZRER/EXRE KAAMBEETRAEELH TEEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2025 2023 2025
Champion Telecommunication PRC Registered Registered 100% 100%  Sales of general system products
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (note (j)° i capital capital and provision of services and
BommmEn ORI AR AR (M) HK$2,450,000 HK$2,450,000 software licensing
ERER FMHER HE—RARERRRERS
245000087 2,450,000 REMGFHE
Digital HongKong.com Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Telecommunication service and
EREERAR 0 LER2ET EREREET strategic investment
EMRBRERRE
Eamest Century Limited Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
BEGHE EER1ZT aR1ER TEXH
Manning International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Management service
XHERERAF i EER10000% T EEKI0,000ET EERE
Champion Smart Technology Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Trading in telecommunication
Limited o EER1AR ERRIET system and products
BEEENRERAA BANZGRERES
United Software Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
NBRERAA B LER2ER LRk TEEH
Y28 Innovations* Cayman Islands Ordinary HK$0.1 Ordinary HK$0. 1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEHS EEROIEL  EBROVER RERR
Champion OTS Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60%  Sales of general system products
BEXBREZGERAA B EER10000 T EER10000ETT ~RERERNBEE
Champion Widex Solar Energy International - Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 Ordinary HK$10,000 60% 60%  Inactive
Limited 3 EER100008 T EiEMHE10,000% T LEXHK
BEERAGEARERAF
Art Lead International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Inactive
2EARERAA i EER1ER EER1IAT 3
Notes: Bt -
() Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 60 years commencing from 27 (i) SNEEARE FHM1995F6A27HE
June 1995. 604 o
* Directly held by the Company * HARNREERE

For identification purposes only

’ [EXAE- ¥l
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

212

The deferred shares, which are held by the Group, of an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, Kantone Paging Company Limited entitled the
holders thereof to:

(@  a fixed non-cumulative dividend at the rate of 5% per annum for
any financial year of the company in question in respect of which
the net profits of such company exceed HK$100,000,000,000;
and

(b)  on a winding-up, a return of the capital paid up on such shares

out of the surplus assets of the company in question after a total
sum of HK$100,000,000,000 has been distributed in such
winding up in respect of each of the ordinary shares of such
company.

Save as disclosed, none of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at 30 June 2023 and 2022 or at any time during the year.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below provides details of a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group that has material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of
ownership interests and
voting rights held by
Place of incorporation and non-controlling interests

43. i B~ B B E )

MAKRERAEZ —HIFEEZEHAN
MEBAREBATXEFERARZIELE
B T HEE AR

@ WZARREEMN—EFREE
2 4R t #1100,000,000,0007% 7T
B MEZARWEFESE Y E5E
ERBERE &

b) MNARBEEE FRZBEHP
MZARERETEBRD KA
100,000,000,00058 JL % © B % A )
ZHRHBREEPREZSEROZH
BB o

B b EEN - KB R F R2023F

F 20224 6 430 H sk F A {F fa] B fE 15 &

1] &5 75 75

BEEREEZERRREZZ

EZENRNBLATZ ‘¥¢'£

TREGRBEEEAEERBRREERZ AN

EEIZENBRARIZHE

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

Profit/(loss) allocated to
non-controlling interests

Name of subsidiaries principal place of business as at 30 June for the year ended 30 June as at 30 June
H6HA30H EZ6H30ALEE
M8 B A it B FERRRESE PEFEERRR H6A308 &it
KELE SR TEEERY RERESRREERLS BE 2B/ (BE) FERBRRER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 2023 F 20224 2023 F 20224
Others (14) 1,337 (25) -
Hit
Golden Field and its Hong Kong/PRC 49% 49% 473 (628) 17,271 18,789
subsidiary BB,/ H
e R EM B A F

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests is set out below. Financial
information for the year ended 30 June 2023 is not presented because
Golden Field and its subsidiaries are classified as disposal group (note
14). The summarised financial information below represents amounts
before elimination of intra-group transactions.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 43. M B A 71 € 8 )

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEEAFEZERRRERZ
have material non-controlling interests (continued) E2ENB LT ZFHE @
Golden Field and its subsidiary FEHERAEKE QA
2022
2022 4F
HK$’000
FHET
Non-current assets EREEE 39,049
Current assets BB E 15,869
Current liabilities BB E (16,574)
Equity R
— Attributable to owners of the Company VN/NETE: ¥ =Ny X (i} 19,5565
— Attributable to non-controlling interests —IE I AR IR R A 2 PR A 18,789
38,344
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (BB, w6
— Attributable to owners of the Company —ARNFHEB AEG (653)
— Attributable to the non-controliing interests —FEIE AR AR R S FE (S (628)
(1,281)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  ZNEE E 2@ (X H), WA
— Attributable to owners of the Company VIN/NETE ¥ =Ny X (i} (790)
— Attributable to the non-controlling interests —IE I AR R R A 2R R A (760)
(1,550)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests S TFIEERBEREERE 2R E 6,811)
BEREEEERAT
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43. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. i B A B B E @)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that BEERFEZRBREERZ 2
have material non-controlling interests (Continued) FEENB QT 2 EXAC )
Golden Field and its subsidiary (Continued) FEEREKB QAP (E
2022
2022 F
HK$’000
FiET
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year AFEE2AEFAS) WA BEE (2,831)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities KEEBRA/ R 2R 558 3,016
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEEZRAZESRAFE 3,672
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities MEFSHCREL)  MAZEEFE (6,684)
Net increase/(decrease) in deposits, G RITEBREESZ
bank balances and cash #anCRd) 58 4

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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#H %£2023%6 A30H L4 E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

Ay 173 E
RESULTS E
Year ended 30 June
BZ6H30BLLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023 & 2022 4 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx AT FAET FA&T FAT
Revenue IR &= 25,292 60,969 237,473 410,668 385,664
Loss from ordinary activities B % 5 B HY BR B AT
before taxation BB
Loss from operating activities B3 E A 48 & 18 B
excluding other operating items K48 & /5 B & 18 (11,675) (52,610) (562,753) (41,052) (71,123)
Other operating items HEMaeEIa 8 - - - - -
Loss before taxation MRBLATE B (11,675) (52,610) (52,753) (41,052) (71,123)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTEs () e (597) (428) (4,189 3,328 348
Loss for the year XEEER (12,272) (53,038) (56,942) (37,724) (70,775)
Attributable to: FEAS -
Owners of the Company RATRHEEB A (12,745) (52,410) (59,822) (39,521) (72,177)
Non-controlling interests JE 28 P A% R A 25 473 (628) 2,880 1,797 1,402
Dividends % 2 - - - - —
BEREEEEFRAR
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 30 June
M6H30H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHx FAT FE T FAT FAT
Total assets BEKE 174,030 179,045 414,892 458,766 644,070
Total liabilities BERE (45,532) 29,426 350,797 396,042 520,626
Shareholders’ funds BFRES 128,498 149,619 64,095 62,724 123,444
Equity/(deficit) attributable to: FEfL (B4t -
— Owners of the Company i N/NGIE P SN 111,252 130,855 (6,967) 17,305 72,208
— Non-controlling interests — JEE R R R 17,246 18,764 71,062 45,419 51,236
128,498 149,619 64,095 62,724 123,444

Champion Technology Holdings Limited
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